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the public. 

Yours sincerely 
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Abbreviations and conventions 

The following notation may be used: 

NEC/nec not elsewhere classified 
  nil 
.. not zero, but rounded to zero 
na not applicable (unless otherwise specified) 
nfp not for publication 
$m $ million 
$b $ billion 

Figures in tables and in the text may be rounded. Figures in text are generally rounded 
to one decimal place, whereas figures in tables are generally rounded to the nearest 
thousand. Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components are due to 
rounding. 

Enquiries 

Should you have any enquiries regarding this publication please contact the Chief 
Financial Officer, Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 
Education on (02) 6213 6000. 

A copy of this document can be located on the Australian Government Budget website 
at: http://www.budget.gov.au. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

v 

 
 
 
 

USER GUIDE 
TO THE 

PORTFOLIO BUDGET STATEMENTS 



 

vi 

USER GUIDE 

The purpose of the 2012-13 Portfolio Budget Statements (PB Statements) is to inform 
Senators and Members of Parliament of the proposed allocation of resources to 
Government outcomes by agencies within the portfolio. Agencies receive resources 
from the annual appropriations acts, special appropriations (including standing 
appropriations and special accounts), and revenue from other sources. 

A key role of the PB Statements is to facilitate the understanding of proposed annual 
appropriations in Appropriation Bills No. 1 and No. 2 2012-13 (or Appropriation Bill 
[Parliamentary Departments] No. 1 2012-13 for the parliamentary departments). In this 
sense the PB Statements are Budget related papers and are declared by the 
Appropriation Acts to be ‘relevant documents’ to the interpretation of the Acts 
according to section 15AB of the Acts Interpretation Act 1901. 

The PB Statements provide information, explanation and justification to enable 
Parliament to understand the purpose of each outcome proposed in the Bills. 

As required under section 12 of the Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998, non-general 
government sector entities are not consolidated into the Commonwealth general 
government sector fiscal estimates and accordingly, these entities are not reported in 
the PB Statements. 
 

 

 

 



 

vii 

 
CONTENTS 

Portfolio Overview ........................................................................................................ 1 
Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education Portfolio 
Overview ......................................................................................................................... 3 

Agency Resources and Planned Performance ........................................................13 
Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 
Education ......................................................................................................................19 

Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies...........................145 
Australian Institute of Marine Science.........................................................................177 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation.........................................201 

Australian Research Council.......................................................................................231 

Australian Skills Quality Authority ...............................................................................266 

Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation ...............................291 

IP Australia ..................................................................................................................327 

Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency .....................................................357 

Glossary .....................................................................................................................377 
 





 

 

PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW 





 

3 

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION, SCIENCE, RESEARCH AND 

TERTIARY EDUCATION PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW 

Ministers and portfolio responsibilities 

The portfolio of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education has 
the following ministers: 

 Senator the Hon Chris Evans, Minister for Tertiary Education, Skills, Science and 
Research1 

 The Hon Greg Combet AM MP, Minister for Industry and Innovation2 

 The Hon Brendan O’Connor MP, Minister for Small Business3 

 Senator the Hon Kate Lundy, Minister Assisting for Industry and Innovation4. 

The portfolio also has the following parliamentary secretaries: 

 The Hon Mark Dreyfus QC MP, Parliamentary Secretary for Industry and 
Innovation5 

 The Hon Sharon Bird MP, Parliamentary Secretary for Higher Education and 
Skills. 

The Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education portfolio 
comprises the: 

 Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education 
(DIISRTE) 

DIISRTE strives to create an environment where new ideas are nurtured and 
innovation drives productivity, economic growth and social wellbeing, by 
strengthening the links between science, research, industry and tertiary education. 

                                                           

1 Senator Evans is also Leader of the Government in the Senate. 
2 Minister Combet is also Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency. 
3 Minister O’Connor is also Minister for Housing and Minister for Homelessness. 
4 Senator Lundy is also Minister for Sport and Minister for Multicultural Affairs. 
5 Parliamentary Secretary Dreyfus is also the Cabinet Secretary and Parliamentary Secretary for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency 
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 Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS) 

AIATSIS is the world’s premier institution for information and research about the 
cultures and lifestyles of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

 Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) 

AIMS generates and transfers knowledge to support the sustainable use and 
protection of the marine environment through innovative, world-class research. 

 Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO) 

ANSTO is Australia’s national nuclear research and development organisation and 
the centre of Australia’s nuclear expertise. 

 Australian Research Council (ARC) 

The mission of the ARC is to deliver policy and programs that advance Australian 
research and innovation and benefit the community. The ARC provides advice to 
government on research funding and policy with a view to keeping Australia at 
the forefront of global research and development. The ARC administers the 
National Competitive Grants Program and Excellence in Research for Australia to 
deliver high quality research outcomes for the benefit of Australian universities, 
their partners and the community. 
 

 Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) 

ASQA is the national regulator for Australia’s vocational education and training 
sector. ASQA regulates courses and training providers to ensure nationally 
approved quality standards are met. 

 Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) 

CSIRO carries out scientific research to assist Australian industry and to further 
the interests of the Australian community and contribute to the national and 
international objectives and responsibilities of the Australian Government. 

 IP Australia 

IP Australia is the Australian Government agency responsible for granting patent, 
trade mark, industrial design and plant breeder’s rights. 

 Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) 

TEQSA is Australia’s national higher education regulatory and quality assurance 
agency that will maintain and enhance quality, diversity and innovation in the 
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Australian higher education sector through nationally consistent regulation and 
quality assurance. 

In addition, the portfolio has responsibility for the operation of the: 

 Office of the Chief Scientist 

 Skills Australia, to become the Australian Workforce and Productivity Agency 
from 1 July 2012 

 National Advisory for Tertiary Education, Skills and Employment 

 Office of the Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF) Council Secretariat 

Matters dealt with by the Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 
Education portfolio include: 

 Manufacturing and commerce including industry and market development 

 Industry innovation policy and technology diffusion 

 Promotion of industrial research and development, and commercialisation 

 Biotechnology, excluding gene technology regulation 

 Marketing of manufactures and services 

 Enterprise improvement 

 Construction industry, excluding workplace relations 

 Small business policy and implementation 

 Business entry point management 

 Facilitation of the development of service industries generally 

 Trade marks, plant breeder’s rights and patents of inventions and designs 

 Country of origin labelling 

 Weights and measures standards 

 Civil space issues 

 Analytical laboratory services 
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 Science policy 

 Science engagement and awareness 

 Promotion of collaborative research in science and technology 

 Coordination of research policy 

 Creation and development of research infrastructure 

 Commercialisation and utilisation of public sector research relating to portfolio 
programs and agencies 

 Research grants and fellowships 

 Information and communications technology industry development 

 Food industry policy 

 Foundation skills for adults 

 Training, including apprenticeships and training and skills assessment services 

 Support for introduction of a national occupation licensing system 

 Higher education, skills and vocational education policy, regulation and programs 

 Indigenous higher education and vocational training 

 Policy, coordination and support for international education 

 Income support policies and programs for students and apprentices. 

Regional Australia 

 The department and the wider portfolio undertakes a broad range of activities across 
Australia to help shape the future economy, through discovery, skills and innovation.  
Assistance is provided to firms, research organisations and tertiary education 
institutions whether they are in metropolitan, regional, rural or remote areas. The 
portfolio has an extensive regional presence with services delivered through DIISRTE’s 
divisions and the portfolio agencies. These include: 

 AusIndustry 

 Enterprise Connect 

 Questacon 
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 the National Measurement Institute (NMI) 

 CSIRO 

 AIMS 

 AIATSIS. 
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Figure 1: Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education 
portfolio structure 

Minister for Tertiary Education, Skills, Science and Research1

Senator the Hon Chris Evans

Minister for Industry and Innovation2

The Hon Greg Combet AM MP

Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education 
Secretary: Dr Don Russell

Agency – Australian Nuclear Science and Technology 
Organisation (ANSTO)

Chief Executive Officer: Dr Adi Paterson

Agency – Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Studies (AIATSIS)

Principal (CEO): Mr Russell Taylor

Agency – IP Australia
Director General: Mr Philip Noonan

Agency – Australian Research Council (ARC)
A/g Chief Executive Officer: Ms Leanne Harvey

Agency – Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation (CSIRO)

Chief Executive Officer: Dr Megan Clark

Agency – Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA)
Chief Commissioner: Mr Chris Robinson

Agency – Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS)
Chief Executive Officer: Mr John Gunn

Agency – Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency 
(TEQSA)

Chief Commissioner: Dr Carol Nicoll

2 Minister Combet is also the Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency
3 Minister O’Connor is also the Minister for Housing and the Minister for Homelessness

4 Senator Lundy is also the Minister for Sport and the Minister for Multicultural Affairs
5 Parliamentary Secretary Dreyfus is also the Cabinet Secretary and Parliamentary Secretary for Climate Change and Energy 
Efficiency

1 Senator Evans is also Leader of the Government in the Senate

Parliamentary Secretary for Higher Education and Skills
The Hon Sharon Bird MP

Parliamentary Secretary for Industry and Innovation5

The Hon Mark Dreyfus QC MP

Minister Assisting for Industry and Innovation4

Senator the Hon Kate Lundy

Minister for Small Business3

The Hon Brendan O’Connor MP
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Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education portfolio 
outcomes 

Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education  

Outcome 1: The sustainable development and growth of Australian industry—
particularly the manufacturing, services and small business sectors—by encouraging 
businesses to innovate, collaborate and commercialise ideas, and by delivering 
business advice, assistance and services. 

Outcome 2: Production, use and awareness of science and research knowledge, by 
supporting research activity; training and infrastructure; science communication; skill 
development; and collaboration, within the research sector and between researchers 
and industry, domestically and internationally. 

Outcome 3: A growth in skills, qualifications and productivity through funding to 
improve teaching quality, learning, and tertiary sector infrastructure, international 
promotion of Australia’s education and training sectors, and partnerships with 
industry. 

Portfolio Agencies 

Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS) 

Outcome: Further understanding of Australian Indigenous cultures, past and present 
through undertaking and publishing research, and providing access to print and 
audiovisual collections. 

Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) 

Outcome: Growth of knowledge to support protection and sustainable development of 
Australia’s marine resources through innovative marine science and technology. 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO)  

Outcome: Improved knowledge, innovative capacity and healthcare through nuclear-
based facilities, research, training, products, services and advice to Government, 
industry, the education sector and the Australian population. 

Australian Research Council (ARC) 

Outcome: Growth of knowledge and innovation through managing research funding 
schemes, measuring research excellence and providing advice. 
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Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) 

Outcome: Contribute to a high quality vocational education and training sector, 
including through streamlined and nationally consistent regulation of training 
providers and courses, and the communication of advice to the sector on 
improvements to the quality of vocational education and training. 

Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) 

Outcome: Innovative scientific and technology solutions to national challenges and 
opportunities to benefit industry, the environment and the community, through 
scientific research and capability development, services and advice. 

IP Australia  

Outcome: Increased innovation, investment and trade in Australia, and by Australians 
overseas, through the administration of the registrable intellectual property rights 
system, promoting public awareness and industry engagement, and advising 
government. 

Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) 

Outcome: Contribute to a high quality higher education sector through streamlined 
and nationally consistent higher education regulatory arrangements; registration of 
higher education providers; accreditation of higher education courses; and 
investigation, quality assurance and dissemination of higher education standards and 
performance. 
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PORTFOLIO RESOURCES 

Table 1 shows the total new resources provided to the portfolio in the 2012-13 budget 
year, by agency. 

Table 1: Portfolio Resources 2012-13 
Total

Bill No. 1 Bill No. 2 Special Receipts
$m $m $m $m $m

Department of Industry, 
Innovation, Science, 
Research and Tertiary 
Education
Administered appropriations 2,474.188 24.000 13,631.711 698.831 16,828.730
Departmental appropriations 511.007 10.762 -                  67.878 589.647
Total: 2,985.195 34.762 13,631.711 766.709 17,418.377

Australian Institute of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Studies

Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 12.812 0.073 -                  -                  12.885             
Total: 12.812 0.073 -                  -                  12.885             

Australian Institute of Marine 
Science
Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 31.562 -                  -                  17.011 48.573             
Total: 31.562 -                  -                  17.011 48.573             

Australian Nuclear Science 
and Technology Organisation

Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 159.222 3.500 -                  75.500 238.222
Total: 159.222 3.500 -                  75.500 238.222

Australian Research Council

Administered appropriations 5.625          -                  879.11 2.360 887.092
Departmental appropriations 20.328 1.589 -                  -                  21.917
Total: 25.953 1.589 879.11 2.360 909.009

Australian Skills Quality 
Authority
Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 31.551 1.898 -                  -                  33.449
Total: 31.551 1.898 -                  -                  33.449

Commonwealth Scientific and 
Industrial Research 
Organisation
Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 736.774 -                  -                  607.573 1,344.347
Total: 736.774 -                  -                  607.573 1,344.347

Appropriation Movements
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Table 1: Portfolio Resources 2012-13 (continued) 
Total

Bill  No. 1 Bill No. 2 Special Receipts
$m $m $m $m $m

IP Australia
Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      

Departmental appropriations 3.600 -                -                179.705 183.305
Total: 3.600 -                  -                  179.705 183.305

Tertiary Education Quality and 
Standards Agency

Administered appropriations -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      
Departmental appropriations 17.534 1.900 -                  -                  19.434

Total: 17.534 1.900 -                -                19.434

Portfolio total 4,004.203 43.722 14,510.818 1,648.858 20,207.601

Resources available within portfolio: 20,207.601

Appropriation Movements
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY, INNOVATION, SCIENCE, 
RESEARCH AND TERTIARY EDUCATION 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education 
(DIISRTE) works with stakeholders to help shape the future economy, through 
discovery, skills and innovation. The department, and the wider portfolio, are working 
to accelerate productivity growth and secure Australia’s prosperity in a competitive 
global economy.  

Recognising that collaboration, education and a strong science and research base are 
keys to success, the department brings together business, research bodies, the tertiary 
education sectors—vocational education and training (VET) and higher education, 
government and the broader community to discover, embrace and drive new ways of 
achieving economic and social benefits and deliver those benefits to Australia.  

The department is focussed on promoting technological, social and environmental 
innovation and shaping businesses, industries and the workforce to turn these 
opportunities into action.  

The department’s approach is driven by its seven key strategic priorities: 

Invest in scientific engagement and awareness - Harnessing the power and potential 
of science is critical to Australia’s ongoing prosperity. Greater awareness and 
understanding of science equips the community to adapt to a changing world and 
helps it to capitalise on the immense benefits science offers to business and the broader 
community.  

The department is working to increase awareness of science in the Australian 
community, building skills in science and technology with quality learning and 
teaching, and supporting Australia’s scientists to produce solutions to the challenges 
facing society.  

Strengthen and focus Australia’s research efforts - World class research holds the key 
to addressing some of the great challenges of our time, including climate change. 
Investing in and focusing Australia’s research and research training efforts will yield 
long term dividends for the Australian community.  

Supporting researchers, universities and public sector research agencies to expand 
knowledge and understanding and transfer that knowledge to industry and the 
community will accelerate invention and discovery resulting in a stronger and globally 
competitive economy, a more inclusive society and a cleaner environment. The 
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department will work with Australia’s research community to ensure high quality 
outcomes and impact from publicly funded research.  

Develop a highly skilled, educated and productive workforce - A highly skilled 
workforce is the key to increasing our ability to innovate and to achieve greater 
productivity.  

The department is working with the tertiary education system to increase the number 
of highly skilled Australians, lift the quality of both higher education and vocational 
education and training and improve responsiveness to industry needs.  

These reforms will also support workers to attain the skills needed for the range of 
complex challenges and opportunities we will face in a changing global economy.  

Drive productive, competitive and innovative business - Innovation turns creativity 
into jobs, accelerates Australia’s productivity growth and secures the country’s 
economic well being. The department is assisting businesses of all sizes to build an 
innovative capacity and helping them improve the way they work, develop and apply 
new ideas and products and undertake or connect to valuable research and 
development.  

A dynamic and innovative environment in which entrepreneurship is encouraged and 
businesses can flourish and grow without unnecessary constraints is vital to 
Australia’s economic wellbeing.  

Develop industries for the future - A diverse and broad economic base is needed to 
ensure Australia’s prosperous and sustainable future, where innovation, wealth 
creation and employment occur across the spectrum, and are not concentrated in any 
single sector.  

Achieving this involves translating emerging technologies and research activities into 
real opportunities to create the industries of the future. The department is working to 
modernise existing industries and facilitating the growth of new ones.  

Increase participation and build capability - To be truly prosperous Australia must 
make the most of the talents of its increasingly diverse population. Through world 
class tertiary education and training people can achieve their full potential and become 
productive participants in the modern labour market.  

The department’s programs contribute to improved qualification levels across the 
population and increase access to tertiary education for the most disadvantaged.  

Research shows that firms with higher levels of education and skills in both 
management and non-management positions perform better. The department’s 
programs help firms to grow and capitalise on the skills of their employees.  

Foster a culture of collaboration - Fostering collaboration and improving the 
connections across the entire economy is the key to a better future for all Australians.  
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Linking researchers and industry helps to translate creative ideas into practical 
processes, products and services businesses can apply in Australia and sell to the 
world.  

Linking public and industry researchers to government also drives public sector 
innovation that improves the design of policy and programs and the delivery of 
services to the broader community.  

The department will help to improve links nationally and globally and promote 
collaboration between groups and individuals; between institutions and sectors; 
between education, training, and industry; between researchers and industry; and 
between businesses and their customers, suppliers, and competitors.  

Effective delivery of the above strategic priorities will support the department in 
meeting the three government outcomes for which it is responsible.  

Strong corporate governance coupled with ongoing monitoring of the operating 
environment, and continued engagement with key stakeholder groups will assist the 
department to meet its responsibilities. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 
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Table 1.1: Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 
Education Resource Statement — Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget 
May 2012 

Estimate  Proposed Total Actual

of pr ior + at Budget = estimate available
year amounts appropriation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$ '000 $'000 $ '000 $'000

Ordinary annual services1

Departmental appropriat ion

Prior year departmental appropriation2              66,826                    -               66,826                78,143 

Departmental appropriation3                     -            511,007           511,007               357,523 

s31 Relevant agency receipts4                     -              60,083             60,083                66,002 

Total              66,826          571,090           637,916               501,668 

Administered expenses

Outcome 1                     -            668,165           668,165               700,848 

Outcome 2                     -              54,514             54,514                72,290 

Outcome 3                     -         1,751,509        1 ,751,509            1,033,809 

Payments to CAC Act bodies                     -            940,370           940,370               923,311 

Total                     -         3,414,558        3 ,414,558            2,730,258 

Total ordinary annual services  A              66,826       3,985,648        4 ,052,474            3,231,926 

Other services5

Departmental non-operating

Equity in jections                     -              10,762             10,762                  3,610 

Total                     -              10,762             10,762                  3,610 

Administered non-operating

Administered assets and liab ilities              73,484            24,000             97,484                82,247 

Payments to CAC Act bodies -

 non-operating                     -                3,573               3,573                  1,471 

Total              73,484            27,573           101,057                83,718 

Total other services B              73,484            38,335           111,819                87,328 

Total available annual 

appropriations            140,310       4,023,983        4 ,164,293            3,319,254 

Special appropriations
Special appropriations limited

 by criteria/entitlement
Higher Education Support Act 2003                     -        10,380,851      10,380,851            5,999,091 
Indigenous Education (Targeted 
Assistance) Act 2000

                    -              41,343             41,343                        - 

Social Security (Administra tion)
Act 1999

                    -         2,884,000        2 ,884,000            1,451,079 

Special appropriations limited
by amount

Automotive Transformation Scheme 
Act 2009

                    -   300,000 300,000               301,066 

Steel Transformation Plan
Act 2011

                    -                      -                      -                 164,000 

Textile, Clo thing and Footwear 
Strategic Investment Program Act 
1999 

                    -              25,517             25,517                25,271 

Total special appropriations C                     -        13,631,711      13,631,711            7,940,507 

Total appropriations excluding

 Special Accounts            140,310      17,655,694      17,796,004          11,259,761  
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Table 1.1: Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 
Education Resource Statement — Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget 
May 2012 (continued) 

Estimate  Proposed Total Actual
of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation
available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Special Accounts
Opening balance6 7,677              -                     7,677             8,538                 

Appropriation receipts -                      7,625             7,625             2,750                 
Non-appropriation receipts to
 Special Accounts -                      701,626         701,626         763,608             

Total Special Account D 7,677              709,251         716,928         774,896             

Total resourcing
A+B+C+D 147,987           18,364,945    18,512,932     12,034,657        
Less 

Annual appropriation credited to special accounts (7,625)            (2,750)                
Section 31 receipts credited to special accounts (7,795)            (9,248)                
Payments to CAC Act bodies (943,943)        (924,782)            

Total net resourcing for Industry, 
Innovation, Science, Research and 
Tertiary Education 17,553,569     11,097,877         

1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
2Estimated adjusted balance carried from previous year for annual appropriations. 
3Includes an amount of $34.758m in 2012-13 for the Departmental Capital Budget (refer to table 3.2.5 for 

further details). For accounting purposes this amount has been designated as 'contributions by owners'. 
4s31 Relevant Agency receipts — estimate. 
5Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13. 
6Estimated opening balance for special accounts (less ‘Special Public Money’ held in accounts like Other 

Trust Monies accounts (OTM), Services for other Government and Non-agency Bodies accounts (SOG) 
accounts). For further information on special accounts see Table 3.1.2. 

Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 

 

Third party payments from and on behalf of other agencies 
2012-13  2011-12 

$'000 $'000
Payments made to CAC Act bodies within the Portfolio 
Ordinary Annual Services

Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies 12,812                            9,451 
Australian Institute of Marine Science 31,562                          31,245 
Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 159,222                       157,676 
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 736,774                       724,939 

Total ordinary annual services  940,370                       923,311 

Other services
Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies 73                                        71 
Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 3,500                              1,400 

Total other services 3,573                              1,471 

Total payments to CAC Act bodies within the Portfolio 943,943         924,782              
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to DIISRTE are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are 
summarised below.  
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue measures

Commonwealth Supported
Places and Higher Education 
Loan Program  - change
in eligibility for Australian
citizens not residing in
Australia 3.1, 3.2

Administered revenues -             (52)             (272)          (856)        (2,120)      
Departmental revenues -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (52)             (272)          (856)        (2,120)      

Higher Education - increased
student contributions for
mathematics, statistics and
science units 3.1, 3.2

Administered revenues -             -                1,239        4,654       8,125       
Departmental revenues -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                1,239        4,654       8,125       

Adjustment to the HECS-HELP
Benefit for Early Childhood

Education Teachers1
3.2

Administered revenues -             (9)              (36)            (82)          (164)         
Departmental revenues -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (9)              (36)            (82)          (164)         

National Skills Reform - 
changes to income contingent 
loans for Vocational Education 
and Training students 3.2

Administered revenues -             (1,780)        2,672        32,030     41,819     
Departmental revenues -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (1,780)        2,672        32,030     41,819     

Ministerial Standing Council on
Tertiary Education, Skills and
 Employment - Secretariat 

services1
3.7

Administered revenues -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental revenues 468        802            802           802          802          

Total 468        802            802           802          802          

Total revenue measures
Administered revenues -             (1,841)        3,603        35,746     47,660     
Departmental revenues 468        802            802           802          802          

Total 468        (1,039)        4,405        36,548     48,462     

Expense measures
Australian Small Business
Commissioner - establishment 1.1

Administered expenses -             316            802           535          1,838       
Departmental expenses -             783            1,184        1,233       1,648       

Total -             1,099         1,986        1,768       3,486        



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

27 

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Automotive New Markets
Initiative 1.1

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -               

General Motors Holden -
next generation vehicles -
contribution 1.1

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -               

Green Building Fund - redirection 1.1
Administered expenses -             (2,400)        -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (2,400)        -                -              -               

Manufacturing Technology
Innovation Centre
 - establishment 1.1

Administered expenses -             3,205         5,409        8,215       8,826       
Departmental expenses -             645            1,126        1,144       1,155       

Total -             3,850         6,535        9,359       9,981       

Small Business Advisory Services
program - continuation 1.1

Administered expenses -             6,187         6,028        6,166       6,319       
Departmental expenses -             691            826           709          579          

Total -             6,878         6,854        6,875       6,898       

Mathematics and science -
increasing participation 
in schools and universities 2.3, 3.1

Administered expenses -             3,150         7,868        10,134     10,479     
Departmental expenses -             922            1,631        1,644       1,266       

Total -             4,072         9,499        11,778     11,745     

Commonwealth Grants 
Scheme - Enabling Loading - 
increase 3.1

Administered expenses -             3,736         10,378      13,510     13,980     
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             3,736         10,378      13,510     13,980     

Improving support for
disadvantaged students
to succeed at university
- Higher Education Participation
and Partnerships Program
- reform 3.1

Administered expenses -             (13,423)      (7,897)       (2,047)      5,162       
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (13,423)      (7,897)       (2,047)      5,162        
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commonwealth Supported
Places and Higher Education 
Loan Program - change in 
eligibilty for Australian citizens 
not residing in Australia 3.1, 3.2

Administered expenses -             (1,519)        (4,754)       (8,601)      (13,554)    
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (1,519)        (4,754)       (8,601)      (13,554)    

Higher Education - increased
student contributions for
mathematics, statistics and
science units 3.1, 3.2

Administered expenses -             (81,254)      (129,485)   (69,175)    (20,944)    
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (81,254)      (129,485)   (69,175)    (20,944)    

Adjustment to the HECS-HELP
Benefit for Early Childhood
Education Teachers 3.2

Administered expenses 352        668            1,075        1,933       3,241       
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total 352        668            1,075        1,933       3,241       

National Skills Reform - 
changes to income 
contingent loans for 
Vocational Education and 
Training students 3.2

Administered expenses -             9,686         30,580      46,081     48,388     
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             9,686         30,580      46,081     48,388     

Family Tax Benefit Part A
- change to age of eligibility 3.3

Administered expenses -             3,014         5,967        6,050       6,201       
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             3,014         5,967        6,050       6,201       

Fraud prevention and
compliance - increase
in compliance review activity 3.3

Administered expenses -             (6,609)        (6,629)       (3,325)      -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (6,609)        (6,629)       (3,325)      -               

Fraud prevention and 
compliance - increased
recovery of high value 
non-current customer debt 3.3

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -                
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Portability of Australian 
Government Payments 3.3

Administered expenses -             (656)           (1,356)       (1,390)      (1,425)      
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (656)           (1,356)       (1,390)      (1,425)      

Weekly income support
payments to vulnerable 
Australians - expansion 3.3

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -               

Australian Apprenticeship
Ambassadors 3.5

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -               

Australian Apprenticeships
Incentives Program - deferral
of the standard employer
commencement payment 3.5

Administered expenses -             (12,135)      (12,091)     (11,840)    (11,700)    
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (12,135)      (12,091)     (11,840)    (11,700)    

Australian Apprenticeships
Incentives Program - better 
targeting 3.5

Administered expenses -             (59,506)      (99,752)     (97,752)    (96,615)    
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (59,506)      (99,752)     (97,752)    (96,615)    

Australian Apprenticeships
Information Management
System - establishment 3.5

Administered expenses -             -                308           -              -               
Departmental expenses -             174            -                -              -               

Total -             174            308           -              -               

Australian Skills Centres
of Excellence 3.5

Administered expenses -             60              6,000        6,000       6,000       
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             60              6,000        6,000       6,000       

Apprentice to business owner - 
business skills and mentoring 
program 3.5

Administered expenses -             2,798         5,296        5,294       5,292       
Departmental expenses -             172            173           175          177          

Total -             2,970         5,469        5,469       5,469        
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Economic Potential of Senior
Australians - Productive Ageing
Through Community Education 3.5

Administered expenses -             1,000         1,018        1,162       1,057       

Departmental expenses -             236            119           120          122          
Total -             1,236         1,137        1,282       1,179       

Economic Potential of Senior
Australians - Investing in 
Experience - Skills Recognition
and Training 3.5

Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             -                -                -              -               

Ministerial Standing Council on
Tertiary Education, Skil ls and
Employment - Secretariat 

services1,2
3.5

Administered expenses (3,882)    (4,130)        (4,140)       (4,153)      (4,153)      

Departmental expenses 3,852     4,186         4,091        4,018       4,056       
Total (30)         56              (49)            (135)        (97)           

MySkills website - ongoing
administration and
enhancements 3.5

Administered expenses -             1,000         1,018        1,037       -               

Departmental expenses -             1,175         1,089        566          572          
Total -             2,175         2,107        1,603       572          

National Foundation Skills
Outreach and Leadership 
Project - community education
campaign - cessation 3.5

Administered expenses -             (1,359)        (1,703)       (3,082)      (4,363)      

Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Total -             (1,359)        (1,703)       (3,082)      (4,363)      

National Workforce
Development Fund
- additional suport for mature
age workers 3.5

Administered expenses -             5,000         10,000      10,000     10,000     
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             5,000         10,000      10,000     10,000     

National Workforce
Development Fund - 
redirect funding 3.5

Administered expenses -             (6,060)        (6,000)       (6,000)      -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -             (6,060)        (6,000)       (6,000)      -                
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
VET FEE-HELP Assistance
Scheme - redesign 3.5

Administered expenses -              274             273            159           162           

Departmental expenses -              325             150            107           -                

Total -              599             423            266           162           

Vocational Education and 
Training National Support - 

redirection of funding1
3.5

Administered expenses (3,000)     (14,892)       (11,086)      (4,088)       (1,335)       

Departmental expenses -              -                  -                 -               -                

Total (3 ,000)     (14,892)       (11,086)      (4,088)       (1,335)       

Workforce Innovation Program

- redirection1
3.5

Administered expenses (954)        (4,933)         (4 ,974)        (5,981)       (9,032)       

Departmental expenses -              -                  -                 (128)          (259)          

Total (954)        (4,933)         (4 ,974)        (6,109)       (9,291)       

Community-Based Service 
Development Program
- cessation 3.5

Administered expenses -              (3,731)         (3 ,793)        (3,793)       (3,793)       

Departmental expenses -              (156)            (128)           (128)          (128)          

Total -              (3,887)         (3 ,921)        (3,921)       (3,921)       

International Education and
Training - redirection of funding 3.6

Administered expenses -              (4,000)         (2 ,000)        (2,000)       (2,000)       

Departmental expenses -              -                  -                 -               -                

Total -              (4,000)         (2 ,000)        (2,000)       (2,000)       

The Prime Minister's Queen
Elizabeth II Diamond Jubilee
Scholarship - establishment 3.6

Administered expenses -              -                  -                 -               -                

Departmental expenses -              -                  -                 -               -                

Total -              -                  -                 -               -                

Total expense measures
Administered expenses (7,484)     (176,513)     (203,640)    (106,951)   (41,969)     

Departmental expenses 3,852      9,153          10,261       9,460        9,188         

Total (3,632)     (167,360)     (193,379)    (97,491)     (32,781)      
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Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures (continued) 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Capital measures

Manufacturing Technology
Innovation Centre
- establishment 1.1

Administered capital -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental capital -             25              20             -              -               

Total -             25              20             -              -               

VET FEE-HELP Assistance
Scheme - redesign 3.2

Administered capital -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental capital -             1,612         587           -              -               

Total -             1,612         587           -              -               

Australian Apprenticeships
Information Management
System - establishment 3.5

Administered capital -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental capital -             2,764         5,677        646          -               

Total -             2,764         5,677        646          -               

Total capital measures
Administered -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental -             4,401         6,284        646          -               

Total -             4,401         6,284        646          -                
Prepared on a Government Finance Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
1This measure is also listed in the 2011-12 Supplementary Additional Estimates Statements 
2The departmental expenses incorporate the revenue amounts. 

 

Measures announced between 2011-12 Budget and 2012-13 Budget but not yet 
reported in a subsequent portfolio statement 

Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Measures
Ford Australia 
Environmental Innovation

Grant1 1.1
Administered expenses -             -                -                -              -               
Departmental expenses -             -                -                -              -               

Total -           -              -              -             -                
Prepared on a Government Financial Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
1This measure was a decision taken and not announced in the 2011-12 Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal 

Outlook 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Australian Government programs are 
the primary vehicles by which government agencies achieve the intended results of 
their outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs that 
contribute to government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

The Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education has 
developed an outcomes and programs framework, with three outcomes and 13 
programs. Each outcome is described below together with its related programs. A suite 
of performance indicators, supported by the systemic collection of data, has been 
applied to assess and monitor the performance of the department in achieving the 
objectives of the programs, thereby the government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: The sustainable development and growth of Australian industry—
particularly the manufacturing, services and small business sectors—by 
encouraging businesses to innovate, collaborate and commercialise ideas, 
and by delivering business advice, assistance and services. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

The department will work to improve social and economic viability, competitive 
advantage and international engagement of Australian industries, reduce impediments 
to doing business and increase competition and sustainability, with a particular focus 
on the manufacturing, small business and services sectors. It will also work to boost 
innovation by Australian industry and improve economic, environmental and social 
benefits for the Australian community through the delivery of measures identified in 
Programs 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 below. 

Program 1.1 Industry Development and Investment 

The Australian Government’s productivity agenda aims to create a culture of 
innovation, increase innovative capabilities and raise our long-term productivity 
growth. In contributing to this, the department aims to increase the productivity, 
sustainability and growth of industry, including the manufacturing, services and small 
business sectors through:  

 working with the manufacturing sector to support its ongoing 
competitiveness, and helping build industries which are integrated into global 
markets and innovative in their business operations;  
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 supporting the accelerated take-up of new technology and knowledge, 
including encouraging collaboration and partnerships, so Australian industry 
including the services sector can access the best ideas from around Australia 
and the rest of the world; and 

 providing advisory and information services to assist the development and 
growth of business including small business. 

Program 1.2 Innovative Industry 

Business innovation is a primary driver of sustainable productivity growth and social 
wellbeing. The Australian Government set out a 10 year vision for strengthening 
innovation with the aim to increase productivity in Powering Ideas: An Innovation 
Agenda for the 21st Century. The Government’s ambition is to increase the proportion of 
businesses engaging in innovation by 25 per cent over the decade, and lift the number 
of businesses investing in research and development over time. To contribute to this, 
the department: 

 provides incentives for business innovation and business R&D where this is 
likely to benefit the wider economy;  

 facilitates the application of leading edge technologies and management 
capabilities;  

 develops pathways for industry to access the knowledge and expertise in 
universities and research agencies; 

 increases the ability of business to commercialise their ideas;   

 cultivates public awareness and understanding of the scope and significance of 
innovation; and 

 strengthens and streamlines the administration of the national innovation 
system to make it better at targeting national priorities, coordinating the 
activities of different governments and measuring performance. 

Program 1.3 Program Support 

The department works to improve the growth, performance and competitiveness of 
businesses and industry through: 

 providing policy advice on issues that impact the productivity, international 
competitiveness and growth of Australian businesses; 

 developing and delivering specialised services to business and industry; and 
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 the effective and efficient development, implementation and delivery of 
measures and initiatives supporting the government’s innovation and industry 
policy interventions. 
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Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 

Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
Outcome 1: 2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: Industry Development and Investment
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 322,008         355,434           
Special appropriations 490,337           325,517           
Special Accounts 2,050               4,200               

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year 1,774             -                      
Total for Program 1.1 816,169           685,151           

Program 1.2: Innovative Industry
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 378,840           312,731           
Total for Program 1.2 378,840           312,731           

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 314,665         311,758           
Special Accounts 7,250               6,875               

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 29,705             21,831             

Total for Program 1.3 351,620         340,464           

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type

Administered Expenses
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 700,848           668,165           

Special appropriations 490,337         325,517           
Special Accounts 2,050               4,200               
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year 1,774               -                      

Departmental expenses
Departmental appropriation1 314,665           311,758           
Special Accounts 7,250               6,875               

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 29,705           21,831             

Total expenses for Outcome 1 1,546,629 1,338,346

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 1,904               1,884               

The sustainable development and growth of Australian industry - 
particularly the manufacturing, services and small business sectors - 
by encouraging businesses to innovate, collaborate and 
commercialise ideas, and by delivering business advice, assistance 
and services.

 
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense and Audit Fees. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1 

 

Program 1.1: Industry Development and Investment  

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 1.1 are to increase the productivity, sustainability and 
growth of industry through: 

• increasing business investment in plant, equipment and innovation  

• promoting sustainable development of industry 

• increasing facilitation, advice, support and assistance to businesses and industry. 

Program 1.1 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• continued implementation of measures included in the government’s Clean 
Energy Future and A New Car Plan for a Greener Future programs 

• providing access to major projects and supply chains through the Australian 
Industry Participation initiatives 

• supporting the processed food industry through the work of the Food Industry 
Policy Strategy Group and its development of a strategic plan for the sector 

• enhancing the services of Enterprise Connect to help improve the 
competitiveness of Australian SMEs 

• assisting manufacturing sectors facing significant structural change through 
implementing initiatives such as the Illawarra Region Innovation and Investment 
Fund 

• supporting the establishment and the activities of the Australian Small Business 
Commissioner 

• supporting the growth of the small business sector through the Small Business 
Advisory Services and a Small Business Commissioner, including the Small 
Business Support Line 

• reducing the cost of doing business by implementing the Australian Business 
Number and Business Names Registration System, and through enhanced and 
amalgamated mediation services for industry codes of conduct. 

Program 1.1 items are grouped under the following sub-programs: 

• Manufacturing 

• Services 

• Structural Adjustment 

• Small Business. 

These are covered in more detail under Program 1.1 components. 
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Linked to:  

• Certain Inputs to Manufacture; Enhanced Project By-law Scheme—linked to 
Australian Customs and Border Protection Service through provision of tariff 
and duty credits and concessions 

• Liquefied Petroleum Gas Vehicle Scheme—linked to Medicare and Centrelink 
through processing of applications and provision of rebates 

• Textiles, Clothing and Footwear—Structural Adjustment Program—linked to the 
Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations through 
administration of labour adjustment component (Part 1) 

• Textile, Clothing and Footwear—Register of Approved Occupational Clothing—
linked to the Australian Taxation Office through provision of tax benefits  

• TRADEX—linked to Australian Customs and Border Protection Service and the 
Australian Taxation Office through the provision of duty and GST concessions 

• Enhanced and amalgamated mediation services—linked to the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry and the Department of Resources, Energy 
and Tourism through administration of industry codes of conduct 

• Australian Business Number and Business Names Registration System—linked 
to Treasury, the Australian Taxation Office, the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission and the Administrative Appeals Tribunal through 
provision of business name registration and related processes. 
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Program expenses 1.1 Industry development and Investment 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward

budget year 1 year 2 year 3
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Annual Administered Expenses:
Assistance to upgrade Simplot's 
 processing plants in Tasmania        1,000                -                -                -                - 

Australian Business Number and 
 Business Names Registration 
 System - expansion        1,610           740           320             50             50 

Australian Small Business Commissioner                -           316           802           535        1,838 

Australian Space Science Program      13,229      14,174                -                -                - 
Automotive Industry Structural 
 Adjustment Program      19,995                -                -                -                - 

Automotive Market Access           750                -                -                -                - 
Automotive New Markets Initiative               -       3,629       7,129       7,129        4,129 

Automotive Supply Chain Development
 Program        5,420        4,688                -                -                - 
Automotive Transformation Scheme     95,573     79,205     68,239     53,026      35,959 

Buy Australian at Home and Abroad        6,447        9,034        5,810        5,810                - 
Clean Business Australia
 - Green Building Fund      30,580      28,264        6,921                -                - 

Clean Business Australia - Retooling for 
Climate Change        4,802                -                -                -                - 

Clean Technology Investment - Food and 
Foundries Program        3,580      35,300      50,600      55,500      25,650 

Clean Technology Investment
 - General Program        5,980      77,400    116,146    155,900    220,100 

Enhanced and amalgamated mediation
 services for the Franchising Code of 
 Conduct, the Horticultural Code of 
 Conduct, the Oilcode and the Produce 
 and Grocery Industry Code of Conduct           700           705           710                -                - 

Enterprise Connect      29,928      23,608      22,833      24,428      24,833 
Food Industry Policy          478            48               -               -                - 

Ford Australia Environmental
 Innovation Grant      34,000                -                -                -                - 

General Motors Holden - next
 generation vehicles - contribution                -                -      36,000      50,700    112,700 

Illawarra Region Innovation
 and Investment Fund        6,400      11,600           851                -                - 
Leveraging Australia's Global Expat
  Platform - Advance           857           818           505                -                -  
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Program expenses 1.1 (continued) 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Liquefied Petroleum Gas
 Vehicle Scheme      28,175      26,100      21,818                -                - 

Manufacturing Technology Innovation
 Centre - establishment                -        3,205        5,409        8,215        8,826 
Small Business Advisory Services        5,650        6,437        6,028        6,166        6,319 
Small Business Support Line       1,318       1,319       1,318       1,418                - 

South-East South Australian Innovation
and Investment Fund        1,334        7,990                -                -                - 

Support for Industry Service
Organisations program        4,019        4,100        4,187        4,278        4,373 

Tasmanian Innovation and Investment
 Fund        3,797        2,868           914                -                - 

Textile Clothing and Footwear
 - Strategic Capability Program        9,105        9,105        8,025        4,100                - 

Textile Clothing and Footwear
 - Structural Adjustment Program        7,281        4,781        4,776        4,890                - 

Total Ordinary Annual Services 322,008 355,434 369,341 382,145 444,777

Special Appropriations:
Automotive Transformation Scheme
 Act 2009    301,066    300,000    300,000    300,000    300,000 

Steel Transformation Plan Act 2011    164,000                -                -      23,500      75,000 

Texti le, Clothing and Footwear
Investment and Innovation
Programs Act 1999      25,271      25,517      25,000      25,000      25,000 

Total Special Appropriations 490,337 325,517 325,000 348,500 400,000

Special Account Expenses: 
Services for Other Entities and Trust Moneys -
s20 Special Account        2,050        4,200        4,100                -                - 

Total Special Account Expenses: 2,050 4,200 4,100 -              -               

Expenses not requiring appropriation in
the Budget year

Loan expense 1,774                    -                -                -                - 
Total Expenses not requiring appropriation 

in the Budget year 1,774       -               -              -              -               
Total program expenses 816,169 685,151 698,441 730,645 844,777  
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Program 1.1 Components 
Manufacturing: 

• Australian Space Science Program 

– Australian Space Research  

• Automotive New Markets Initiative 

• Automotive Supply Chain Development Program  

• Automotive Transformation Scheme 

• Buy Australian at Home and Abroad 

– Buy Australian at Home and Abroad 

– Clean Technology Focus for Supply Chains Program 

– Procurement Strategy: strengthening the Australian Industry Participation 
National Framework and streamlining AusTender  

• Certain Inputs to Manufacture1  

• Clean Business Australia—Green Building Fund  

• Clean Technology Investment—Food and Foundries Program 

• Clean Technology Investment—General Program 

• Enhanced Project By-law Scheme1 

• Food Industry Policy 

• General Motors Holden—next generation vehicles 

• Liquefied Petroleum Gas Vehicle Scheme  

• Space Concession1 

• Steel Transformation Plan 

• TCF Investment and Innovation Programs 

– Textile, Clothing and Footwear Small Business Program 

– Clothing and Household Textile (Building Innovative Capability) Scheme 

• Textile, Clothing and Footwear - Register of Approved Occupational Clothing1  

• Textile, Clothing and Footwear - Structural Adjustment Program  

• Textile, Clothing and Footwear - Strategic Capability Program  

• TRADEX1 

Services: 

• Australian Business Number and Business Names Registration System  

• Enhanced and amalgamated mediation services for the Franchising Code of Conduct, 
the Horticultural Code of Conduct, the Oilcode and the Produce and Grocery 
Industry Code of Conduct 

• Enterprise Connect 

• Leveraging Australia’s Global Expat Platform – Advance 

• Manufacturing Technology Innovation Centre 

• Support for Industry Service Organisations Program  

Structural Adjustment: 
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• Illawarra Region Innovation and Investment Fund 

• South-East South Australian Innovation and Investment Fund 

• Tasmanian Innovation and Investment Fund 

Small Business: 

• Australian Small Business Commissioner 

• Small Business Advisory Services  

• Small Business Support Line. 
1Revenue forgone 
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Program 1.1 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 1.1 include: 

• provision and management of grants, contracts and entitlements 

• provision of duty and tax concessions to eligible firms 

• provision of business advisory and information services 

• an early intervention dispute resolution service for the franchising sector 

• facilitating the representation and communication of Australian interests in 
international standards 

• establishment of the Australian Small Business Commissioner.   

Deliverable Metric 2011-12 Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 Estimate 

Number of new grants, 
contracts and 
entitlements with 
payments in the 
relevant financial year 

24,186 26,545 
Provision and 
management of 
grants, contracts and 
entitlements Total value of grants, 

contracts and 
entitlements ($'000) 

$760,180 $659,185 

Number of new duty 
and tax registrations 

500 515 

Provision of duty and 
tax concessions to 
eligible firms 

Value of duty and tax 
concessions to eligible 
firms ($'000) 

$220,500 $273,000 

Provision of business 
advisory and 
information services  

Number of services 
provided 

92,750 75,800 

Facilitating the 
representation and 
communication of 
Australian interests in 
international 
standards 

Membership of key 
international 
standardisation and 
conformity assessment 
bodies maintained 

Achieved Achieved 

Establishment of the 
Australian Small 
Business 
Commissioner  

Successful recruitment 
of the Australian Small 
Business Commissioner 
and the establishment 
of the office of the 
Australian Small 
Business Commissioner 

- Achieved 
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Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 1.1, and relate to businesses and industry 
assisted by the department and the impact of the assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased industry productivity, sustainability and growth through increasing 
expenditure on plant, equipment and innovation in assisted businesses 

– Total value of investment by industry on plant, equipment and innovation 
through Automotive, Textile, Clothing and Footwear, Manufacturing and 
Structural Adjustment grants   

– Number of reported reductions in greenhouse gas emissions from completed 
Green Building Fund projects 

– Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions in kilotonnes of carbon dioxide 
(equivalent) per annum and megalitres per annum of water savings from 
completed Retooling for Climate Change grant projects 

– Proportion of companies assisted under the Clean Technology Investment 
Programs reporting projects with a minimum five per cent reduction in carbon 
intensity1 

– Number of projects supported under the Australian Space Research Program. 

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Total value of plant and 
equipment and innovation 
investment by Australian 
automotive industry ($’000) 

$875,638 $994,630 $860,620 

Amount of eligible expenditure on 
plant and equipment and 
innovation in TCF industry 
($’000)2  

$228,210 - - 

Amount of eligible expenditure 
claimed for innovation by clothing 
and household textile entities 
($’000)3  

- $45,580 $45,580 

Amount of private sector 
investment induced by Structural 
Adjustment grants ($’000) 

$84.904 $43,750 $45,000 

Reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions from completed Green 
Building Fund projects, 
expressed in kilotonnes of 
carbon dioxide (equivalent) per 
annum  

40 104 165 

Reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions in kilotonnes of carbon 

20 35 - 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

45 

dioxide (equivalent) per annum 
for completed Retooling for 
Climate Change grant projects4 

Water savings from completed 
Retooling for Climate Change 
grant projects, expressed in 
megalitres per annum4 

299 700 - 

Proportion of companies assisted 
under the Clean Technology 
Investment Programs reporting 
projects with a minimum 5% 
reduction in carbon intensity5 

- 0 80% 

Number of projects supported 
under the Australian Space 
Research Program 

14 14 13 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased facilitation, advice, support and assistance provided to businesses and 
industry by: increasing the number of services utilised, increasing the number of 
SMEs developing new and sustainable capabilities (knowledge, tools, expertise), 
and an increase in assisted clients implementing advice 

– Number of clients accessing Enterprise Connect 

– Number of businesses assisted through provision of advice, referrals, and 
services to improve capabilities 

– Proportion of SMEs assisted reporting improvement to business 

– Number of stakeholders (clients) actively engaged in development and 
implementation of Supplier Advocate industry development strategies. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of clients accessing 

Enterprise Connect 
3,945 5,000 5,000 

Number of small business 

owners who have received 

advice or referrals from Small 

Business Support Line service 

providers   

21,250 21,500 24,600 

Number of services provided to 

small businesses6 
118,705 70,000 50,000 

Proportion of SMEs in the TCF 

Strategic Capability program 

reporting improved capacity (%) 

100% 80% 80% 
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Number of stakeholders (clients) 

actively engaged in development 

and implementation of Supplier 

Advocate industry development 

strategies 

650 1,080 1,190 

1A new metric introduced for the Clean Technology Investment Program and Clean Technology Food and 
Foundries Investment Program.  

2TCF Post 2005 Strategic Investment Program (SIP) scheme is closed. The Clothing and Household Textile 
(Building Innovative Capability scheme) replaced the TCF Post-2005 (SIP) scheme from 2010-11.  

3The Clothing and Household Textile (Building Innovative Capability scheme) replaced the TCF Post-2005 
(SIP) scheme from 2010-11.  

4Administered funding for Clean Business Australia – Re-tooling for Climate Change terminated in 2011-12. 
5The Clean Technology Investment Program and Clean Technology Food and Foundries Investment 

Program commenced in 2011-12. 
6Administered funding for the Small Business Online program terminated in 2010-11.  
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Program 1.2: Innovative Industry  

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 1.2 are to increase the productivity, sustainability and 
growth of industry through: 

• increasing innovation in business 

• increasing business R&D 

• increasing research commercialisation. 

Program 1.2 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• continued implementation of measures announced in Powering Ideas and in 
response to the Review of the Cooperative Research Centres Program 

• delivering a significant reform of tax support arrangements for research and 
development through the R&D Tax Incentive 

• supporting business innovation through measures such as the Clean Technology 
Innovation Program  

• building capacity and support for the commercialisation and utilisation of 
research through the Cooperative Research Centres, Commercialisation Australia 
and venture capital programs 

• ensuring Australia can benefit from enabling technologies through the National 
Enabling Technology Strategy. 

Program 1.2 items are grouped under the following sub-programs: 

• Business Innovation 

• Commercialisation 

• Research and Collaboration. 

These are covered in more detail under Program 1.2 components. 

Linked to:  

• Research and Development Tax Concession; Research and Development Tax 
Incentive; Early Stage Venture Capital Limited Partnerships tax concession; 
Venture Capital Limited Partnerships tax concession; and Pooled Development 
Funds tax concession—linked to the Department of the Treasury and the 
Australian Taxation Office through taxation benefits. 
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Program expenses 1.2 Innovative Industry 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual Administered Expenses:

Clean Business Australia
 - Climate Ready Program        8,027                -                -                -                - 

Clean Technology Innovation Program               -     11,280     54,400     74,350      35,350 

Commercial Ready Program           900                -                -                -                - 

Commercialisation Australia     57,300     69,684     74,929     74,802      74,672 

Cooperative Research Centres Program   165,724   154,493   145,809   157,024    167,928 

CSL – Commonwealth assistance      10,600        8,000        2,100                -                - 

Green Car Innovation Fund   125,542     57,780     37,796     24,402                - 

National Enabling Technologies Strategy       4,310       4,346               -               -                - 
Research and Development Tax

 Incentive1        2,437        3,148        2,927        2,073        2,073 

Small scale mammalian cell
 production facility        4,000        4,000                -                -                - 

Total Annual Administered Expenses 378,840 312,731 317,961 332,651 280,023
Total program 1.2 expenses 378,840 312,731 317,961 332,651 280,023  

1Formerly reported as the Research and Development Credit in the 2011-12 Portfolio Budget Statements. 
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Program 1.2 Components 

• Clean Technology Innovation Program 

• Research and Development Tax Concession1/Research and Development Tax 
Incentive1 

Commercialisation: 

• Commercialisation Australia  

• Early Stage Venture Capital Limited Partnerships1  

• Green Car Innovation Fund 

• Innovation Investment Fund2  

• Innovation Investment Fund Follow-on Fund2, 4  

• National Enabling Technologies Strategy  

• Pooled Development Funds1 

• Pre-Seed Fund2, 4 

• Small scale mammalian cell production facility  

• Venture Capital Limited Partnerships1  

Research and Collaboration: 

• CSL – Commonwealth assistance3 

• Cooperative Research Centres Program 
1Revenue forgone 
2Capital 
3This program was previously published as Commonwealth Serum Laboratories (CSL) - Commonwealth 

assistance. 
4The Pre Seed Fund will reach the end of its 10-year period this year but will exercise the allowable 3 year 

extension for orderly divestment by fund managers. The program is not open to new applicants. The 
Innovation Investment Fund Follow-on Fund is in a similar position but only 2 year extensions are 
allowed.  
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Program 1.2 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 1.2 include: 

• provision and management of grants and contracts 

• provision of duty and tax incentives to eligible firms  

• provision of capital to investees 

• commercialisation advisory services in conjunction with grants or capital. 

Deliverable Metric 

2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of new grants and 

contracts with payments in 

relevant financial year 

185 240 
Provision and 

management of 

grants and contracts Total value of grants and 

contracts ($'000)  
$370,745 $299,110 

Provision of duty and 

tax incentives to 

eligible firms1 

Number of new duty and tax 

registrations 
1,665 - 

Number of investees 
37 35 

Provision of capital to 

investees Total value of payments to 

investees ($’000) 
$15,220 $21,385 

Number of commercialisation 

advisory services2 
28 30 

Commercialisation 

advisory services Total value of commercialisation 

advisory services provided ($’000) 
$4,880 $7,435 

1The department does not have 2012-13 estimates for the R&D Tax Incentive or R&D Tax Concession 
programs. 

2This metric relates to the number of Business Advisers and Case Managers in relevant activities under 
Program 1.2. 
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Program 1.2 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the 
top-level effectiveness indicators for Program 1.2, and relate to businesses and 
industry assisted by the department and the impact of the assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased number of supported businesses investing in innovation over time 

– Number of supported businesses investing in innovation over time. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of entities registering R&D 
expenditure with AusIndustry in order to 
claim the tax incentive or tax concession 
through their annual tax returns1  

8,753 9,000 - 

Number of grantees in Clean Business 
Australia - Climate Ready Program2 

102 102 - 

Number of companies engaged in 
innovation through new grants awarded 
under the Green Car Innovation Fund 3 

9 2 0 

Number of companies engaged in 
innovation through new grants awarded 
under the Clean Technology Innovation 
Program4 

- - 45 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased value of innovation investment by supported businesses over time 

– Value of innovation investment by supported businesses over time  

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

R&D expenditure registered with 
AusIndustry in order to claim the tax 
incentive or tax concession through their 
annual tax returns ($’000)1 

$17,633,077 $17,250,000 - 

Total innovation investment by businesses 
receiving grants ($’000) 

$232,400 $554,600 $212,000 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased number of products and services commercialised/patented 

– Value of total investment in commercialisation of projects receiving 
Commercialisation Australia grants 

– Number of grantees working towards successful commercialisation outcomes 

– Number of commercialisation agreements 
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– Number of patents held or maintained 

– Number of applications for patents filed 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Value of total investment in 
commercialisation of projects receiving 
Commercialisation Australia grants ($’000) 

$79,996 $120,000 $125,000 

Number of customers that report they are 
working towards successful 
commercialisation of supported projects 

558 203 204 

Number of respondents who met project 
milestones and who are achieving 
successful commercialisation outcomes 

38 45 74 

Number of commercialisation agreements 
reported by the Cooperative Research 
Centres (CRCs) 

223 223 223 

Number of patents held/maintained by 
CRCs 

1,290 1,290 1,290 

Number of applications for patents filed by 
CRCs 

104 104 104 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased number of businesses supported by licensed or registered government 
fund managers 

– Number of new funds registered under departmental venture capital 
programs 

– Number of investees supported by funded venture capital programs. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of new funds registered under 
departmental venture capital programs5 

14 5 4 

Number of investees supported by funded 
venture capital programs5 

98 109 34 

1The department does not have 2012-13 estimates for the R&D Tax Incentive or R&D Tax Concession 
programs. 

2Administered funding for the Clean Business Australia - Climate Ready Program will terminate at the end of  
2011-12. 

3No new grants awarded for 2012-13. 
4The Clean Technology Innovation Program commenced in 2011-12.  
5The 2012-13 estimate does not include the Early Stage Venture Capital Limited Partnerships (ESVCLP), 

Venture Capital Limit Partnerships (VCLP) or Pooled Development Fund programs, as estimates are 
unavailable for these programs.  
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Program 1.3: Program Support  

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 1.3 are to improve the growth, performance and 
competiveness of businesses through: 

• providing high quality policy advice 

• delivering specialised measurement services 

• increasing the usage of business.gov.au 

• providing online authentication services. 

Program 1.3 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• provision of policy advice on issues impacting the manufacturing sector, services 
economy and small business 

• provision of policy advice on issues impacting Australia’s innovation system, 
business innovation and industries of the future 

• working across government to ensure small business (including independent 
contractors) is considered in policy making, in particular in the areas of 
innovation, deregulation, competition, taxation and workplace relations policy 

• developing and delivering specialised measurement services and infrastructure 
through the National Measurement Institute (including administering the 
national trade measurement system) 

• developing and delivering online services through business.gov.au 

• developing and delivering online authentication services through VANguard 

• providing advice and services to businesses through the Enterprise Connect 
network  

• the effective and efficient administration of the department. 
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Program expenses 1.3 Program Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Ordinary Annual Services
 (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 273,193 271,837 273,642 262,303 261,748

Revenues from independent sources (s31) 41,472 39,921 38,042 34,501 33,455
Special Accounts 7,250 6,875 7,515 7,390 7,340

Expenses not requiring appropriation in
the Budget year1 29,705 21,831 22,276 22,276 22,276

Total program 1.3 expenses 351,620 340,464 341,475 326,470 324,819  
1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 1.3 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 1.3 include: 

• maintenance of business.gov.au website and services  

• provision of online authentication services 

• provision of measurement services and related training and representation of 
Australian measurement interests internationally 

• administering the national trade measurement system 

• strategic innovation and industry policy advice to the Minister 

• efficient delivery of activities supporting government innovation and industry 
policy interventions. 

Deliverable 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 Estimate 

Maintenance of business.gov.au 
website and services 

New topics, applications 
and enhanced services. 
Business.gov.au 
websites on target to 
receive over 26 million 
visits in 2011-12.  

Release new topics, 
applications and 
enhance services. 
Receive over 29 
million visits in 
2012-13. 

Provision of online authentication 
services through VANguard  

On Track to process over 
32.8 million transactions 
at an availability of 
>98.5%. 

Process over 33.4 
million transactions at 
an availability of 
>98.5%. 

Provision of measurement services and 
related training and representation of 
Australian measurement interests 
internationally  

Achieved.  NMI is 
providing measurement 
services and training, and 
representing Australia's 
measurement interests.  

Achieved.  NMI is 
providing 
measurement services 
and training, and 
representing 
Australia's 
measurement 
interests. 

Administering the national trade 
measurement system 

The national trade 
measurement system is 
operating effectively. 

The national trade 
measurement system 
is operating 
effectively. 

Strategic innovation and industry policy 
advice to the Minister 

Achieved Achieved 

Efficient delivery of activities supporting 
government innovation and industry 
policy interventions 

Achieved Achieved 
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Program 1.3 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 1.3, and relate to major initiatives 
undertaken under this program. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased scope of national measurement services provided to the Australian 
economy and develop measurement infrastructure to support innovation, 
industry and government objectives 

– Number and quality of measurement services, reference materials and 
methods available to the Australian community  

– Uptake of services. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of measurement services by 
national measurement institute 

4,500 4,500 4,500 

Percentage of trade measurement 
compliance targets met (%) 

First year of 
Commonwealth 

operation 

90% 90% 

Percentage of reports, certificates and 
services delivered on time (%) 

70% target 
exceeded 

85% 85% 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased usage of eBusiness services by increasing usage of the business.gov.au 
websites; and new content, products and services  

– Number of visits to business.gov.au websites. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of visits to business.gov.au 
websites 

24,023,825 26,500,000 29,000,000 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased usage of highly-available VANguard authentication services supporting 
business to government and government to government online transactions  

– Number of transactions 

– System availability. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of VANguard transactions 
32,131,243 32,800,000 33,400,000 

System availability 
99.99% 98.5% 98.5% 
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Evaluations for Outcome 1 

The following evaluations are planned for 2012-13 

Business.gov.au 
The government’s business website (www.business.gov.au) makes it easier for 
businesses to deal with the three tiers of government in Australia. It provides online 
access to government information and enables business to transact with government 
online. The information and services provided via business.gov.au help to reduce the 
compliance burden faced by Australian small businesses and assist in implementing 
the Government’s e-Government Strategy. The website also helps Australian 
businesses to increase their productivity and performance. 

Commercialisation Australia 
The purpose of Commercialisation Australia is to build the capacity of, and 
opportunities for, Australia’s researchers, entrepreneurs and innovative firms to 
convert intellectual property into new successful commercial ventures, enhancing 
Australia’s participation and competitiveness in the global economy and generating 
commercial returns from Australia’s significant investment in public and private sector 
research and development. 

The following evaluation was completed in 2011-12 

Australian Space Research Program (ASRP) 
The ASRP aims to develop Australia’s niche space capabilities by supporting space 
related research, innovation and skills in areas of national significance.  The program 
supports space education development activities and space science and innovation 
projects. 

The ASRP interim evaluation found that the program provides an appropriate and 
adequate funding source for the initial capability definition and testing of the range of 
space technology platforms sought by Australia.   The evaluation found that 
the program has embedded a positive collaborative culture across the individual 
projects and that the education element of the ASRP plays an important part in the 
industry development framework. 

The following evaluations commenced in 2011-12 

National Enabling Technologies Strategy (NETS) 
NETS provides a framework to support the responsible development of enabling 
technologies. Its aim is to improve the management and regulation of biotechnology 
and nanotechnology in order to maximise community confidence and community 
benefits from the use of new technology.  

The evaluation of NETS commenced in December 2011 and will be finalised by mid 
2012.  It will assess progress of the strategy to date and will be conducted in 
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accordance with the Department of Finance and Deregulation’s expenditure review 
principles. 

Industry Cooperative Innovation Program (ICIP)  
ICIP is a merit based grants program aimed at encouraging business-to-business 
cooperation on innovation projects that enhance productivity, growth and 
international competitiveness in Australian industries.  

Preliminary research for the ICIP evaluation has commenced. However, the timing for 
completion of the evaluation has been rescheduled due to resourcing considerations.  
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Outcome 2: Production, use and awareness of science and research 
knowledge, by supporting research activity; training and infrastructure; 
science communication; skill development; and collaboration, within the 
research sector and between researchers and industry, domestically and 
internationally. 

 

Outcome 2 Strategy 

The department will continue to maintain a strong science and research capacity 
required to generate and utilise knowledge within the science and research, higher 
education and industry sectors through investment in research infrastructure, skill 
development and promoting collaboration both within Australia and internationally, 
through the delivery of measures identified in Programs 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 below. 

Program 2.1 Investment in Higher Education Research  

Higher education providers contribute knowledge to fuel the national innovation 
system—and the skilled people that drive it. The Australian Government is seeking to 
drive quality, excellence, collaboration, diversity and sustainability as part of its reform 
of the higher education research sector. These reforms underpin the Australian 
Government’s 10 year strategic policy framework for the national innovation system 
outlined in Powering Ideas. The department aims to help Australia achieve a strong 
research capacity in the higher education sector through developing and implementing 
a policy framework and financial support arrangements for university research and 
research training that: 

 expands the capacity of Australian universities; 

 renews and expands the skilled research workforce;  

 enhances the provision and maintenance of research infrastructure; and 

 builds the innovation potential of our workplaces and workforce. 

Program 2.2 Science and Research Capacity   

Science and research determines our potential for innovation and our capacity to 
access and benefit from advancing knowledge as it shapes economic competitiveness 
and social changes. The department aims to help Australia achieve a strong science 
and research capacity through:  

 promoting a strong culture of collaboration and networking across and 
between universities, research institutes, government and industry; 

 providing major research infrastructure in a framework that is strategic, 
national and collaborative;  
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 increasing participation in science-based careers;  

 facilitating and supporting science and research cooperation and strategic 
alliances with international partners for the benefit of all Australians through 
increased participation in, and access to, leading scientific research globally; 
and 

 strengthening and streamlining the administration of the national innovation 
system to make it better at targeting national priorities, coordinating the 
activities of different governments and measuring performance.  

Program 2.3 Program Support 

The department works to build a strong science and research capacity through: 

 providing advice concerning key issues for science and research policy; 

 raising science awareness in the Australian community over time;  

 building Australia’s international reputation as a leading research performing 
nation; and  

 the effective and efficient development and implementation and delivery of 
measures and initiatives supporting the Government’s science and research 
policy interventions.  

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 2 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 2 
Outcome 2: 2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses

$'000 $'000

Program 2.1: Investment in Higher Education Research
Administered expenses

Special appropriations 1,596,369      1,722,982        
Total for Program 2.1 1,596,369        1,722,982        

Program 2.2: Science & Research Capacity
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 72,290           54,514             
Special appropriations 4,479               4,654               
Special Accounts 386,929           303,775           

Total for Program 2.2 463,698           362,943           

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 70,891           66,929             
Special appropriations -                      -                      
Special Accounts 1,998               920                  

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 5,773             4,358               

Total for Program 2.3 78,662           72,207             

Outcome 2 Totals by appropriation type

Administered Expenses
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 72,290             54,514             

Special appropriations 1,600,848      1,727,636        
Special Accounts 386,929           303,775           

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 70,891           66,929             
Special appropriations -                      -                      
Special Accounts 1,998               920                  

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 5,773             4,358               

Total expenses for Outcome 2 2,138,729      2,158,132        

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 447                  442                  

Production, use and awareness of science and research knowledge, 
by supporting research activity; training and infrastructure; science 
communication; skill development; and collaboration, within the 
research sector and between researchers and industry, domestically 
and internationally.

 
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense and Audit Fees. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 2  

Program 2.1: Investment in Higher Education Research 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 2.1 are to increase the production of science and research 
knowledge through: 

• increasing research quality, transparency and accountability 

• sustaining and expanding a skilled workforce in research.  

Program 2.1 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• providing support for research in the higher education sector through Research 
Infrastructure Block Grants (RIBG) and the Research Training Scheme  

• addressing indirect costs of research through the Sustainable Research Excellence 
(SRE) in Universities initiative 

• providing support for higher education research training through the Australian 
Postgraduate Awards and the International Postgraduate Research Scholarship 
Scheme 

• improving skills for research commercialisation through the Commercialisation 
Training Scheme. 

Program 2.1 items are grouped under the following sub-programs: 

• Research 

• Postgraduate Student Support. 

These are covered in more detail under Program 2.1 components. 
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Program expenses 2.1 Investment in Higher Education Research 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Appropriations:
Higher Education Support
 Act 2003

International Postgraduate
 Research Scholarship Scheme        20,727          21,525          22,321          23,079          23,864 

Joint Research Engagement
 Program      332,489        345,293        358,056        370,223        382,817 

Research Infrastructure Block
 Grants      224,467        233,111        241,727        249,941        258,443 
Research Training Scheme     631,763       656,092       680,342       703,462        727,391 

Sustainable Research Excellence
 in Universities      165,193        218,593        334,474        345,841        357,605 

The Australian Postgraduate
 Awards      218,867        248,368        266,949        279,549        290,219 

The Commercialisation Training
 Scheme          2,863                    -                    -                    -                    - 

Total Special Appropriations 1,596,369 1,722,982 1,903,869 1,972,095 2,040,339
Total program 2.1 expenses 1,596,369 1,722,982 1,903,869 1,972,095 2,040,339  
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Program 2.1 Components 

Postgraduate Student Support: 

• International Postgraduate Research Scholarship Scheme 

• The Australian Postgraduate Awards  

Research: 

• Joint Research Engagement Program  

• Research Infrastructure Block Grants  

• Research Training Scheme  

• Sustainable Research Excellence in Universities 

 

Program 2.1 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 2.1 include: 

• provision of support and funding to higher education providers for research and 
research training  

• support for new and existing higher degree by research places. 

Deliverable Metric 

2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Provision of support 
and funding to higher 
education providers 
for research and 
research training 

Value of funds provided to higher 
education providers ($’000) 

$1,596,360 $1,722,980 

Number of Australian 
Postgraduate Awards1,2  

3,500 3,500 

Value of Australian Postgraduate 
Awards ($’000) 1,2 

$218,860 $248,360 

Number of International 
Postgraduate Research 
Scholarships1,2 

330 330 

Value of International 
Postgraduate Research 
Scholarships scheme ($’000) 1,2 

$20,720 $21,520 

Support for new and 
existing higher 
degree by research 
places 

Value of funds provided under 
Research Training Scheme 
($’000) 1,2 

$631,760 $656,090 

1Deliverable data is for the 2011 calendar year and includes only commencing Australian Postgraduate 
Awards and International Postgraduate Research Scholarships.  

2Deliverable data is for the 2012 calendar year and includes only commencing Australian Postgraduate 
Awards and International Postgraduate Research Scholarships.  
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Program 2.1 Key Performance Indicators   

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 2.1, and relate to higher education 
providers and research students assisted by the department and the impact of the 
assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increase the research performance, transparency and accountability of Australian 
higher education providers 

– Ratio of funding for indirect costs of research 

– Total value of higher education providers’ receipt of funds from sources other 
than competitive grants, including industry, community partners and public 
sector research agencies  

– Number of higher education providers participating in transparent costing 
through Sustainable Research Excellence in universities.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual1 

2011-12 
Estimate2 

2012-13 
Estimate2 

Ratio of funding for indirect costs of 
research (i.e. 2010 RIBG and SRE 
funding/2010 Australian Competitive 
Grant income) 

0.23:1 0.24:1 0.26:1 

Total value of higher education 
providers’ receipt of funds from sources
other than competitive grants, including 
industry, community partners and 
public sector research agencies 

($’000) 

$1,759,435 $1,888,940 $2,027,970 

Number of higher education providers 
participating in transparent costing 

41 41 41 

KPI and metrics 

• Sustain the number of students completing higher degrees by research 

– Number of higher degree by research student completions.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual1 

2011-12 
Estimate2 

2012-13 
Estimate2 

Number of higher degree by research 
student completions 

7,390 7,471 7,553 

1All KPIs refer to research block grant funding administered in the 2010 calendar year and research income 
from the Higher Education Research Data Collection for the 2010 calendar year. Student Completion 
figures refer to data submitted by higher education providers under the 2010 Higher Education Student 
Data Collection.  

2All KPIs refer to research block grant funding for the 2011 calendar year. As 2011 research income and 
student completions will not be reported to DIISTRE until 30 June 2012, all values derived from this data 
are estimates only. 
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Program 2.2: Science and Research Capacity 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 2.2 are to increase use and awareness of science and 
research knowledge through: 

• promoting a strong culture of collaboration and networking 

• supporting research infrastructure 

• increasing participation in science-based careers. 

Program 2.2 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• supporting research collaboration and networking through the Collaborative 
Research Network program, and the Commonwealth-Australian National 
University Strategic Relationship   

• facilitating and supporting science and research cooperation and strategic 
alliances with international partners for the benefit of all Australians through the 
Australia-China Science and Research Fund, and International Education and 
Training   

• managing research infrastructure projects for the National Collaborative 
Research Infrastructure Strategy, the Super Science Initiative and Education 
Investment Fund competitive Rounds 

• advancing Australia’s bid to host the Square Kilometre Array (SKA) radio 
telescope 

• encouraging further studies in science and mathematics and entry into science-
based careers though activities supported by Science for Australia’s Future – 
Inspiring Australia. 

Program 2.2 items are grouped under the following sub-programs: 

• Awareness 

• Infrastructure 

• International 

• Networks. 

These are covered in more detail under Program 2.2 components. 

Linked to:  

• Education Investment Fund—was linked to the Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations through provision of grants last year but 
following Machinery of Government changes in December 2011 is now in the 
IISRTE portfolio. 

• Square Kilometre Array—linked to the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial 
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Research Organisation through their Astronomy and Space Science (CASS) 
division. 
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Program expenses 2.2 Science and Research Capacity 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual Administered Expenses:

Australia-China Science and Research
 Fund        2,000         4,000        3,000                -                - 

Australian Astronomical Observatory       1,497        1,501       1,506       1,538        1,568 

Cairns Institute Tropical Innovation
 Hub - contribution        4,500                -                -                -                - 

Collaborative Research Network program      20,700       20,700      10,400      10,300      20,700 

Commonwealth-Australian National
 University Strategic Relationship      23,860         3,100        2,300        2,000        2,000 

Establishment of an ICT-enabled
 research laboratory
 – Commonwealth assistance        2,313         4,052        5,555        6,700        2,720 

European Molecular Biology
 Laboratory partner facili ty        2,000         2,000                -                -                - 

International Education and Training        7,456       12,197        9,316        6,405        2,783 

Learned Academies - supplementation       1,000               -               -               -                - 

Science for Australia's Future
- Inspiring Australia        5,246         5,246        5,246                -                - 

Square Kilometre Array Radio
 Telescope - supporting the 
 Australia-New Zealand bid        1,625         1,625        1,625        1,625                - 

Super Science - Future Industries             63              63                -                -                - 

Super Science - Space and Astronomy            30             30               -               -                - 

Total Annual Administered Expenses      72,290       54,514      38,948      28,568      29,771  
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Program expenses 2.2 (continued) 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Appropriations:

Higher Education Support Act 2003 - Higher 
Education Research Promotion        4,479         4,654        4,178        3,676        3,805 

Total Special Appropriations        4,479         4,654        4,178        3,676        3,805 
Special Account Expenses: 

EIF Research Portfolio Special Account: 
Nation-building Funds Act 2008  - s21 Special 
Account

Education Investment Fund - Super Science

- Super Science - Future Industries   106,500      77,500               -               -                - 

- Super Science - Marine and Climate      64,370       35,630                -                -                - 

- Super Science - Space and
 Astronomy        7,500         2,500                -                -                - 

Education Investment Fund - Round 2
- Building the Sydney Institute of
Marine Science        3,000                -                -                -                - 

- La Trobe Institute for Molecular
 Sciences      15,500                -                -                -                - 

- National Centre for Synchrotron
 Science        3,000                -                -                -                - 

- The Centre for Neural Engineering        3,400                -                -                -                - 
Education Investment Fund - Round 3

- AuScope Australian Geophysical
Observing System        6,829         5,292        3,588                -                - 

- Australian Future Fibres Research and 
Innovation Centres      15,000       18,500                -                -                - 

- Green Chemical Futures        4,335       15,610        8,319                -                - 

- Indian Ocean Marine Research
Centre        8,500       11,000      13,000                -                - 

- National Imaging Facility       5,631  -                -               -                - 

- The Australian Institute for
Nanoscience      26,100         6,800                -                -                - 

Education Investment Fund
- Sustainability Round

- Newcastle Institute for Energy
and Resources      12,098         4,143                -                -                - 

- Retrofitting for Resilient and Sustainable 
Buildings      15,000                -                -                -                - 

Clean Energy Initiative      16,966     100,000    100,000      83,034                - 

Giant Magellan Telescope     15,100      14,900     14,400               -                - 

Institution of Photonics (Round 1)           100            100                -                -                - 

New Horizons - Monash University
 Project (Round 1)      58,000       11,800           200                -                - 

Total Special Account Expenses 386,929 303,775 139,507 83,034                - 

Total program 2.2 expenses 463,698 362,943 182,633 115,278 33,576  
1This is an element of the Australia—India Strategic Research Fund.  
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Program 2.2 Components 
Awareness: 

• Higher Education Research Promotion 

• Science for Australia’s Future—Inspiring Australia 

Infrastructure: 

• Australian Astronomical Observatory  

• Clean Energy Initiative 

• Education Investment Fund Round 1  

– Institution of Photonics 

– New Horizon – Monash University Project 

• Education Investment Fund Round 3 

– AuScope Australian Geophysical Observing System 

– Australian Future Fibres Research and Innovation Centres 

– Green Chemical Futures 

– Indian Ocean Marine Research Centre 

– The Australian Institute for Nanoscience  

• Education Investment Fund Sustainability Round 

– Newcastle Institute for Energy and Resources 

• Establishment of an ICT-enabled research laboratory—Commonwealth 
assistance 

• European Molecular Biology Laboratory partner facility 

• Giant Magellan Telescope 

• Square Kilometre Array Radio Telescope – supporting the Australian-New 
Zealand bid 

• Super Science—Future Industries 

• Super Science—Marine and Climate 

• Super Science—Space and Astronomy  

International: 

• Australia-China Science and Research Fund 

• International Education and Training (Australia-India Strategic Research Fund)  

Networks: 

• Collaborative Research Network program 
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• Commonwealth-Australian National University Strategic Relationship 

– Australian National Institute for Public Policy 

– National Security College 
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Program 2.2 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 2.2 include: 

• support for research infrastructure 

• support for research collaborations  

• support for collaborations between the Australian Public Service (APS) and the 
research community  

• support for international collaborative research projects and relationships 

• support for increased awareness of science and research in the community 

Deliverable Metric 

2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Support for research 

infrastructure 

Value of funding for research 
infrastructure ($’000)  

$429,030 $460,830 

Support for research 

collaboration 

Value of funding for Collaborative 
Research Networks ($’000) 

$20,700 $20,700 

Support for 

collaborations 

between the APS and 

the research 

community 

Value of funding for 
Commonwealth-ANU Strategic 
Relationship ($’000) 

$23,860 $3,100 

Support for 

international 

collaborative research 

projects and 

relationships 

Value of funding for new grants in 
the reporting period related to 
international collaborative 
research projects and 
relationships ($’000) 

$9,450 $16,195 

Support for increased 
awareness of science 
and research in the 
community 

Value of funding to increase 
awareness of science and 
research in the community 
($’000) 

$10,725 $9,900 
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Program 2.2 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 2.2, and relate to research groups assisted 
by the department and the impact of the assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Improve the research performance of less research intensive universities 

– Number of research institutions supported by Collaborative Research 
Networks 

– Number of fields of researchers at or above world-class standard for these 
institutions.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of research institutions 
supported by Collaborative Research 
Networks 

9 12 12 

Number of fields of researchers at or 
above world class standard for these 
institutions 

31 40 54 

KPI and metrics 

• Expansion of partnerships between the Australian Public Service and the 
research community 

– Number of participants in courses and activities conducted under the banner 
of the Australian National Institute for Public Policy  

– Number of HC Coombs Policy Forum activities.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of participants in courses and 
activities conducted under the banner 
of the Australian National Institute for 
Public Policy 

463 875 720 

Number of HC Coombs Policy Forum 
activities 

27 41 70 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased participation in activities promoting science-based careers 

– Number of participants in activities promoting science based careers. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of attendees at for a promoting 
science based careers (including STA, 
CHASS and ACOLA)1 

380 500 650 
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National Science Week registrations 
1,073 1,000 1,000 

Graduate research students supervised
by Australian Astronomical 
Observatory (AAO) staff 

30 30 30 

Student fellowships and internships 
provided to undergraduate students by 
AAO 

6 9 9 

PhD top-up scholarships provided by 
AAO 

3 4 3 

Honours scholarships provided by AAO 3 4 4 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased access to research infrastructure to facilitate and support collaborative 
research activities 

– Number of research infrastructure projects established under National 
Collaborative Research Infrastructure Strategy (NCRIS) or the Super Science 
Initiative to offer services to the research sector over time 

– Number of institution-based research infrastructure projects supported 
through the Budget or Education Investment Fund competitive rounds over 
time 

– Number of users accessing AAO research facilities to facilitate and support 
research activities.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of research infrastructure 
projects established under NCRIS or 
the Super Science initiative to offer 
service to the research sector over time

58 58 58 

Number of institution-based research 
infrastructure projects supported 
through the budget or Education 
Investment Fund competitive rounds 
over time  

21 23 23 

Users of the Anglo Australian 
Telescope (Australian)2 

144 135 130 

Users of the UK Schmidt Telescope 
(Australian) 

40 40 40 

Users of the Gemini Telescopes 
(Overseas) 

62 73 80 

Users of the Magellan Telescope 
(Overseas) 

20 20 25 
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KPI and metrics 

• Increased number of projects reporting strengthened international collaborative 
relationships and research outcomes 

– Number of international collaborations reported 

– Number of collaborative research projects that report strengthened 
international relationships 

– Number of participants in activities strengthening international collaborative 
relationships and research outcomes. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of international collaborative 
relationships reported through the 
Commonwealth-ANU Strategic 
Relationship 

2 9 12 

Number of facilities collaborating in 
European Molecular Biology 
Laboratory partner facility 

4 4 4 

Number of collaborative research 
projects completed that reported 
strengthened international relationships

6 18 54 

Number of international visitors 
supported by the AAO Distinguished 
Visitor scheme  

4 5 5 

Number of international conferences 
and workshops supported by AAO 

9 6 7 

1STA – Science and Technology Australia, formerly FASTS. CHASS – Council for the Humanities, Arts and 
Social Sciences. ACOLA – Australian Council of Learned Academies, formerly NAF. 

2 Diminishing trend due to the larger and longer nature of the science programs now observed on the Anglo 
Australian Telescope. 
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Program 2.3: Program Support 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 2.3 are to increase the production, use and awareness of 
science and research knowledge through: 

• providing high quality policy advice 

• raising science awareness in the community 

• building Australia’s international reputation as a leading research performing 
nation. 

Program 2.3 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• provision of policy advice on issues impacting national science and research 
capacity 

• provision of policy advice on research workforce, infrastructure and 
international engagement 

• supporting the activities of Australia’s Chief Scientist 

• establishing the role of the National Maths and Science Education and Industry 
Advisor within the Office of the Chief Scientist 

• aligning institutional activities with national priorities through negotiating 
mission based compacts 

• raising science awareness within the Australian community through Questacon 
and other science awareness programs 

• the effective and efficient administration of the department.  

Linked to:  

• Mission based compacts—was linked to the Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations in 2011 but following Machinery of 
Government changes in December 2011 is now in the IISRTE portfolio. 
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Program expenses 2.3 Program Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Ordinary annual services
 (Appropriation Bil l No. 1) 54,762 55,669 41,934 51,534 49,958

Revenues from independent sources (s31) 16,129 11,260 10,730 9,730 9,434
Special Accounts 1,998 920 20 20 20

Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1 5,773        4,358        4,449        4,449        4,449 

Total program 2.3 expenses 78,662 72,207 57,133 65,733 63,861  
1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 2.3 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 2.3 include: 

• targeted science awareness activities, exhibitions and outreach programs 

• scientific, administrative and secretariat support for the Chief Scientist 

• establishment of the role of National Maths & Science Education and Industry 
Advisor  

• development of mission based compacts with universities (jointly with Program 
3.1) 

• efficient delivery of activities supporting government science and research policy 
interventions 

• effective and efficient administration of the department. 

Deliverable 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 Estimate 

Targeted science awareness 
exhibitions and outreach programs  

Questacon will deliver 
targeted science awareness 
exhibitions (at the Centre 
and travelling exhibitions) as 
well as a range of outreach 
programs (including digital 
media activities).  

Questacon will deliver 
targeted science 
awareness exhibitions 
(at the Centre and 
travelling exhibitions) 
as well as a range of 
outreach programs 
(including digital 
media activities). 

The Questacon 
Technology Learning 
Centre (QTLC) will 
open, showcasing 
Australian technology 
through workshops 
and exhibitions.  

Scientific, administrative and 
secretariat support for the Chief 
Scientist  

Chief Scientist is supported 
in the delivery of science 
advice through revised Prime 
Minister’s Science, 
Engineering and Innovation 
Council (PMSEIC) 
arrangements as well as 
advisory committees and in a 
science advocacy role.  

Chief Scientist is 
supported in the 
delivery of science 
advice through 
PMSEIC 
arrangements 
(supplemented by 
research capability 
delivered by the 
Australian Council of 
Learned Academies), 
as well as advisory 
committees and in a 
science advocacy role. 
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Establishment of the role of National 
Maths & Science Education and 
Industry Advisor  

n/a Appointment of 
National Advisor and 
development of 
program of work to 
deliver objectives. 

Development of mission based 
compacts with universities  

Achieved. All compacts 
signed for the period 2011-
2013. 

Negotiations to 
commence for next 
round of mission 
based compacts. 

Efficient delivery of activities 
supporting government science and 
research policy interventions 

Establishment of and support 
for the Australian Research 
Committee to provide 
strategic advice to 
government on research 
investment. 

Provision of strategic 
advice to government 
in the form of a 
National Research 
Investment Plan. 

Effective and efficient administration 
of the department 

Achieved Achieved 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

80 

 

Program 2.3 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 2.3, and relate to major initiatives 
undertaken under this program. 

KPI and metrics 

• Maintain effective and efficient usage of Questacon, including outreach programs 

– Questacon open to the public 364 days per year 

– Number of outreach programs 

– Number of admissions to Questacon 

– Number of Q-Club memberships 

– Number of participants to Outreach programs.   

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of days open per year 
364 3651 364 

Number of outreach programs 
8 8 7 

Number of admissions to Questacon 
Centre 

430,020 435,000 435,000 

Number of Q-Club memberships 
4,999 5,100 5,500 

Number of participants to Outreach 
programs 

139,418 125,000 125,000 

KPI and metrics 

• Maintain scientific, administrative and secretariat support for the Chief Scientist 

– Effective PMSEIC meeting and delivery of work grogram 

– Delivery of reports, papers and advice 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Effective PMSEIC meetings and 
delivery of work program 

Achieved Achieved Achieved 

Delivery of reports, papers and advice Achieved Achieved Achieved 

KPI and metrics 

• Appoint a National Maths and Science Education and Industry Advisor  

– Delivery of advice and reports on science and maths education 

– Development of an awareness campaign to increase participation in science 
and maths and promote science training in the workforce.  
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Data 
2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Delivery of advice and reports on 
science and maths education 

n/a n/a Achieved 

Development of an awareness 
campaign to increase participation in 
science and maths and promote 
science training in the workforce 

n/a n/a Achieved 

KPI and metrics 

• Increase the research performance, transparency and accountability of Australian 
universities 

– Number of mission based compacts negotiated and signed.  

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of Higher Education Providers 
that sign compacts 

0 41 41 

KPI and metrics 

• Efficient delivery of activities supporting government science and research policy 
interventions  

– Secretariat support to the Australian Research Committee and development 
of a National Research Investment Plan. 

Data 2010-11  
Actual 

2011-12 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Secretariat support to the Australian 
Research Committee and development 
of a National Research Investment 
Plan2  

- Achieved Achieved 

1 2012 is a leap year. 
2Activity commenced in 2011-12.  
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Evaluations for Outcome 2 

The following evaluations are planned for 2012-13 

Australian National Institute for Public Policy (ANIPP) 
The ANIPP was established in 2010-11 as part of the reinvigoration of the 
Commonwealth's strategic relationship with the Australian National University 
(ANU). The relationship contributes to enhancing links between the Australian Public 
Service (APS), academia and the broader community with the aim of ensuring that the 
APS is well equipped to tackle future policy challenges through improved strategic 
leadership and enhanced, evidenced-based public policy. The Commonwealth-ANU 
strategic relationship is a key initiative in response to recommendation 3.2 of the APS 
Reform Blueprint to build policy capability across the APS through ‘Building 
partnerships with academia, research institutions and the community and private 
sector’. 

Inspiring Australia Strategy 
Inspiring Australia is national strategy which provides coherent action in public 
science engagement to help realise the goals in Powering Ideas, the Australian 
Government’s Innovation Agenda for the 21st Century. Funding of $21 million over three 
years from 2011-12 to 2013-14 is increasing collaboration and coordination across 
science communication activities, unlocking more of Australia’s potential through 
activities targeting under-served communities and sectors, and recognising Australian 
science achievements. 

The following evaluation was completed in 2011-12 

Commercialisation Training Scheme (CTS) 
The objective of the CTS was to provide high quality research commercialisation 
training for the next generation of Australian researchers (doctorate and masters by 
research students) as a means of equipping them with the skills, knowledge and 
experience necessary to bring research-based ideas, inventions and innovations to 
market.  

The evaluation was finalised in December 2011.  The CTS was found to be consistent 
with the current government’s strategic long-term priorities of creating an Australia 
that is stronger, fairer and better prepared for the future, specifically helping to 
address priorities identified within Powering Ideas and the Research Workforce 
Strategy. The CTS was also found to have performed effectively against its objectives.  
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Outcome 3: A growth in skills, qualifications and productivity through funding 
to improve teaching quality, learning, and tertiary sector infrastructure, 
international promotion of Australia’s education and training sectors, and 
partnerships with industry. 

 

Outcome 3 Strategy 

To secure Australia’s long-term economic prosperity, the Government is committed to 
increasing the proportion of Australians with tertiary qualifications and increasing the 
participation of low SES students in higher education. The department will continue to 
implement a suite of Government reforms directed at improving the quality, 
transparency, efficiency and equity of tertiary education – driving greater productivity 
and participation. It will also work to boost the ability of tertiary education to respond 
to industry needs and maintain strong global connections to support a competitive 
tertiary education system. To achieve this, the department delivers a range of measures 
identified in Programs 3.1 to 3.7 below. 

Program 3.1 Higher Education Support 

The Australian higher education system makes a fundamental contribution to 
Australia’s intellectual, economic, cultural and social development. Through higher 
education we build the professional workforce, develop future leaders, drive much of 
our economic and regional success, and facilitate cultural and trade links with other 
countries. The Australian Government is the primary source of public funding for 
Australian universities under the Higher Education Support Act 2003 (HESA). To achieve 
growth in skills, qualifications and productivity the department is implementing 
funding reforms aimed at: 

 increasing the number of domestic undergraduate Commonwealth supported 
places in bachelor level courses at public universities; 

 ensuring greater participation by people from low socio-economic status 
background (SES) and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people;  

 increasing participation in maths and science; and 

 ensuring that a quality higher education system is maintained.  

Program 3.2 Higher Education Loan Program (HELP) 

The Australian Government supports access to and participation in higher education 
and vocational education and training through the provision of income-contingent 
loans to assist students with the cost of their tuition. The Higher Education Loan 
Program (HELP) is administered under HESA. More assistance through VET-FEE 
HELP is being provided to students to undertake VET diplomas and advanced 
diplomas under the COAG reforms. The department will work to encourage more 
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people to enrol in courses that address skills needs through the HECS-HELP Benefit 
program. 

Program 3.3 Tertiary Student Assistance 

An important part of the Government’s strategy to achieve its tertiary education 
targets is to encourage and assist young people to remain in education and training 
through student income support programs such as Youth Allowance (student) and 
Austudy. 

The department is responsible for policy relating to these programs which are 
delivered through the Department of Human Services.  

The Government’s response to the 2011 Review of Student Income Support Reforms by 
Professor Kwong Lee Dow AO provided additional assistance to regional and remote 
students.  

Eligibility for Youth Allowance (student) for secondary school students changed from 
1 January 2012, when Family Tax Benefit became the main form of support for families 
of dependent full-time secondary students aged 16-17 years who are living at home. 
Assistance through Youth Allowance (student) is still available to those dependent 
secondary school students approved to live away from home as well as to independent 
students. 

Program 3.4 Vocational Education and Training 

The National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development sets out the 
commitment between the Commonwealth and states and territories to work toward 
increasing the skill levels of all Australians, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people.  

In 2009 under the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial relations, the 
Council of Australian Governments (COAG) established the National Agreement for 
Skills and Workforce Development and associated National Partnerships as the key 
mechanism for delivering reforms to the national vocational, education and training 
system.  Through these intergovernmental agreements COAG aims to: 

 increase participation and productivity through improved skills development 
and workforce participation opportunities for working aged Australians;  

 meet the skills needs of industry and employers; and 

 reduce the gaps in people’s foundation skills levels to enable effective 
educational, labour market and social participation.   

COAG signed up to an ambitious set of reforms to the national training system on 
13 April 2012; agreeing to a revised National Agreement for Skills and Workforce 
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Development and a new National Partnership Agreement on Skills reform. COAG 
agreed that the Implementation Plans will be in place by 1 July 2012.  

The department has a key role in negotiation, implementation and monitoring of the 
Implementation Plans to ensure that the aims of COAG in relation to vocational 
education and training are achieved. Under the National Partnership Agreements, the 
Department of the Treasury will provide payments to the State and Territory 
Governments as advised by the Department consistent with the terms of the 
agreements. 

The National Advisory for Tertiary Education, Skills and Employment has been 
established as an independent secretariat to provide support for the COAG Standing 
Council on Tertiary Education, Skills and Employment in taking this important reform 
work forward. 

Program 3.5 VET National Support 

Vocational education and training (VET) is an important part of Australia’s post-school 
education and training system. It provides training to enable Australians to enter the 
workforce for the first time, re-enter the workforce, retrain for a new job and obtain 
new work-related skills. It delivers the vocational skills needed by growing sectors of 
the economy and provides pathways for the development of higher level skills, 
contributing directly to productivity growth. The department works to provide 
national support for VET through funding for skill development, including: 

 placing industry at the heart of the training effort; 

 supporting the development of skills for new roles and emerging industries 
and encouraging innovation and the deployment of new technologies across 
Australian industry; 

 reforming the apprenticeship system to make it modern and flexible with a 
focus on improving completion;  

 increasing workforce participation by giving disadvantaged Australians the 
skills they need to get a job; and 

 supporting individuals affected by structural change in the Australian 
economy to develop new skills. 

Program 3.6 International Education Support 

International education and training builds linkages between Australian and 
international students, institutions and governments, and plays a role in preparing 
productive global citizens.  
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The department is working to advance the sustainable development of Australia’s 
international education and training engagement, and ensure that Australia’s 
education system is recognised as world class and globally connected.  

Program 3.7 Program Support 

The department works to achieve a growth in skills, qualifications and productivity 
through: 

 providing policy advice on issues that impact the skills, qualifications, 
productivity  of Australian workforce; 

 supporting initiatives to enhance the recognition of Australia’s education 
system and to improve qualifications recognition;  

 engaging in international education and training development;  

 the effective and efficient development, implementation and delivery of 
measures and initiatives supporting the government’s higher education, 
training and skills sectors; and 

 effective working relationships with state and territory governments, industry, 
education and training providers, and other stakeholders. 
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Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 3 by program. 

Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 3 
Outcome 3*: 2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 3.1: Higher Education Support
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 14,042           1,267               
Special appropriations 3,639,960        6,868,429        
Special Accounts 322,329           227,905           

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 51,198           53,911             
Total for Program 3.1 4,027,529        7,151,512        

Program 3.2: Higher Education Loan Program
Administered expenses

Special appropriations 758,283           1,784,786        

Total for Program 3.2 758,283         1,784,786        

Program 3.3: Tertiary Student Assistance

Administered expenses
Special appropriations 1,451,079        2,925,343        

Total for Program 3.3 1,451,079        2,925,343        

Program 3.5: VET National Support
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 971,287           1,686,288        
Special Accounts 12,494             3,769               

Total for Program 3.5 983,781         1,690,057        

Program 3.6: International Support

Administered expenses
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 48,480             58,954             
Special Accounts 740                  11,300             

Total for Program 3.6 49,220           70,254             

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 3,852             150,950           
Special appropriations -                      -                      

Special Accounts -                     -                      

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year 2 -                      35,457             

Total for Program 3.7 3,852             186,407           

A growth in skills, qualifications and productivity through funding to 
improve teaching quality, learning, and tertiary sector infrastructure, 
international promotion of Australia's education and training sectors, 
and partnerships with industry.
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 3 (continued) 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Outcome 3 Totals by appropriation type
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 1,033,809        1,746,509        
Special appropriations 5,849,322        11,578,558      
Special Accounts 335,563           242,974           

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year 2 51,198             53,911             
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 3,852               150,950           
Special appropriations -                      -                      
Special Accounts -                      -                      

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 -                      35,457             

Total expenses for Outcome 3 7,273,744        13,808,359      

2011-12 2012-13

Average Staffing Level (number)3 176                  930                   
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense, Audit Fees, resources received free of charge and bad and 
doubtful debts. 

3The increase in ASL reflects the full-year impact of the staff that transferred from the Department of 
Education, Employment and Workplace Relations as a result of the Machinery of Government changes 
of December 2011. 

*Program 3.4 expenditure is provided through Treasury’s Specific Purpose Payments. For further information 
see Budget Paper No. 3 – Australia’s Federal Relations – Skills & Workforce Development. 

Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses and Resources—Outcomes 1, 2 and 3 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Grand Totals by appropriation type
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 1,806,947        2,469,188        
Special appropriations 7,940,507        13,631,711      
Special Accounts 724,542           550,949           

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 52,972             53,911             

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 389,408           529,637           
Special appropriations -                      -                      
Special Accounts 9,248               7,795               

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 35,478             61,646             

Total expenses 10,959,102      17,304,837      

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 2,527               3,256                

1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 
from independent sources (s31)’. 

2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 
Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense, Audit Fees, resources received free of charge and bad and 
doubtful debts. 

Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 3  

Program 3.1: Higher Education Support 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 3.1 are to achieve national growth in skills, qualifications 
productivity and social inclusion through: 

• improving participation in and access to higher education 

• improving equity in higher education 

• ensuring a quality higher education system is maintained.  

Program 3.1 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• making a direct contribution to the cost of educating all domestic 
Commonwealth supported students through the Commonwealth Grant Scheme 

• assisting universities, particularly in regional and outer metropolitan areas, to 
prepare for the new operational requirements of a demand driven funding 
system for undergraduate students with new quality measures in place through 
the Structural Adjustment Fund 

• providing additional funding to meet the higher cost of regional provision of  
higher education through the Regional Loading program 

• supporting students to prepare for and successfully complete  higher education 
through funding for enabling courses 

• improving participation in higher education by students from low SES 
backgrounds through the Higher Education Participation and Partnerships 
Program 

• improving access and participation in higher education by Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander students and students through the Indigenous Support Program 
and the Commonwealth Scholarships Program 

• improving access and participation in higher education by students with 
disability through the Disability Support Program 

• promoting maths and science through the Improving Pre-Service Programs for 
Maths and Science Teachers Program, the Australian Maths and Science 
Partnerships Program and additional funds to the Australian Mathematical 
Sciences Institute 

• supporting regional higher education and vocational institutions to improve 
their infrastructure, and helping to improve the quality of training and education 
regional students receive through a dedicated Education Infrastructure Fund 
Regional Priorities Round 

• promoting and supporting change in higher education institutions for the 
enhancement of learning and teaching through the Promotion of Excellence in 
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Learning and Teaching in Higher Education Program 

• supporting and rewarding excellence across universities, with reward funding to 
be provided from 2012, whereby universities will be rewarded for meeting 
participation and social inclusion targets 

• providing operational funding and specific project funding to a range of 
organisations with responsibility for elements of quality assurance or 
improvement in higher education. 
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Program expenses 3.1 Higher Education Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual Administered Expenses:

Higher Education Special
 Projects         12,766                    -                    -                    -                    - 

Indigenous Education Advisory
Council                35               323               329               335               342 

My University Website           1,241               944               944               255                    - 

Total Annual Administered
 Expenses         14,042            1,267            1,273               590               342 

Special Appropriations:
Higher Education Support Act 2003
Commonwealth Grants Scheme    2,936,364    5,983,380    6,308,386    6,660,421     6,923,179 

Commonwealth Scholarships         64,447          29,161          19,220          19,809          20,565 

Disabil ity Support Program              278            6,537            6,946            7,184            7,427 

Diversity and Structural
Adjustment         95,870          74,059                    -                    -                    - 

Higher Education Participation
 and Partnerships Program       103,174        167,748        179,595        191,343        205,132 

Indigenous Support Program         18,436         38,173         39,584         40,930          42,322 

National Institutes         97,149       198,196       205,541       212,504        219,733 

Promotion of Excellence in 
 Learning and Teaching in
 Higher Education           6,819          13,904          14,418          14,908          15,415 

Quality Initiatives           5,580         35,452         39,875         40,593          42,272 

Superannuation Program       311,843       321,819       332,180       342,943        354,125 

Total Special Appropriations    3,639,960     6,868,429     7,145,745     7,530,635     7,830,170 

Special Account Expenses: 

EIF Research Portfolio Special
 Account: Nation-building
 Funds Act 2008
 - s21 Special Account       313,404        227,905        161,615        155,735        220,000 

Services for Other Entities
 and Trust Moneys
 - s20 Special Account           8,925                    -                    -                    -                    - 

Total Special Account
 Expenses       322,329        227,905        161,615        155,735        220,000  
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Program expenses 3.1 (continued) 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward

budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Expenses not requiring 
appropriation in

the Budget year1

Higher Education Support
Act 2003
 - Superannuation Program         51,198          53,911          56,769          59,778          62,946 

Total Expenses not requiring 
appropriation in the Budget
year         51,198          53,911          56,769          59,778          62,946 

Total program 3.1 expenses 4,027,529 7,151,512 7,365,402 7,746,738 8,113,458  
1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is related to bad and doubtful debt expenses. 

 

Program 3.1 Components 

• Commonwealth Grant Scheme 

– Commonwealth Grants Scheme 

– Enabling Loading 

– JCU Dental School Outreach Funding 

– Regional Loading 

– Transition Fund 

• Commonwealth Scholarship Program 

• Disability Support Program 

• Education Investment Fund 

• Higher Education Participation and Partnerships Program 

• Higher Education Special Projects (Capital Development Pool) 

• Indigenous Education Advisory Council 

• Indigenous Support Program 

• MyUniversity Website 

• National Institutes 

• Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching in Higher Education  

• Quality Initiatives 

• Diversity and Structural Adjustment Fund 

• Superannuation program. 
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Program 3.1 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 3.1 include: 

• provision of funding to higher education providers to support higher education 
student places  

• provision of funding to support infrastructure projects at higher education 
institutions 

• provision of learning and teaching awards 

• provision of Commonwealth scholarships and support for disadvantaged 
students. 

Deliverable Metric 
2011-12 
Revised 

Estimate1 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of Commonwealth 
supported domestic 
undergraduate places 

486,500 512,100 

Number of Commonwealth 
supported domestic postgraduate 
coursework places 

32,500 35,800 

Number of Commonwealth Grant 
Scheme (CGS) medical places  

12,500 13,100 

Number of regional campuses 
under the CGS for which regional 
loading is applied2 

85 49 

Number of enabling CGS places  
8,200 8,600 

Provision of funding 
to higher education 
providers to support 
higher education 
student places  

Number of CGS places for which 
Transitional Loading is provided 

62,000 71,100 

Number of Capital Development 
Pool projects funded 

1 
Program 
ceases 1 

January 2012 

Number of projects supported by 
the Structural Adjustment Fund 

11 13 

Provision of funding 
to support 
infrastructure projects 
at higher education 
institutions 

Number of projects supported by 
the Education Investment Fund3 

46 - 

Number of learning and teaching 
citations and awards provided to 
higher education providers by the 
Promotion of Excellence in 
Learning and Teaching in Higher 
Education program  

- 189 

Provision of learning 
and teaching awards  

Number of learning and teaching 
projects supported by the 
Promotion of Excellence in 

40 66 
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Learning and Teaching in Higher 
Education program 

Provision of 
Commonwealth 
scholarships4 

Number of scholarships allocated 
to higher education providers 

19,505 12,214 

Provision of 
supplementary 
support - Indigenous 

Number of Indigenous students 
supported (Indigenous Support 
Program) 

11,000 12,000 

Provision of 
supplementary 
support – low SES 

Number of domestic 
undergraduate low SES 
enrolments (Higher Education 
Participation and Partnerships 
Program) 

106,000 113,000 

1Figures for provision of student places for 2011-12 relate to the 2011 calendar year, similarly for other 
financial years.  

2A new regional loading formula commenced on 1 January 2012. 
3The number of EIF projects supported in out years cannot be estimated in advance as it is unknown exactly 

how many will complete in a year and how many new projects will be added as a result of new funding 
rounds. 2011-12 includes projects still subject to a funding agreement within that financial year. This 
includes projects funded under Rounds 1, 2 and 3 and the Sustainability Round of the EIF as well as the 
EIF element of the Structural Adjustment Fund and the Regional Priorities Round Project in Port 
Macquarie.  It includes both Higher Education and VET sector projects. 

4Student Start Up and Relocation Scholarships have replaced Commonwealth Scholarships (CS) and will be 
administered by Centrelink, except for Indigenous Scholarships that will continue to be administered by 
universities. Those students on the old CS will be under transition arrangements until they complete their 
scholarship. 
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Program 3.1 Key Performance Indicators  

• The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the 
top-level effectiveness indicators for Program 3.1, and relate to higher education 
intuitions, staff and students assisted by the department and the impact of the 
assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased student participation in higher education 

– Total number of domestic student enrolment in higher education 

– Total number of domestic student completion in higher education 

– Proportion of 25-34 year olds with bachelor degree of higher education. 

Data 2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12 Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of domestic enrolment (full-

time equivalents) 
608,522 632,000 667,000 

Number of domestic postgraduate 

enrolments (full-time equivalents) 
101,347 106,000 114,000 

Number of undergraduate completions 
175,809 185,000 198,000 

Number of postgraduate coursework 

completions 
103,390 108,000 116,000 

Proportion of 25-34 year olds with 

bachelor degree of higher education 

(%) 

34.0% 35.0% 35.5% 
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KPI and metrics 

• Increased participation by previously under-represented groups  

– Total number of domestic undergraduate low SES enrolments  

– Interim composite measure of the number of domestic undergraduate in low 
SES 

– Total number of Indigenous student enrolments 

– Proportion of higher education students from a low SES background.  

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of domestic undergraduate low 

SES enrolments1  
102,027 106,000 113,000 

Interim composite measure of the number 

of domestic undergraduates in low SES2 
82,946 86,000 92,000 

Number of Indigenous students by selected 

higher education course level categories 
11,088 11,600 12,100 

Proportion of higher education students 

from a low SES background (%) 
16.5% 16.5% 16.7% 

KPI and metrics 

• Improved quality in higher education  

– Higher education graduates in full-time employment within four months of 
completion of degree as a proportion of those available for work  

– Graduate starting salaries as a proportion of Male Average Weekly Earnings.  

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Higher education graduates in full-time 

employment within four months of 

completion of degree as a proportion of 

those available for work (%) 

76.2% 76.6% 75.5% 

Graduate starting salaries as a proportion 

of Male Average Weekly Earnings (%) 
79.8% 79.1% 79.1% 

1Based on the number of students attending all providers in low SES postcodes. 
2Number of students attending Table A universities based on the interim composite low SES measure. 
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Program 3.2: Higher Education Loan Program 

 

Program objective 

The objective of Program 3.2 is to achieve national growth in skills, qualifications 
productivity and social inclusion through the provision of income-contingent loans 
that remove the up-front cost barriers to tertiary education and training.  

Program 3.2 components contribute to achieving this objective through income-
contingent loan schemes:  

• HECS-HELP—assists eligible Commonwealth supported higher education 
students to pay their student contributions through loans and discounts for 
upfront payment 

• FEE-HELP—provides loans to eligible fee-paying higher education students to 
pay all or part of their tuition fees 

• OS-HELP—provides loans to eligible undergraduate Commonwealth supported 
higher education students who wish to undertake some of their Australian 
course of study overseas 

• SA-HELP—provides loans to eligible higher education students to pay student 
services and amenities fees charged by their higher education provider 

• VET FEE-HELP—provides loans to eligible full fee-paying students to pay all or 
part of their tuition fees for VET accredited diploma, advanced diploma, 
graduate certificate and graduate diploma courses, and for eligible state/territory 
subsidised students in states/territories in VET accredited diploma and 
advanced diploma courses.  

This objective is also achieved by providing incentives to students to work in 
identified occupations following study through the HECS-HELP Benefit which 
reduces HELP repayments and debts for certain graduates including mathematics 
and science graduates who go on to work in eligible occupations, early childhood 
education teachers who work in a particular areas of need, nursing and teaching 
graduates who go on to work in related occupations. 
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Program expenses 3.2 Higher Education Loan Program 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Appropriations:

Higher Education Support Act 2003

Higher Education Loan Program 758,283 1,784,786 2,034,425 2,226,189 2,394,069
Total Special Appropriations 758,283 1,784,786 2,034,425 2,226,189 2,394,069
Total program 3.2 expenses 758,283 1,784,786 2,034,425 2,226,189 2,394,069  

 

Program Components 

• Higher Education Loan Program 

– HECS-HELP 

– FEE-HELP 

– OS-HELP 

– SA-HELP 

– VET FEE-HELP  
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Program 3.2 Deliverables 

Deliverables under Program 3.2 include: 

• provision of HELP loans to tertiary education students. 

Deliverable Metric 
2011-12 
Revised 

Estimate1 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of Commonwealth 
supported places for which HECS-
HELP loans paid 

398,000 472,000 

Number of places for which FEE-
HELP loans paid 

82,000 84,000 

Number of OS-HELP loans to 
assist students to undertake some 
of their course overseas 

6,000 6,700 

Number of SA-HELP loans to 
assist students to pay their 
services and amenities fees2  

0 601,000 

Provision of HELP 
loans to higher 
education students 

Equivalent full-time students 
assisted to study diploma and 
above qualifications under the 
VET FEE-HELP Scheme 

43,700 67,200 

1Figures for provision of student places for 2011-12 relate to the 2011 calendar year, similarly for other 
financial years.  

2Estimate relates to loans provided in the 2011 calendar year. No loans were provided in 2011 as the 
legislation did not pass until September 2011. 
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Program 3.2 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 3.2, and relate to higher education 
students assisted by the department and the impact of the assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Students who are able to repay their HELP debts do so  

– Trends in repayment patterns.  

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12 
Revised 

Estimate1 

2012-13 
Estimate1 

Average amount of debt ($) 
$14,402 $15,200 $16,100 

Average number of years to repay debt 
8.1 8.3 8.4 

Proportion of new debt not expected to be 

repaid (%) 
16% 17% 18% 

1Estimates based on average growth of indicator over preceding three years. 
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Program 3.3: Tertiary Student Assistance 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 3.3 are to achieve national growth in skills, qualifications 
productivity and social inclusion through: 

• providing student incomes support (Youth Allowance (student) and Austudy) to 
increase the proportion of Australians with tertiary qualifications 

• increasing access and participation by Indigenous Australian students in 
vocational education and training and higher education and accelerating their 
educational outcomes.    

Program 3.3 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• Austudy—provides support for students and Australian Apprentices who begin 
study or training when aged 25 years and over and who are in need of financial 
assistance to undertake full-time secondary or tertiary education or training, 
including approved masters by coursework programs 

• Youth Allowance (student)—provides support for full-time students and 
Australian Apprentices aged 16–24 years who are in need of financial assistance, 
to undertake secondary or tertiary education or training, including approved 
masters by coursework programs. Since 1 January 2012, Family Tax Benefit 
became the main form of support for full-time secondary school students aged 
16-17 years who live at home 

• Fares Allowance—assists with the costs of travelling between the family home 
and place of study for eligible full-time tertiary students required to live away 
from home to study. Fares Allowance is also available to ABSTUDY Living 
Allowance recipients 

• Student Start-up Scholarship—assists with the costs of study to eligible higher 
education students who receive student income support. The Student Start-up 
Scholarship is also available to eligible students assisted under veterans’ schemes 
and to ABSTUDY Living Allowance recipients 

• Relocation Scholarship—is payable to eligible higher education students 
receiving Youth Allowance who as dependent recipients have to move away 
from home for study or as independent students are disadvantaged by their 
personal circumstances and are unable to live in the family home. It is also 
available to eligible students assisted under veterans’ schemes and to ABSTUDY 
Living Allowance recipients 

• Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance)—provides funding to support 
Indigenous students to study at VET and higher education institutions through 
tutorial assistance and funding to cover travel costs associated with short courses 
away from home. 
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Linked to:  

• ABSTUDY – administered by the Department of Education, Employment and 
Workplace Relations.  

• Family Tax Benefit – administered by the Department of Families, Housing 
Community Services and Indigenous Affairs.  

 

Program expenses 3.3 Tertiary Student Assistance 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward

budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Appropriations:

Indigenous Education 
(Targeted Assistance)
 Act 2003                    -          41,343          42,094          42,866          43,547 
Social Security 
(Administration) Act 1999
Austudy        211,487        445,444        479,072        483,750        493,768 

Fares Allowance               413               788               829               867               907 
Youth Allowance     1,239,179     2,437,768     2,370,826     2,389,667     2,424,919 

Total Special Appropriations 1,451,079 2,925,343 2,892,821 2,917,150 2,963,141

Total program 3.3 expenses 1,451,079 2,925,343 2,892,821 2,917,150 2,963,141  
 

Program Components 3.3 

• Austudy 

• Fares Allowance 

• Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) 

• Youth Allowance (student). 
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Program 3.3 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 3.3, and relate to tertiary education 
students assisted by the department and the impact of the assistance over time. 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased take-up of student income support through Austudy  

– Number of students in receipt of Austudy.  

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Average number of higher education 

students in receipt of Austudy during the 

year 

26,732 27,810 27,042 

Average number of Australian Apprentices 

and students attending a TAFE college or 

private training institution in receipt of 

Austudy during the year 

8,962 9,270 14,564 

Average number of tertiary and VET 

students in receipt of Austudy during the 

year (total) 

35,694 37,080 35,349 

KPI and metrics 

• Increased take-up of student income support through Youth Allowance (student)  

– Number of students in receipt of Youth Allowance (student). 

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Average number of higher education 

students in receipt of Youth Allowance 

(student) during the year 

151,416 180,000 196,000 

Average number of Australian Apprentices 

and students attending a TAFE college or 

private training institution in receipt of 

Youth Allowance (student) during the year 

35,023 40,000 41,244 

Average number of tertiary and VET 

students in receipt of Youth Allowance 

(student) during the year (total) 

186,439 220,000 237,244 
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Average number of secondary students in 

receipt of Youth Allowance (student) during 

the year1 

120,710 80,000 41,000 

KPI and metrics 

• Provide targeted assistance for Indigenous education 

– Number of institutions in receipt of funding support. 

Data 
2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of eligible institutions in receipt of 

Away from Base for mixed-mode delivery 

funding during the year 

29 28 28 

Number of eligible institutions in receipt of 

Indigenous Tutorial Assistance Scheme – 

Tertiary Tuition funding during the year 

40 40 40 

Number of eligible institutions in receipt of 

Indigenous Tutorial Assistance Scheme for 

non-government VET funding during the 

year 

10 11 11 

Number of eligible institutions in receipt of 

Supplementary Recurrent Assistance for 

non-government VET funding during the 

year 

27 26 26 

1Eligibility for Youth Allowance (student) for secondary school students changed from 1 January 2012, when 
Family Tax Benefit (FTB) became the main form of support for families of dependent full-time secondary 
students aged 16-17 years who are living at home.  
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Program 3.4: Vocational education and training 

 

Program objective 

The objective of Program 3.4 is to negotiate, implement and monitor the National 
Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development and the associated National 
Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform, in accordance with the agreed Council of 
Australian Government (COAG) principles and the framework of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations. 

The objective of the National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development is a 
vocational education and training system that delivers a productive and highly 
skilled workforce and which enables all working age Australians to develop the 
skills and qualifications needed to participate effectively in the labour market and 
contribute to Australia’s economic future and supports the achievement of increased 
rates of workforce participation. 

Under the National Partnership Agreement for Skills Reform,  the Commonwealth 
Government will provide $1.75 billion to State and Territory governments to 
support delivery of vocational education and training in their jurisdiction that is: 

• more accessible for working age Australians and, in particular, a more equitable 
system, which provides greater opportunities for participation in education and 
training; 

• more transparent and enables better understanding of the VET activity that is 
occurring in each jurisdiction; 

• higher quality and delivers learning experiences and qualifications that are 
relevant to individuals, employers and industry; and  

• more efficient and is responsive to the needs of students, employers and 
industry. 

The Department of the Treasury will provide payments to the State and Territory 
Governments as advised by the Department consistent with the terms of the 
agreements.   

Linked to:  

• Specific Purpose Payments (SPPs) managed by the Treasury, which includes 
arrangements with states and territories and payments under National 
Partnerships. 
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Program expenses 3.4 Vocational education and training 

Expenditure for this program is provided through Treasury’s Specific Purpose 
Payments. For further information see Budget Paper No. 3 – Australia’s Federal 
Relations – Skills & Workforce Development.  

 

Program 3.4 Deliverables 

Deliverables under Program 3.4 include: 

• a National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development agreed by COAG 
from 1 July 2012 

• National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform agreed by COAG for 
implementation from 1 July 2012. 

Deliverable 2011-12 Revised Estimate 2012-13 Estimate 

A National Agreement for Skills and 
Workforce Development agreed by 
COAG from 1 July 2012 

National Agreement signed 
on 13 April 2012 

- 

National Partnership Agreement on 
Skills Reform agreed by COAG for 
implementation from 1 July 2012 

National Partnership 
Agreement signed on 13 
April 2012. 

Implementation Plans to be 
put in place to give effect by 
1 July 2012.  

Implementation Plans 
and appropriate 
payments monitored  
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Program 3.5: VET National Support 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 3.5 are to achieve national growth in skills, qualifications 
productivity and social inclusion through: 

• raising skill-levels of the Australian workforce.  

Program 3.5 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• providing support to employers to provide training for job-seekers and existing 
workers in areas of current and future need  

• encouraging workforce development to ensure government assistance is  driven 
by industry and enterprise needs 

• ensuring that qualifications delivered in the VET sector meet the emerging needs 
of industry 

• in conjunction with industry and the training sector establish Australian Skills 
Centres of Excellence to drive excellence and innovation targeted to sectors that 
will help shape Australia’s economy into future  

• providing support for apprenticeships through a range of programs such as the 
Support for Competency Based Progression, Australian Apprenticeships 
Mentoring Package, Australian Apprenticeships Incentives Program, Australian 
Apprenticeships Access Program and Training Support Post-Apprenticeship 
Program  

• providing funding for Industry Skills Councils, Skills for the Carbon Challenge, 
and the Green Skills Agreement  

• supporting workers and pre-employment participants in the Indigenous 
Employment Program, through the Workplace English Language and Literacy 
Program, to build their language, literacy and numeracy skills for employment 
and further training  

• addressing the skill shortages in the adult Language Literacy and Numeracy 
field through the Language Literacy and Numeracy Practitioner Scholarships 
program  

• providing assistance to individuals through the Language and Literacy and 
Numeracy Program 

• enabling international graduates who have an Australian trade qualification to 
demonstrate their job readiness before applying for permanent residency  
through a skilled pathway, under the Job Ready program 

• providing workers aged 50 years and over with no formal qualifications the 
opportunity to have their skills assessed and formally recognised 

• supporting the skills development of older Australians, recognising the 
significant contribution they can make to our community, and the value of 
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supporting their continued engagement in paid and unpaid employment 

• supporting transparency through ongoing development of the My Skills website 

• enhancing the Government’s partnership with industry through funding for the 
Australian Workforce and Productivity Agency, which expands the role of Skills 
Australia to improve long-term workforce planning and development and 
contribute to higher industry and workplace productivity. 
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Program expenses 3.5 VET National Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward

budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual administered expenses:

Australian Apprenticeship Access                -         32,038         32,615         33,214         33,846 

Australian Apprenticeship Centres       87,318       219,539       207,642       210,757       210,757 

Australian Apprenticeships 
 Information Management
 System - establishment                -                   -              308                   -                   - 

Australian Apprenticeships
 Workforce Skills
 Development     151,331         83,917         81,346         82,531         81,073 
Australian Government Skills 

Connect1

 - Workplace English Language 
and Literacy       20,094         28,860         31,644         34,463         35,189 

 - National Workforce

Development Fund2       65,668         64,972         83,304       132,021       140,390 

 - Investing in Experience (Skil ls, 
Recognition & Training)   -          10,000         10,000                   -                   - 

 - Australian Apprenticeships 
Mentoring       15,292         19,800         19,800         19,800                   - 

 - Accelerated Australian
 Apprenticeships       12,527         23,191         18,184           7,427                   - 

Australian Skills Centres of
 Excellence                -                60           6,000           6,000           6,000 

Critical Skills Investment Fund2       62,802         73,775         49,250                   -                   - 

Language, Literacy and Numeracy       50,478       107,879       135,642       153,270       153,744 

National Centre for Vocational
 Education Research            149              675              687              700              713 

National Foundation
 Skills Strategy         5,415           1,710           1,170           1,193           1,213 
National Training Programs      34,479        29,150        40,205        54,252         57,940 

Productive Ageing Through
 Community Education   -            1,000           1,018           1,162           1,057 

VET FEE-HELP Assistance
 Scheme - redesign                -              274              273              159              162 

Support for Australian
 Apprenticeships     455,366       977,290       947,749       927,948       916,990 
The Right Trade for You      10,368          9,360                  -                  -                   - 

Apprentice to business
 owner - business skills
 and mentoring program                -           2,798           5,296           5,294           5,292 

Total Annual administered
expenses 971,287 1,686,288 1,672,133 1,670,191 1,644,366  
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Program expenses 3.5 (continued) 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Account Expenses: 

EIF Research Portfolio Special
 Account: Nation-building Funds
 Act 2008  - s21 Special Account         8,687           3,769                   -                   -                   - 

Services for Other Entities and 
 Trust Moneys - s20 Special 
 Account         3,807                   -                   -                   -                   - 

Total Special Account Expenses       12,494           3,769                   -                   -                   - 
Total program 3.5 expenses 983,781 1,690,057 1,672,133 1,670,191 1,644,366  

1Australian Government Skills Connect was announced by the Minister for Tertiary Education and Skills in 
September 2011. 

2The Critical Skills Investment Fund is now administered as part of the National Workforce Development 
Fund. 
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Program 3.5 Components 

• Australian Apprenticeship Access 

• Australian Apprenticeship Centres 

• Australian Apprenticeships Information Management System  

• Australian Apprenticeships Workforce Skills Development 

– Clean Sustainable Skills Package – Green Skills Agreement 

– COAG Decision – Implementing the Federal Financial Relations Reporting 
Framework 

– Industry Training Strategy 

– My Skills Website 

– National Training System COPE 

– Skills for Carbon Challenge 

– Strengthened Role of Industry Skills Councils 

– Training Initiatives for Indigenous Adults in Regional and Remote 
Communities (COAG Work Skills Vouchers) 

– Workforce Innovation (formerly Strategic Intervention including National 
Skills Shortages Strategy) 

• Australian Government Skills Connect 

– Workplace English Language and Literacy 

– National Workforce Development Fund 

– Investing in Experience (Skills, Recognition & Training) 

– Australian Apprenticeships Mentoring 

– Accelerated Australian Apprenticeships 

• Australian Skills Centres of Excellence 

• Critical Skills Investment Fund 

• Education Investment Fund  

• Language, Literacy and Numeracy Program 

• National Centre for Vocational Education Research 

• National Foundation Skills Strategy 

• National Training Programs 

– Incentives for Higher Technical Skills (non-Australian Apprenticeship) 

– Job Ready Program – Trades Recognition 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

113 

– National Disability Coordination Officer 

– National Programs 

– National Standards Councils (National VET Regulator) 

• Productive Ageing Through Community Education 

• VET-FEE HELP Assistance Scheme—redesign  

• Support for Australian Apprenticeships (the Australian Apprenticeships 
Incentives Program) 

• The Right Trade for You 

• Apprentice to business owner—business skills and mentoring program. 
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Program 3.5 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 3.5 include: 

• provision of assistance through the support for Australian Apprenticeships 
program (the Australian Apprenticeships Incentives Program) 

• provision of assistance through the Australian Apprenticeships Workforce Skills 
Development program 

• provision of assistance through the Australian Apprenticeship Access Program 

• provision of assistance through the Workplace English Language and Literacy 
program 

• provision of assistance through the Language, Literacy and Numeracy program 

• provision of support through the Incentives for Higher Technical Skills program 

• provision of support through the National Disability Coordination Officer 
program 

• provision of support through the National Workforce Development Fund. 

Deliverable Metric 
2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of organisations 
contracted to provide services by 
Australian Apprenticeship Centres 

28 28 

Total number of employers 
assisted nationally 

103,313 106,540 

Provision of 
assistance through 
the support for 
Australian 
Apprenticeships 
program Total number of Australian 

Apprentices assisted nationally 
through Personal Benefits 

164,437 168,100 

Total number of job seekers 
assisted by the Productivity 
Places Program1 

70,373 - 

Total number of Existing Workers 
assisted by the Productivity 
Places Program1 

109,628 - 

Provision of 
assistance through 
the Australian 
Apprenticeships 
Workforce Skills 
Development 
program 

Number of pre-vocational places 
supported in trade areas by the 
Group Training in the Trades 
Program2 

832 - 

Provision of 
assistance through 
the Australian 
Apprenticeship 
Access Program  

Number of eligible job seekers 
assisted through the Australian 
Apprenticeship Access Program 

9,500 9,500 
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Provision of 
assistance through 
the Workplace 
English Language 
and Literacy program 

Number of individuals assisted 
through the Workplace English 
Language and Literacy program 

17,240 18,800 

Provision of 
assistance through 
the Language, 
Literacy and 
Numeracy program 

Number of individuals assisted 
through the Language, Literacy 
and Numeracy program 

21,000 23,500 

Provision of support 
through the 
Incentives for higher 
Technical Skills 
program 

Number of employment-based 
vocational diploma or above 
training places created by the 
Incentives for Higher Technical 
Skills program 

201 398 

Provision of support 
through the National 
Disability 
Coordination Officer 
program 

Number of National Disability 
Officers funded (Full-time 
Equivalent) 

31 31 

Provision of support 
through the National 
Workforce 
Development Fund 

(including Critical 
Skills Investment 
Fund) 

Number of existing and new 
workers trained 

- 33,000 

1The Productivity Places Program has an effective end date of 30 June 2012. 
2The Group Training in the Trades Program ends on 30 June 2012. 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

116 

 

Program 3.6: International Education Support 

 

Program objective 

The objective of Program 3.6 is to advance the sustainable development of 
Australia’s international education and training engagement, including through the 
development of a five year national strategy for international education and to 
ensure that Australia’s education system is recognised as world class and globally 
connected through: 

• building the capacity and reputation of Australian education and developing 
regional and global engagement through a range of international awards and 
scholarships, attracting the best and brightest 

• supporting international labour market mobility through initiatives such as the 
Professional Services Development Program and the Assessment Subsidy for 
Overseas Trained Professionals Program  

• supporting Australia’s international bilateral and multilateral education links 
with key overseas partners  

• positioning Australia as a regional and world leader in international education 
cooperation 

• developing and strengthening relationships for the benefit of the Australian 
international education and training sector through the Regional Links program. 

 

Program expenses 3.6 International Education Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual administered expenses:

Assessment Subsidy for Overseas
 Trained Professionals           366           797           792           806           821 
Education Services for Overseas

 Students Assurance Fund1        8,375                -                -                -                - 

International Education and Training      39,739      58,157      52,661      53,656      55,476 
Total Annual administered expenses      48,480      58,954      53,453      54,462      56,297 

Special Account Expenses: 
Overseas Students Tuition Fund
  (s21 Special Acount)

               -      11,300        6,300        6,300        6,300 

Services for Other Entities and Trust
 Moneys - s20 Special Account           740                -                -                -                - 

Total Special Account Expenses           740      11,300        6,300        6,300        6,300 
Total program 3.6 expenses      49,220      70,254      59,753      60,762      62,597  

1The out-year amounts for this program are included in the Overseas Students Tuition Fund Special Account 
shown in this table. 
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Program 3.6 Components 

• Assessment Subsidy for Overseas Trained Professionals 

• International Education and Training 

• Overseas Students Tuition Fund 

 

Program 3.6 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 3.6 include: 

• provision of international education support. 

Deliverable Metric 
2011-12 
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Number of projects and/or 
activities funded by Regional 
Links 

12 12 

Number of projects and/or 
activities funded by the ‘Increased 
profile of Australian International 
Education Sector’ program  

15 15 

Number of international 
scholarships, fellowships and 
exchange opportunities supported 
(Endeavour program) 

3,200 3,050 

Provision of 
international 
education support 

 

Number of eligible clients 
supported through the 
Assessment Subsidy for Overseas 
Trained Professional Program 

500 500 
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Program 3.6 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators and related metrics listed below represent the top-
level effectiveness indicators for Program 3.6, and relate to the Australian higher 
education sector assisted by the department and the impact of the assistance over 
time. 

KPI and metrics 

• International students’ satisfaction with studying and living in Australia  

– Proportion of international student survey respondents who are satisfied or 
very satisfied with studying in Australia 

– Proportion of international student survey respondents who are satisfied or 
very satisfied with living in Australia. 

Data 2010-11 
Actual 

2011-12  
Revised 
Estimate 

2012-13 
Estimate 

Proportion of international student survey 
respondents who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with studying in Australia (%) 

>80% >80% >80% 

Proportion of international student survey 
respondents who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with living in Australia (%) 

>80% >80% >80% 
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Program 3.7: Program Support 

 

Program objective 

The objectives of Program 3.7 are to achieve national growth in skills, qualifications 
productivity and social inclusion through: 

• providing high quality policy advice 

• ensuring that Australia’s education system is recognised as world class and 
globally connected. 

Program 3.7 components contribute to achieving the objectives through: 

• provision of policy advice on issues impacting higher education, vocational 
education and training, international education and training, and students 

• supporting initiatives to enhance the quality and transparency of Australia’s 
tertiary education system   

• provide advice to support Commonwealth-state ministerial and officials 
meetings, consideration of policy issues and the implementation of National 
Partnerships 

• undertaking international government-to-government and multilateral 
engagement in international education and training development 

• providing an on-the-ground, integrated approach to policy, regulation and 
international engagement in key regions and economies of the world through the 
department’s international network of Australian and locally engaged staff  

• the effective and efficient administration of the department. 
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Program expenses 3.7 Program Support 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Ordinary Annual Services
(Appropriation Bill No. 1) 3,384 148,743 147,344 146,869 148,079

Revenues from independent 
sources (s31) 468 2,207 2,207 2,207 2,207

Special Accounts -                             -               -               -                - 

Expenses not requiring appropriation in
the Budget year1 

-               35,457 35,700 35,700 35,700

Total program 1.3 expenses 3,852 186,407 185,251 184,776 185,986  
1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 

Amortisation Expense, Makegood Expense, Audit Fees, resources received free of charge and bad and 
doubtful debt expenses. 

 

Program 3.7 Deliverables  

Deliverables under Program 3.7 include: 

• efficient delivery of activities supporting government tertiary education, skills 
and international education policy interventions 

• effective and efficient administration of the department. 

Deliverable 2011-12 Estimate 2012-13 Estimate 

Efficient delivery of activities 
supporting government tertiary 
education, skills and international 
education policy interventions 

Achieved Achieved 

Effective and efficient administration 
of the department 

Achieved Achieved 
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Evaluations for Outcome 3 

The following evaluation is planned for 2012-13 

Language, Literacy and Numeracy Program (LLNP) 
The Australian and Victorian governments will undertake a joint review of language, 
literacy and numeracy training delivered in Victoria, including the Australian 
Government’s LLNP and related Victorian Government funded training. The LLNP, 
has been in operation since 2002 and seeks to improve eligible job seekers’ language, 
literacy and/or numeracy skills with the expectation that such improvements will 
enable them to participate more effectively in training or employment. The joint 
review will inform consideration of opportunities for improved efficiency and 
effectiveness of government-funded LLN training as proposed by the National 
Partnership Agreement on Skills Reforms. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

Administered funds can be provided for a specified period, for example under annual 
Appropriation Acts. Funds not used in the specified period with the agreement of the 
Finance Minister may be moved to a future year. Table 3.1.1 shows the movement of 
administered funds approved between years.  
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Table 3.1.1: Movement of Administered Funds between years1 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual Administered Appropriations

Outcome 1

Program 1.1
Industry Development and Investment

South East South Australian Innovation 
Investment Fund (1,329)       1,329        -               -               -             

Total for Program 1.1 (1,329)       1,329        -               -               -             

Program 1.2

Innovative Industry

Green Car Innovation Fund (11,000)     (11,000)     (2,000)      24,000     -             
Total Program 1.2 (11,000)     (11,000)     (2,000)      24,000     -             

Outcome 1 Annual (12,329)   (9,671)     (2,000)    24,000    -             

Special Accounts

Outcome 2

Program 2.2

Science and Research Capacity

EIF Research Portfolio Special Account: 

Nation-building Funds Act 2008  - s21
Special Account

Super Science - Clean Energy Initiative (83,034)     -                -               83,034     -             

Total Program 2.2 (83,034)   -              -             83,034    -             
Outcome 2 Special Accounts (83,034)     -                -               83,034     -             

Outcome 3
Program 3.5
VET National Support

National Workforce Development Fund -                (9,800)       3,267       3,267       3,266     

Total Program 3.5 -              (9,800)     3,267     3,267      3,266     
Outcome 3 Annual -                (9,800)       3,267       3,267       3,266     
Total Movement of

Administered Funds (95,363)   (19,471)   1,267     110,301 3,266      
1Figures displayed as a negative (-) represent a decrease in funds and a positive reflect an increase in funds. 

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

Special Accounts provide a means to set aside and record amounts used for specified 
purposes. Special Accounts can be created by a Finance Minister’s Determination 
under the FMA Act or under separate enabling legislation. Table 3.1.2 shows the 
expected additions (receipts) and reductions (payments) for each account used by 
DIISRTE. 
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Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
Opening Closing
balance Receipts Payments Adjustments balance
2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13
2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12

Outcome $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

-              4,200       4,200        -                   -              

584         1,700       2,284       -                  -              

-              -               -               -                   -              

-             13,472     13,472     -                  -              

-              451,657    451,657    -                   -              

-             417,097   417,097   -                  -              

-              231,674    231,674    -                   -              

-           322,091 322,091 -                 -              

-              11,300     11,300      -                   -              

-             -              -               -                  -              

5,953      9,500       9,500        -                   5,953       

6,653      10,000     10,700     -                  5,953      

1,724      920          1,095        -                   1,549       

1,301      1,998       1,575       -                  1,724      

Total Special Accounts 
2012-13 Budget estimate 7,677      709,251    709,426    -                   7,502       

Total Special Accounts
2011-12 estimate actual 8,538      766,358   767,219   -                  7,677      

EIF Education Portfolio Special 
Account - s21 FMA Act - Nation-
building Funds Act 2008 (A)

2       

Services for Other Entities and Trust 
Moneys - Department of Innovation, 
Industry, Science and Research 
Special Account - s20 FMA Act 1997 
Det 2011/09 (A)

1       

Services for Other Entities and Trust 
Moneys - Department of Innovation, 
Industry, Science and Research 
Special Account - s20 FMA Act 1997 
Det 2011/09 (A)

3       

Science and Technology 
Donations/Sponsorship Special 
Account - s20 FMA Act Det 2006/40 
(D)

2       

EIF Education Portfolio Special 
Account - s21 FMA Act - Nation-
building Funds Act 2008 (A)

3       

Overseas Students Tuition Fund 
- s21 FMA Act - Education 
Services for Overseas Students
Legislation Amendment (Tuition
Protection Service and Other
Measures) Bill 2011 (A)

3       

Australian Building Codes Board 
Special Account - s20 FMA Act Det 
2006/68 (D)

1       

 
(A) = Administered 
(D) = Departmental 
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3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

Table 3.1.3: Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 
Other Total Program

Bill Bil l Special Total
No. 1 No. 2 approp approp

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Department of Industry, 
Innovation, Science, Research 
and Tertiary Education

Outcome 1
Departmental  2012-13 71                     -                -  71                    - 71            1.3

Departmental 2011-12 51                    -               - 51                   - 51           

Total outcome  2012-13 71                     -                -  71                    - 71            

Total outcome 2011-12 51                    -               - 51                   - 51           

Outcome 2
Departmental  2012-13 180                    -                -  180                  - 180          2.3

Departmental 2011-12 180                  -               - 180                 - 180         

Total outcome  2012-13 180                   -                -  180                  - 180          

Total outcome 2011-12 180                  -               - 180                 - 180         

Outcome 31

Administered 2012-13 15,194              - 43,006     58,200             - 58,200     

Administered 2011-12 15,843             - 41,426    57,269            - 57,269    

Departmental  2012-13 3,396                 -                -  3,396               - 3,396       

Departmental 2011-12 3,374               -               - 3,374              - 3,374      

Total outcome  2012-13 18,590              - 43,006     61,596             - 61,596     

Total outcome 2011-12 19,217             - 41,426    60,643            - 60,643    

Total administered  2012-13 15,194               - 43,006     58,200             - 58,200     

Total administered 2011-12 15,843             - 41,426    57,269            - 57,269    

Total departmental  2012-13 3,647                 -                -  3,647               - 3,647       

Total departmental 2011-12 3,605               -               - 3,605              - 3,605      

Total AGIE 2012-13 18,841              - 43,006     61,847             - 61,847     

Total AGIE 2011-12 19,448             - 41,426    60,874            - 60,874    

Appropriations

 3.1,3.5 

 
1The 2011-12 estimates represents the estimated full-year expenditure 
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

There are no material variances between the agency resources table and the Portfolio 
Budget Statements. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

The final section 32 instrument transferring resources associated with the machinery of 
government changes from the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace 
Relations is yet to be finalised. The 2011-12 estimated actuals do not reflect the impact 
of these changes. In addition, while interim estimates have been reflected in the 
Department's Comprehensive Income Statement from 2012-13 onwards, the balance 
sheet transfers are yet to be finalised and are not reflected in the Department's balance 
sheet.  

Budgeted Departmental Income Statement 

The statement shows the estimated net cost of services for the Department. 

The budgeted net cost of services to the Department for delivering its programs in 
2012-13 is $513.5 million.   

The Department is expecting an operating loss in 2012-13 and in forward estimates due 
to the removal of depreciation funding as part of the Operation Sunlight net cash 
appropriations framework. This loss is also attributable to the impact on employee 
leave provisions of the movements in the Government bond rate. This expense has not 
been appropriated for.  

Expenses 

Total departmental expenses budgeted for in 2012-13 are $599.1 million, comprising 
$348.5 million for employees expenses, $184.0 million for suppliers, $40.9 million for 
depreciation and amortisation, $1.3 million for grants and $24.4 million for other 
expenses. 

Revenue 

Total departmental own source income, budgeted for in 2012-13 is $85.6 million, 
comprising of $53.4 million from sale of goods and rendering of services, $7.8 million 
from other independent sources and $24.4 million in resources received free of charge.  

Revenue from Government for 2012-13 is budgeted at $476.2 million.  
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Summary of movement 

The statement shows the expected movement of equity during the budget year. 

Budgeted Departmental Balance Sheet 

The statement shows the estimated end of year position for departmental assets and 
liabilities. 

Assets 

Total departmental assets budgeted for in 2012-13 are $341.8 million, comprising 
$259.7 million in non-financial assets and $82 million in financial assets. 

The $259.7 million in non-financial assets includes $121.5 million for land and 
buildings, $97.9 million for infrastructure, plant and equipment, $34.3 million for 
intangibles and $6 million in other assets. Financial assets consist of $77.6 million for 
receivables, $3.8 million for cash, and $0.7 million for accrued revenue. 

Liabilities 

Total departmental liabilities budgeted for in 2012-13 are $127.5 million, comprising 
$72.4 million in provisions and $55.1 million in payables. 

Budgeted Departmental Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement provides information on estimates of the extent and nature of cash flows 
by categorising the expected cash payments and receipts against operating, investing 
and financing activities. 

Administered Financial Statements 

Schedule of Budgeted Income and Expenses 

The schedule shows the estimated revenues and expenses for programs administered 
by the Department on behalf of the Government. 

Appropriations can only be made to Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997 
(FMA Act) agencies. While Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997 (CAC 
Act) agencies may receive funds from appropriations, this is made as a payment from 
government rather than CAC Act bodies being appropriated directly. As a result these 
funds are now reported in the portfolio department's income statement as an 
Administered expense. 

Revenue 

Total administered revenue budgeted for in 2012-13 is $1.8 billion, mainly represented 
by $1.0 billion in interest and $0.8 billion in other sources of non-taxation revenue, 
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which mainly comprises of receipts for the Education Investment Fund special 
account. 

Expenses 

Total administered expenses budgeted for in 2012-13 are $17.6 billion, comprising $9.6 
billion in grants, $3.2 billion in personal benefits, $1.1 billion in subsidies, $0.9 billion in 
payment to CAC Act bodies, $0.9 billion in finance costs, $0.5 billion payments from 
Education Investment Fund, $0.9 billion in write down of assets and $0.4 billion in 
suppliers. 

Schedule of Budgeted Assets and Liabilities 

The schedule shows the estimated end of year position for assets and liabilities 
administered by the Department on behalf of the Government. 

Assets 

Total administered assets budgeted for in 2012-13 are $26.7 billion, comprising 
$5.1 billion in investments, and $21.6 billion in receivables.  

Liabilities 

Total administered liabilities budgeted for in 2012-13 are $5.9 billion, comprising $5.6 
billion in provisions and $0.3 billion in payables. 

Schedule of Budgeted Administered Cash Flows 

The schedule shows the estimated cash receipts and payments administered by the 
Department on behalf of the Government. 

Appropriations can only be made to Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997 
(FMA Act) agencies.  While Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997 (CAC 
Act) agencies may receive funds from appropriations, this is made as a payment from 
government rather than CAC Act bodies being appropriated directly.  As a result these 
funds are now reported in the portfolio department's Administered cash flow 
statement. The amounts also include payments of the portfolio agencies Bill 2 
appropriation equity injection. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Budgeted Departmental Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing 
Net Cost of Services) (for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 248,845 348,555 351,935 358,451 359,237

Suppliers 147,022 183,935 165,352 151,956 148,857
Grants 1,422 1,255 1,160 1,160 1,160
Depreciation and amortisation 36,295 40,971 41,050 41,050 41,050

Other expenses 550 24,362 24,362 24,362 24,362
Total expenses 434,134 599,078 583,859 576,979 574,666

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue

Sale of goods and rendering of services 58,069 53,388 50,979 46,438 45,096
Other1 9,248 7,795 7,535 7,410 7,360
Total own-source revenue 67,317 61,183 58,514 53,848 52,456

Gains
Resources received free of change 550 24,362 24,362 24,362 24,362

Total gains 550 24,362 24,362 24,362 24,362
Total own-source income 67,867 85,545 82,876 78,210 76,818

Net cost of (contribution by) 
services (366,267)     (513,533)     (500,983)    (498,769)   (497,848)   

Revenue from Government 331,339      476,249      462,920     460,706     459,785     

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
the Australian Government (34,928)       (37,284)       (38,063)      (38,063)     (38,063)     

Note: Reconciliation of comprehensive income attributable to the agency 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total Comprehensive Loss

 less depreciation/amortisation
 expenses previously funded

 through revenue appropriations2
(3,300)         -                                   -                 -                 - 

plus non-appropriated expense (31,628)       (37,284)       (38,063)      (38,063)     (38,063)     

  depreciation/amortisation expenses3 

Operating result attributable to 

 the Agency       (34,928)       (37,284)      (38,063)      (38,063)       (38,063)  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Other revenue estimates includes revenue sources received by the special accounts. 
2This loss is attributable to the impact on employee leave provisions of the movements in the Government 

bond rate. This expense has not been appropriated for. 
3The variance from the depreciation and amortisation expenses is recovered via section 31 receipts. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,940        3,765        3,208        3,101        3,024        
Trade and other receivables 77,653      77,618      74,720      74,818      74,895      

Other accrued revenue  631         631         631         631          631           
Total financial assets 82,224      82,014      78,559      78,550      78,550      

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 120,592    121,515    118,050    112,453    106,884    

Infrastructure, plant and equipment 102,037  97,919    96,416    94,796    92,860      
Intangibles 22,869      34,300      47,726      53,793      58,639      
Inventories 1,826        1,826        1,826        1,826        1,826        
prepayments 4,182      4,182      4,182      4,182       4,182        

Total non-financial assets 251,506    259,742    268,200    267,050    264,391    
Total assets 333,730    341,756    346,759    345,600    342,941    

LIABILITIES
Payables

Suppliers 22,035      20,935      20,935      20,935      20,935      
Grants 93             93             93             93             93             

Other payables 34,263    34,057    33,406    33,406    33,406      
Total payable 56,391      55,085      54,434      54,434      54,434      

Provisions
Employee provisions 68,305      69,401      66,597      66,588      66,588      

Other provisions 2,983        2,983        2,983        2,983        2,983        
Total provisions 71,288      72,384      69,580      69,571      69,571      

Total liabilities 127,679    127,469    124,014    124,005    124,005    

Net assets 206,051    214,287    222,745    221,595    218,936    

EQUITY* 
Contribute equity 236,555    282,075    328,596    365,509    400,913    

Reserves 11,879    11,879    11,879    11,879    11,879      
Accumulated deficits (42,383)     (79,667)     (117,730)   (155,793)   (193,856)   
Total Equity 206,051  214,287  222,745  221,595  218,936     

*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

131 

Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Contributed Total
earnings revaluation equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period (42,383) 11,879 236,555 206,051

Adjusted opening balance (42,383) 11,879 236,555 206,051

Comprehensive income
Surplus (deficit) for the period (37,284) - - (37,284)

Total comprehensive income (37,284) - - (37,284)

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Equity Injection - Appropriation 10,762 10,762

Departmental Capital Budget (DCBs) 34,758 34,758

Sub-total transactions with owners - - 45,520 45,520

Estimated closing balance
as at 30 June 2013 (79,667) 11,879 282,075 214,287  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Goods and services 56,754       52,288       50,979       46,438       45,096       
Appropriations 343,680     476,284     465,818     460,608     459,708     

Net GST received 14,899     20,955     19,087     17,748     17,438       
Other 9,248         7,795         7,535         7,410         7,360         

Total cash received 424,581     557,322     543,419     532,204     529,602     

Cash used
Employees 241,389     347,459     354,739     358,460     359,237     
Suppliers 138,103     159,779     141,641     127,594     124,495     

Grants 1,422       1,255       1,160       1,160        1,160         
Net GST paid 14,899       20,955       19,087       17,748       17,438       
Other 550            24,362       24,362       24,362       24,362       

Total cash used 396,363   553,810   540,989   529,324   526,692     
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities 28,218       3,512         2,430         2,880         2,910         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used 
purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 60,541     49,207     49,508     39,900     38,391       
Total cash used 60,541       49,207       49,508       39,900       38,391       
Net cash used by 
investing activities (60,541)      (49,207)      (49,508)      (39,900)      (38,391)      

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received 
   Contributed equity 33,027     45,520     46,521     36,913     35,404       
Total cash received 33,027       45,520       46,521       36,913       35,404       
Net cash from financing 

activities 33,027     45,520     46,521     36,913     35,404       
Net increase ( decrease ) 
in cash held 704            (175)           (557)           (107)           (77)             
 Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the reporting period 3,236         3,940         3,765         3,208         3,101         

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
       end of the reporting period 3,940         3,765         3,208         3,101         3,024          

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Capital budget - Bil l 1 (DCB) 29,417    34,758    35,615    33,701    33,711       

Equity injections - Bill 2 3,610        10,762      10,906      3,212        1,693         
Total new capital appropriations 33,027    45,520    46,521    36,913    35,404       

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 33,027    45,520    46,521    36,913    35,404       

Total Items 33,027    45,520    46,521    36,913    35,404       

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations 5,419        10,762      10,906      3,212        1,693         

Funded by capital appropriation - DCB 36,375      34,758      35,615      33,701      33,711       
Funded internally from

departmental resources1
18,747      3,687        2,987        2,987        2,987         

TOTAL 60,541    49,207    49,508    39,900    38,391       

RECONCILIATION OF CASH

USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS
TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE

Total purchases 60,541      49,207      49,508      39,900      38,391       
Total cash used to

acquire assets 60,541    49,207    49,508    39,900    38,391        
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1This includes section 31 receipts for the department 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Buildings Other property, Computer Total

plant and software and
equipment intangibles

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 151,745  201,315          63,263              416,323       
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 

and impairment (31,153)    (99,278)             (40,394)               (170,825)      
Opening net book balance 120,592  102,037          22,869              245,498       

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - appropriation equity -               2,610                8,152                  10,762         
By purchase - appropriation ordinary

annual services 10,976     12,956              10,826                34,758         
By purchase - other 918        2,769              -                         3,687          
Total additions 11,894   18,335            18,978              49,207         

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense (10,971)  (22,453)           (7,547)               (40,971)       
Total other movements (10,971)  (22,453)           (7,547)               (40,971)       

As at 30 June 2013
Gross book value 163,639  219,650          82,241              465,530       
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

and impairment (42,124)  (121,731)         (47,941)             (211,796)      
Closing net book balance 121,515  97,919            34,300              253,734        

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES ADMINISTERED ON

BEHALF OF GOVERNMENT
Suppliers 290,343          424,141          421,427          439,348          437,448          
Subsidies 883,060          1,082,733       1,039,541       1,033,759       1,060,463       

Personal benefits 1,635,691       3,202,211       3,172,055       3,225,067       3,255,834       

Grants 6,219,091       9,640,877       10,125,162     10,628,857     11,014,340     

Payments from the 
Education
Investment Fund 709,020          535,449          301,122          238,769          220,000          

Finance costs 358,274          875,767          999,094          1,094,181       1,177,538       

Write-down and 
impairment of assets 429,489          944,581          1,069,037       1,111,718       1,210,723       
Payments to CAC
Bodies 923,311          940,370          954,254          965,364          978,326          

Total expenses
   administered

on behalf of
Government 11,448,279     17,646,129     18,081,692     18,737,063     19,354,672     

LESS:
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue
Taxation revenue

Taxes 950                 7,175            7,050            7,000            6,800              

Total taxation
revenue 950                 7,175              7,050              7,000              6,800              

Non-taxation revenue
Interest 510,634          998,701          1,118,219       1,271,018       1,443,782       

Receipts to the 
Education
Investment Fund 709,020          535,449          301,122          238,769          220,000          
Other revenue 201,413          235,103          251,809          294,879          316,453          

Total non-taxation
revenue 1,421,067       1,769,253       1,671,150       1,804,666       1,980,235       

Total own-source revenues
administered on behalf of 
Government 1,422,017       1,776,428       1,678,200       1,811,666       1,987,035       

Net Cost of

   (contribution by)
services 1,422,017       1,776,428       1,678,200       1,811,666       1,987,035       

Surplus (Deficit) (10,026,262)    (15,869,701)  (16,403,492)  (16,925,397)  (17,367,637)    
Total 
   comprehensive
   income (loss) (10,026,262)    (15,869,701)    (16,403,492)    (16,925,397)    (17,367,637)     

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Receivables 18,930,975      21,550,118     24,628,273     28,024,304     31,699,408     

Investments accounted for

using the equity method 5,017,251        5,088,429       5,022,266       4,927,432       4,834,691       

Other investments 124,145           102,798         130,321          151,706          164,973          

Total financial assets 24,072,371      26,741,345     29,780,860     33,103,442     36,699,072     

Total assets
administered on 
behalf of Government 24,072,371      26,741,345     29,780,860     33,103,442     36,699,072     

LIABILITIES

Payables
Suppliers 62,868             62,868           62,868            62,868            62,868            

Subsidies 112,537           112,537         112,537          112,537          112,537          

Personal benefits 44,160             62,536           57,787            57,575            53,398            

Grants 17,168             15,412           11,992            4,502              4,069              

Other payables 10,456             10,450           8,953              8,932              8,705              

Total payables 247,189           263,803         254,137          246,414          241,577          

Provisions
Grants 5,398,572        5,595,429       5,799,899       6,012,321       6,233,054       

Other 2,092              101                101                 101                 101                 

Total provisions 5,400,664        5,595,530       5,800,000       6,012,422       6,233,155       

Total liabilities
administered on 
behalf of Government 5,647,853        5,859,333       6,054,137       6,258,836       6,474,732       

Net assets/(liabilities) 18,424,518      20,882,012     23,726,723     26,844,606     30,224,340      
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $ '000 $'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received
Taxes 950                 7,175              7,050               7 ,000              6,800              
In terest 70,478            568,173         628,689         695,789        768,034          
Education Investment
Fund Receipts 709,020          535,449           301,122           238,769          220,000          

Net GST received 105,434          144,725           150,325           156,727          160,374          
Other 129,402          154,311           149,133           171,867          168,858          

Total cash received 1,015,284       1,409,833        1,236,319        1,270,152       1,324,066       

Cash used

Grant 5,989,927       9,444,020        9,920,693        10,416,435     10,793,607     

Subsidies paid 988,060          1,082,733        1,039,541        1,033,759       1,060,463       

Personal benefits 1,779,081       3,212,701        3,206,088        3,193,906       3,258,562       

Suppliers 293,769          424,141           421,427           439,348          437,448          

Net GST paid 105,434          144,725           150,325           156,727          160,374          
Education Investment
Fund Payments 709,020          535,449           301,122           238,769          220,000          

Payments to CAC Bodies 923,311          940,370           954,254           965,364          978,326          

Total cash used 10,788,602     15,784,139      15,993,450      16,444,308     16,908,780     

Net cash from (used by) 

operating activities (9,773,318)      (14,374,306)     (14,757,131)     (15,174,156)    (15,584,714)    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Repayments of advances
 and loans 213,606          1,458,717        1,614,147        1,787,242       1,973,569       

Total cash received 213,606          1,458,717        1,614,147        1,787,242       1,973,569       

Cash used

Advances and loans made 2,564,991       5,334,426        6,083,223        6,660,563       7,166,664       

Investments 63,315            32,258             27,523             21,385            13,267            

CAC Act body investments 1,471              3,573              16,066             75                   77                   

Education Investment Fund

Payment - CAC Act bodies 30,168            147,882           3,250               -                     -                     

Other 37,013            2,900              2,500               2 ,500              2,500              

Total cash used 2,696,958       5,521,039        6,132,562        6,684,523       7,182,508       

Net cash from (used by) 

investing activ ities (2,483,352)      (4,062,322)      (4,518,415)       (4,897,281)      (5,208,939)       
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Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash from the Official Public 

Account for:

- Appropriations 12,490,192     20,415,155     21,601,848      22,685,997     23,671,695     

- Capita l Appropria tions

- Non CAC Act bodies 98,790            49,336            44,601             38,463            30,343            

- Capita l Appropria tions

- CAC Act bodies 1,471              3,573              16,066             75                   77                   

- GST Appropriations 105,434          144,725          150,325           156,727          160,374          

- Education Investment Fund
- Payments - CAC Act
bodies 30,168            147,882          3,250               -                     -                     

Total cash received 12,726,055     20,760,671     21,816,090      22,881,262     23,862,489     

Cash to the Official Public 

Account for:

- Appropriations (363,951)         (2,179,176)      (2,390,219)       (2,653,098)      (2,908,462)      
- GST Appropriations (105,434)         (144,725)         (150,325)          (156,727)         (160,374)         

Total cash used (469,385)         (2,323,901)      (2,540,544)       (2,809,825)      (3,068,836)      

Net cash from (used by) 

financing activities 12,256,670     18,436,770     19,275,546      20,071,437     20,793,653     

Net increase (decrease) in

 cash held

Cash and cash equiva lents at
beginning of reporting
 period

-                     -                      -                      -                     -                     

Net increase or (decrease)

in cash held -                     -                      -                      -                     -                     

Cash and cash equivalents at end

of reporting period -                     -                      -                      -                     -                      
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 



DIISRTE Budget Statements 

139 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Administered Assets and

Liabilities - Bill 2 84,747 24,000 18,500 13,500 9,500
Total new capital appropriations 84,747 24,000 18,500 13,500 9,500

Provided for:
Other Items 84,747 24,000 18,500 13,500 9,500

Total Items 84,747 24,000 18,500 13,500 9,500  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
DIISRTE had no movement of administered assets; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not 
presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

Basis of accounting 

Accounting Policy  

The agency budget statements have been prepared on an accrual accounting basis, 
having regard to the Statement of Accounting Concepts, and in accordance with: 

 The Finance Minister's Orders; and 

 Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

Departmental and Administered Items 

Department assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are those items that are 
controlled by the Department that are used by the Department in producing its 
outputs and include: 

 computers, plant and equipment used in providing goods and services; 

 liabilities for employee entitlements; 

 revenue from appropriations or independent sources in payments for outputs; 
and 

 employee, supplier and depreciation expenses incurred in providing agency 
outputs. 

Administered items are those that the Department does not control and which are 
subject to prescriptive rules or conditions established by legislation or Australian 
Government Policy, in order to achieve Australian Government outcomes. 

Administered expenses include grant payments and subsidies, whilst administered 
revenue includes interest from loans and customs duties. 
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AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF ABORIGINAL AND TORRES 

STRAIT ISLANDER STUDIES 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The vision of the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies 
(AIATSIS) is to promote international understanding of the richness and diversity of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures through leadership and excellence in 
undertaking, facilitating and disseminating ethical research, through increasing access 
to all our resources, and through best-practice management of cultural heritage 
collections. 

Under the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies Act 1989, 
AIATSIS’ functions are to: 

 undertake and promote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander studies  

 publish the results of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander studies and to 
assist in the publication of the results of such studies  

 conduct research in fields relevant to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
studies and to encourage other persons or bodies to conduct such research 

 assist in training persons, particularly Aboriginal persons and Torres Strait 
Islanders, as research workers in fields relevant to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander studies  

 establish, maintain and provide appropriate access to a cultural resource 
collection consisting of materials relating to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander studies  

 encourage understanding, in the general community, of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander societies  

 carry out such other functions as are conferred on AIATSIS by the Australian 
Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies Act 1989 

 do anything else that is incidental or conducive to the performance of any of 
the preceding functions. 
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AIATSIS’ vision, as reflected in the three-year AIATSIS Corporate Plan, July 2010- July 
2013, has the following outputs: 

Research: To provide leadership and excellence in promoting, facilitating and 
undertaking high quality research in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies. 

Dissemination of research and information about Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, knowledge and cultures: To create, develop and disseminate a 
diverse range of publications and services about Australian Indigenous cultures and to 
promote and market the products, services and capacity of AIATSIS. 

Cultural collection development and management: To develop, maintain and 
preserve well-documented archives and collections and to maximise access to these, 
particularly by Indigenous peoples, in keeping with appropriate cultural and ethical 
practices. 

Corporate governance, management and accountability: To ensure that AIATSIS is 
managed efficiently and effectively in a transparent, accountable and supportive 
manner. 

AIATSIS will continue to review its priorities and expenditure to find further 
efficiencies. Current challenges facing AIATSIS at the corporate level include:  

 Maintaining its capacity and reputation for conducting and supporting 
rigorous ethical, community based research in Indigenous studies: as a 
publicly funded research institute AIATSIS is uniquely placed in the nexus 
between Indigenous communities, research sector and public policy. Its 
reputation, built over 50 years, continues to set the standard for research in 
Indigenous studies.   

 Providing a strong evidence base of research supporting policy and program 
development and evaluation in relation to the Council of Australian 
Governments’ (COAG’s) National Indigenous Reform Agreement (NIRA) and 
Close the Gap targets: this includes continuing to conduct research and 
encourage and train others, particularly Indigenous people, across the range of 
critical areas identified in the NIRA and COAG building blocks. 

 Funding has been provided to 2013-14 for further digital preservation of 
collections at risk of permanent loss in the near future. Digitisation has been 
occurring to preserve Commonwealth cultural heritage materials in the face of 
identified deadlines for the disintegration of analogue magnetic tape 
collections and some manuscript collections. The temperature and humidity 
controlled vaults housing the collections and rare books can only slow the 
deterioration process, not reverse it. In addition the equipment to play certain 
formats of archival material is rapidly becoming unavailable. Given the 
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current rate of obsolescence in analogue and other dated technologies, 
AIATSIS has a maximum period of 15 years to digitise this material. Long term 
funding beyond 2013-14 will be needed to continue digitisation at the levels 
required to digitally preserve the at-risk collections before they deteriorate and 
become inaccessible.   

 Maintaining commensurate levels of service in relation to requests for access 
and information generated from academia, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community, compliance reporting and requests from the general 
public.  

 To maintain or improve its position in the marketplace, and for commercial 
and cultural viability, AIATSIS, through Aboriginal Studies Press (ASP), needs 
to publish a strong list of at least six new titles per annum, including books by 
high-profile authors. ASP faces strong competition from other well-resourced 
mainstream publishers and needs to expend time and resources to develop the 
skill and profile of new authors and to publish Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander author and Australian Indigenous-studies subjects in  a culturally 
appropriate and sustainable fashion, preferably by becoming the publisher 
against which other publishers benchmark themselves. 

 Sales of print publications are being challenged by electronic publishing and 
AIATSIS expends resources to stay abreast of technological changes to remain 
viable. Revenue streams from e-publishing are currently small, but are 
increasing as the fast-evolving marketplace adapts to the twin challenges of 
ongoing technological change and the need to find new and sustainable 
revenue models. To harness the value of its backlist, ASP requires resources to 
clear rights and provide digital versions of publications which were produced 
using older technology. Similarly archival techniques are being modified 
through these rapidly changing technologies. Because of the relatively small 
(but important) output, AIATSIS faces challenges to stay abreast of, and at the 
forefront of, technological change in cost-appropriate ways.  

 The Library and Audio-visual Archives programs are required to maintain a 
continual and growing rate of acquisitions in order to build, develop, process 
and house the collections at a national standard. Client services have been 
reduced in 2011-12 to address funding pressures. 

 The AIATSIS research grant program has been suspended pending a review of 
the effectiveness of the funding and where the funding may be better utilised. 
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Current opportunities include: 

 The increasing demand for AIATSIS to conduct research to underpin or 
support policy development, program design and delivery and evaluation. 
Requests for assistance from government and community far outstrip our 
capacity.   

 The success of the Indigenous Visiting Research Fellowships program has 
revealed the need for targeted support to facilitate Indigenous participation in 
the research sector and the direct impact this can have on Indigenous research 
output and higher degree completion. 

 AIATSIS has successfully built its external revenue base and partnerships to 
assist it to achieve its strategic research priorities. However, its low 
appropriation base impedes its capacity to leverage research funds, including, 
in particular, Australian Research Council competitive research funding.  

 Consolidating and elevating the profile, reputation and authority of AIATSIS 
through a strategic approach to its external communications and stakeholder 
relations activities. This planning would include review of options for 
philanthropic support and for increasing opportunities to undertake 
consultancy activity. 

 Developing new tools and resources for access, repatriation and discovering of 
collections and information and developing information and educational 
material for schools and general public on Indigenous issues. Digitisation of its 
collections has generated advantages in the discoverability and reuse of its 
collection materials. 

 Researching AIATSIS archives or previously published materials to create e-
learning resources for the educational (schools) sector, and promoting their 
use in schools with the roll-out of the national curriculum. 

 A related opportunity is the capacity of AIATSIS to reach new audiences 
through such technologies as mobile phone applications and audio books. For 
some groups, the pricing of print publications or poor literacy skills may 
prohibit accessing current materials. However, AIATSIS will explore the 
potential of new technologies to overcome these barriers.  

 Consolidation of information technology activities within the organisation will 
provide efficiencies. In addition, consolidating these and other corporate 
activities (such as human resource management) with other parts of the 
portfolio may provide further savings for the organisation. 

 Increasing the level of Indigenous representation amongst AIATSIS 
membership. 
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 Through a collaborative approach between staff and management a number of 
initiatives have been identified for implementation that will provide greater 
efficiencies in work culture and practice within the Institute. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies 
Resource Statement — Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

o f prior + at Budget = estimate availab le

year amounts appropr iation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12

Source $'000 $'000 $'000 $ '000

Opening balance/Reserves at bank 12,239                   - 12,239 12,239

REVENUE FROM GOVERNMENT

Ordinary annual serv ices¹

Outcome 1: Further understanding o f 
Australian Indigenous cultures, past and 
present through undertaking and 
publishing research, and providing access 
to  print and audiovisual collections                       - 12,812 12,812 9,451

Total ordinary annual services                        - 12,812 12,812 9,451

Other services²

Non-operating 73 73 71

Total other services                       - 73 73 71

Total annual appropriations                       - 12,885 12,885 9,522
                       

Total net resourcing for agency 12,239 12,885 25,124 21,761  
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
2Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13. 
AIATSIS is not directly appropriated as it is a CAC Act body.  Appropriations are made to DIISRTE which are 

then paid to AIATSIS and are considered 'departmental' for all purposes. 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Studies are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are summarised below.  

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Expense measures 

Australian Institute of 
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Studies
- digitisation of Indigenous 
cultural
resources - continuation

  Departmental expenses -                3,200 3,200 -             -             

National Collecting
Institutions
- supplementary funding

  Departmental expenses -                142 274 399 509
Total -                3,342 3,474 399 509

Total expense measures
Departmental -                3,342 3,474 399 509

Total -                3,342 3,474 399 509  
Prepared on a Government Finance Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
AIATSIS in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Further understanding of Australian Indigenous cultures, past and 
present through undertaking and publishing research, and providing access 
to print and audiovisual collections. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

AIATSIS is an independent statutory authority created by the Australian Institute of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies Act 1989 (the Act). It is governed by its own 
Council, which has a majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander members. The 
role of AIATSIS is stated in section 5 of the Act. The strategies and challenges dealt 
with under this outcome are detailed in section 1.1 above. 

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated

actual expenses

expenses

$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: Research
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 2,138 2,898

Revenues from other independent sources 839 375

Total for Program 1.1 2,977 3,273

Program 1.2: Dissemination of Research and information about 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander histories, knowledge and 
cultures
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 716 970

Revenues from other independent sources 224 100

Total for Program 1.2 940 1,070

Program 1.3: Cultural Collection Development and Management

Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 6,597 8,944
Revenues from other independent sources 4,997 2,235

Total for Program 1.3 11,594 11,179
Outcome 1 Totals by resource type
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 9,451 12,812
Revenues from other independent sources 2,860 2,852

Expenses not requiring Appropriation in the Budget year 3,200 -

Total expenses for Outcome 1 15,511 15,664

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 124                124

Outcome 1: Further understanding of Australian Indigenous 
cultures, past and present through undertaking and publishing 
research, and providing access to print and audiovisual 
collections.

 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: Research 

 

Program objective 

To provide leadership and excellence in promoting, facilitating and undertaking 
high-quality research in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies. 

The Institute conducts research and encourages and trains others, particularly 
Indigenous people, to do the same. AIATSIS research activities contribute to 
Outcome 1 through: 

• The development of understanding of Indigenous cultures and societies in 
contemporary and historical contexts  

• The investigation of the key factors that impact on Indigenous peoples’ health 
and wellbeing 

• The analysis of the engagement of Indigenous peoples with government policies 
and programs  

• The development of greater understanding of Indigenous peoples’ relationship 
to country and contributions to the management of land and waters. 

Our strategies to achieve this objective include: 

• Establish AIATSIS as a respected and known Indigenous critical voice in policy 
by developing a stronger role for AIATSIS in the provision of a rigorous evidence 
base for policy development 

• Reflect Indigenous knowledge in our research outputs and fostering Indigenous 
researchers 

• Position AIATSIS as a hub for collaborative research in Indigenous studies 

• Maintain existing partnerships and develop new linkages with key stakeholders. 

 

Program expenses 

Program expenses are expected to increase in the next year. 
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Program 1.1 Deliverables 

The research output of AIATSIS contributes directly to knowledge and 
understanding of Indigenous peoples in Australia and worldwide. This direct 
impact is achieved through the following activities: 

• Promote, facilitate, and conduct research of excellence in areas of relevance and 
priority to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 

• Maintain highest standards for research governance and ethics 

• Provide learning and development opportunities for staff and Indigenous 
researchers 

• Participate in the competitive research grants schemes 

• Grow our research capacity through business development, including 
consultancies and grants. 

 

Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators are:   

• Maintain number of quality research papers and publications 

• Increase number of Indigenous researchers/collaborators 

• Maintain participation in key Indigenous seminars/conferences. 
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Program 1.2: Dissemination of research and information about Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander histories, knowledge and cultures 

 

Program objective 

To create, develop and disseminate a diverse range of publications and services 
about Australian Indigenous cultures and to promote and market the products, 
services and capacity of AIATSIS. 

Aboriginal Studies Press (ASP) is the publishing arm of AIATSIS. ASP aims to 
publish outstanding writing that both reflects and promotes a greater understanding 
of Australian Indigenous cultures and peoples, including Aboriginal or Australian 
Indigenous Studies. 

ASP publishes both academic and general-interest titles. Its list includes the results 
of research into Indigenous issues via the Australian Aboriginal Studies journal (co-
published with the Research program) and monographs on academic disciplines 
including anthropology, archaeology, health, history, native title and land rights, as 
well as general-interest books like auto/biography and family and community 
histories. The Aboriginal Australia map and The Little Red Yellow Book (2008) are 
amongst its most high profile and best-selling reference materials. ASP also sells 
select music on CD and film on DVD. ASP has licensed more than 70 publications in 
a mixture of .pdf, ePub and Kindle formats. It is exploring the development of 
phone apps and audiobooks. It publicises and markets its products – and the work 
of AIATSIS – to a wide range of audiences which includes attendance at festivals 
and conferences and launches around the country. 

AIATSIS produces information resources to inform research and practice, 
particularly in the area of native title, and conducts research seminars, conferences 
and symposia that promote rigorous debate and inform policy and practice. 
AIATSIS ensures that the results of research are communicated effectively through a 
range of academic publications and through its website. 

The collection areas of AIATSIS also maintain major outreach activities that provide 
information about its holdings and encourage visitation. The AIATSIS website 
includes a major catalogue facility called Mura that allows review of its holdings. 
Where available, and if access restrictions allow, digital copies of collection items are 
linked on the catalogue entry. AIATSIS also web publishes its exhibitions relating to 
holdings and publishes numerous free research publications. The AIATSIS seminar 
sessions and conferences are now live webcast and audiovisual recordings of 
sessions are archived and available on the website. In addition, AIATSIS works with 
other facilities such as the National Library of Australia’s Trove site to enhance the 
discoverability of its collections. 

The dissemination of information is also a key responsibility of the Executive and 
Communications program through the network of its membership and media 
management, events management, stakeholder relations management and general 
information and marketing activities and responsibilities. 
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Program expenses 

Program expenses are expected to increase in the next year.  

 

Program 1.2 Deliverables 

Strategies for achieving this output include: 

• Conduct public programs and events that promote discussion of Indigenous 
research questions 

• Produce a diverse range of quality publications and promote Aboriginal Studies 
Press as a leading publisher of Indigenous works 

• Publish and promote research to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and 
national and international communities 

• Be proactive in attracting new material, including encouraging and publishing 
Indigenous authors 

• Develop appropriate dissemination and marketing strategies for publications, 
tied to promotion of AIATSIS 

• Develop the skills of authors and community members through workshops, 
conference sessions, or media training  

• Develop outreach facilities to increase access to AIATSIS library and audiovisual 
collections 

• Develop the AIATSIS website to disseminate information about collections and 
research 

• Develop events to increase the profile of AIATSIS personnel, collections, research 
capacity, publications, and community links to all users, including particularly 
communities, the research sector, government and membership 

• Encourage visitation of our premises. 

 

Program 1.2 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators are: 

• Increase/maintain support for authors 

• Improve dissemination of materials 

• Improve the value of the information provided on the website 

• Increase visitation to our building 

• Increase numbers of website users 

• Increase promotional activities 

• Increase numbers at seminars, symposia and conferences. 
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Program 1.3: Collection Development and Management 

 

Program objective 

To develop, maintain and preserve well-documented archives and collections and to 
maximise access to these, particularly by Indigenous peoples, in keeping with 
appropriate cultural and ethical practices. 

The Institute’s collections include both printed and audiovisual material (film, 
video, recorded sound, photographs), artwork and artefacts. 

The Audiovisual Archives maintain, develop and document the Institute’s 
collections of photographic, audio, film, video, works of art and material culture 
objects to international standards. 

The Library collects materials relating to Australian Indigenous studies in print 
format, including published and unpublished materials. Documentation of materials 
is in accordance with standard bibliographic practices and with Indigenous cultural 
practices. 

Access to collection material is provided in a culturally appropriate manner and in 
accordance with any access conditions agreed with Indigenous peoples and 
depositors. Materials are stored in climate controlled vaults, including 
acclimatisation and quarantine rooms. 

 

Program expenses 

Program expenses are expected to remain relatively stable in the next year.  

 

Program 1.3 Deliverables 

Strategies for achieving this output include: 

• Implementing the strategic Collections Development and Management Plan 

• Digitising, preserving and conserving materials in the collections 

• Maintaining dynamic collections through ongoing acquisition of materials and 
recording and documenting of contemporary events 

• Working to achieve the best possible value-added documentation, integration 
and appropriately negotiated access to the collections through the development 
of programs of copyright, cultural rights and community consultation 

• Providing accurate, relevant and informative material to Indigenous 
communities and the general public 

• Monitoring growing demand. 
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Program 1.3 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators are:  

• Number of items archived for each of the media 

• Numbers of items acquired 

• Numbers of person hours utilised to record events 

• Numbers of audition sheets, caption sheets and find aids created 

• Numbers of finding aids created on the website 

• Numbers of items documented and catalogued for retrieval 

• Numbers of access requests received 

• Number of access requests completed 

• Value of material returned to Indigenous people 

• Number of visitors. 

 

Program 1.4: Corporate governance, management and accountability 

 

Program objective 

To ensure that AIATSIS is managed efficiently and effectively in a transparent, 
accountable and supportive manner. 

The AIATSIS Council meets four times per year and Council members participate in 
multiple formal committees of the organisation including the Research Advisory 
Committee. Relationships with the Minister are guided by formal Statement of 
Expectation and Statement of Intent documents. AIATSIS’ management also 
maintain a number of formal committees such as the Executive Board of 
Management that includes all program directors as well as special interest 
committees. Committee deliberations are guided by formal charters and AIATSIS 
policy documents are collected in the Principal’s Instructions document. 
Partnerships with other agencies are generally managed through Memoranda of 
Understanding arrangements. 

 

Program expenses 

Program expenses are expected to increase in the next year. 
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Program 1.4 Deliverables 

• Adopting best-practice governance, operational and risk management, planning 
and decision-making processes 

• Demonstrating best practice with regard to all statutory reporting, compliance, 
and operating performance measures 

• Developing a Strategic Management Plan covering key stakeholder relationships 
including the Minister, membership, committees, research partners, cultural 
institutions, the wider research community, the higher education sector and the 
Indigenous community 

• Expanding AIATSIS’ activities and funding base through sound business 
development opportunities 

• Continuously improving AIATSIS’ performance capacity with a particular focus 
on strategic human-resource management and workforce planning 

• Valuing and investing in our staff through provision of appropriate training and 
developmental opportunities 

• Contributing to training and professional development of Indigenous researchers 
and postgraduate students  

• Maximising the use of state-of-the-art technology. 

 

Program 1.4 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators for AIATSIS are: 

• Council meets four times per year 

• AIATSIS meets all compliance requirements of government including 
preparation of annual report 

• Committee meetings are held as per arrangements identified in the respective 
charters 

• All program activities are brought in on time and on budget. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

Administered funds can be provided for a specified period, for example under annual 
Appropriation Acts. Funds not used in the specified period with the agreement of the 
Finance Minister may be moved to a future year.  

Table 3.1.1: Movement of Administered Funds between years 

AIATSIS has no administered funds; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented. 

Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
AIATSIS has no special accounts; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented. 
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3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

All AIATSIS expenditure is in support of Indigenous activities. 

Table 3.1.3: Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 
Other Total Program

Bill Bill Special Total
No. 1 No. 2 approp approp

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)=(D)+(E) (G)

Australian Institute of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Studies

Outcome 1

Research
Departmental  2012-13 2,898 -          -           2,898 375        3,273 1.1

Departmental 2011-12 2,138 -        -         2,138 839      2,977

Dissemination of Research and 
information about Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
histories, knowledge and 
cultures
Departmental  2012-13 970 -          -           970 100        1,070 1.2
Departmental 2011-12 716 -          -           716 224        940

Cultural Collection 
Development and Management

Departmental  2012-13 8,944 73 -         9,017 2,235   11,252 1.3
Departmental 2011-12 6,597 71 -           6,668 4,997     11,665

Total outcome  2012-13 12,812 73 -         12,885 2,710  15,595
Total outcome 2011-12 9,451 71 -           9,522 6,060     15,582

Total departmental  2012-13 12,812 73 -         12,885 2,710  15,595
Total departmental 2011-12 9,451 71 -         9,522 6,060   15,582

Total AGIE 2012-13 12,812 73 -         12,885 2,710  15,595
Total AGIE 2011-12 9,451 71 -           9,522 6,060     15,582

Appropriations
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

AIATSIS’ resourcing statement Table 1.1 is directly comparable to the budgeted 
financial statements. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

The forward estimates from 1 July 2012 reflect the increase in funding of $3.2 million 
per annum over the next two years (2012-13 to 2013-14) from the digitisation measure. 
The supplementation measure will also increase the operating budget by $0.1 million, 
$0.3 million, $0.4 million, and $0.5 million over the ensuing four financial years.  

Consultancy and Interest revenue in 2012-13 are budgeted to be marginally less than 
2011-12, while revenue from the Sale of other goods and services is expected to remain 
stable. Consultancies are expected to decline due to economic conditions, whereas 
interest revenue reflects the reduction in investments as a result of the 2011-12 
operating loss. 

Expenses have increased primarily as a consequence of the increase in salary rates for 
2012-13. New rates have been negotiated under the AIATSIS 2012-2014 Enterprise 
Agreement. This agreement provides for, on average, a three per cent per annum 
salary increase to 30 June 2014. The Institute expects increases in cost of utilities as well 
as general increases in other goods and services. Depreciation expenses are expected to 
increase marginally over 2011-13 pending the retirement and replacement of assets. 
Offsetting the increased costs are savings generated by the introduction of the Whole 
of Government Travel Arrangements and various other minor reductions. 

Overall AIATSIS will deliver a breakeven budget, retain its solvency and liquidity, and 
be able to meet all its debts. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

EXPENSES
Employee benefits 10,002      10,791      11,144      7,608        7,813        

Suppliers 3,746        3,643        3,755        3,550        3,500        
Grants 600           -               -               600           600           
Depreciation and amortisation 1,163        1,230        1,070        1,230        1,230        
Total expenses 15,511      15,664      15,969      12,988      13,143      

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue
Sale of goods and rendering of services 700           700           700           700           700           
Interest 460           410           410           450           450           
Other 1,700        1,742        1,874        1,999        2,109        
Total own-source revenue 2,860        2,852        2,984        3,149        3,259        

Net cost of (contribution by)

services (12,651)     (12,812)     (12,985)     (9,839)       (9,884)       

Revenue from Government 9,451        12,812      12,985      9,839        9,884        

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government 22,102      -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 attributable to the Australian 
Government 9,451        12,812      12,985      9,839        9,884        

Note: Impact of Net Cash Appropriation Arrangements
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total Comprehensive Income 

(loss) less heritage and cultural
depreciation expenses previously
funded through revenue

 appropriations
(3,270) (70) (70) (70) (70)

plus heritage and cultural depreciation
expenses previously funded through 70 70 70 70 70

revenue appropriations1

Total Comprehensive Income 
(loss) - as per the Statement of
Comprehensive Income (3,200) - - - -  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1From 2009-10, the Government replaced Bill 1 revenue appropriations for the heritage and cultural 

depreciation expenses of designated Collection Institutions, with a separate capital budget (the 
Collection Development Acquisition Budget, or CDAB) provided through Bill 2 equity appropriations. For 
information regarding CDABs, please refer to Table 3.2.5 Departmental Capital Budget Statement. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 87 157 157 157
Trade and other receivables 968 1,004 1,004 1,004 1,004

Other investments 12,239 13,009 12,711 12,591 13,371
Total financial assets 13,207 14,100 13,872 13,752 14,532

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 11,166 10,966 11,204 11,004 11,004

Property, plant and equipment 15,936 15,326 15,040 15,535 14,832
Intangibles 111 161 211 211 211
Inventories 106 116 116 116 116
Other non-financial assets 83 83 83 83 83

Total non-financial assets 27,402 26,652 26,654 26,949 26,246
Assets held for sale

Total assets 40,609 40,752 40,526 40,701 40,778

LIABILITIES

Payables
Suppliers 843 853 853 853 853

Other payables 609 641 641 641 641
Total payables 1,452 1,494 1,494 1,494 1,494

Provisions
Employee provisions 1,977 2,005 2,105 2,205 2,205

Total provisions 1,977 2,005 2,105 2,205 2,205

Total liabilities 3,429 3,499 3,599 3,699 3,699

Net assets 37,180 37,253 36,927 37,002 37,079  
EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 3,390 3,463 3,537 3,612 3,689

Reserves 12,714 12,714 12,314 12,314 12,314
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) 21,076 21,076 21,076 21,076 21,076
Total parent entity interest 37,180 37,253 36,927 37,002 37,079

Total Equity 37,180 37,253 36,927 37,002 37,079  
* 'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Other Contributed Total
earnings revaluation reserves equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period 21,076 12,714               -  3,390 37,180

Adjusted opening balance 21,076 12,714               -  3,390 37,180

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Equity Injection             -                   -              - 73 73
Sub-total transactions with owners              -                    -               - 73 73

Estimated closing balance
as at 30 June 2013 21,076 12,714 - 3,463 37,253

Closing balance attributable to the 
Australian Government 21,076 12,714 - 3,463 37,253  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 9,451         12,812       12,985       9,839         9,884         

Sale of goods and rendering
 of services 700            700            700            700            700            
Interest 460            410            410            450            450            
Other 1,700         1,742         1,874         1,999         2,109         

Total cash received 12,311     15,664     15,969     12,988     13,143       

Cash used
Employees 10,002       10,791       11,144       7,608         7,813         
Suppliers 3,746         3,643         3,755         3,550         3,500         

Other 600          600           600            
Total cash used 14,348       14,434       14,899       11,758       11,913       
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities (2,037)      1,230       1,070       1,230        1,230         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash received
Investments -                1,573         1,598         1,830         1,834         

Total cash received -                1,573         1,598         1,830         1,834         

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 771            470            524            525            527            
Investments 848            -                -                -                -                

Total cash used 1,619       470          524          525           527            
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities 1,619         (1,103)        (1,074)        (1,305)        (1,307)        

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Contributed equity 71            73            74            75             77              
Total cash received 71              73              74              75              77              
Net cash from (used by)  

financing activities 71            73            74            75             77              
Net increase (decrease)
in cash held (347)           200            70              -                -                

in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period 234          (113)         87            157           157            
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period (113)           87              157            157            157             

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Equity injections - Bil l 2 71           73           74           75            77              
Total new capital appropriations 71           73           74           75            77              

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 71             73             74             75             77              

Total Items 71           73           74           75            77              

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations1
71             73             74             75             77              

Funded internally from

departmental resources2
700           397           450           450           450            

TOTAL 771         470         524         525         527            

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS
TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE

Total purchases 771         470         524         525         527            
Total cash used to

acquire assets 771         470         524         525         527             
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes both current and prior Bill 2/4/6 appropriations and special capital appropriations 
2Includes the following sources of funding: 
  - current and prior year Bill 1/3/5 appropriations (excluding amounts from the DCB). 
  - donations and contributions 
  - gifts 
  - internally developed assets 
  - proceeds from the sale of assets 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Build ings Other property, Heri tage Computer Tota l

plant and and cul tura l software and
equipment intangibles

$ '000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value  11,356         7,062                    10,133          806                 29,357           

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (190)             (1,131)                   (128)              (695)                (2,144)            

Opening net book balance 11,166       5,931                  10,005        111                27,213         

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - appropriation equi ty 1 - - 73                 - 73                  

By purchase - appropriation ordinary
annual services 2 - 332                       - 65                   397                

Total addit ions -                 332                     73               65                  470              

Other movements

Depreciation/amortisation expense (200)             (945)                     (70)                (15)                  (1,230)            
Total other movements (200)             (945)                     (70)                (15)                  (1,230)            

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 11,356       7,394                  10,206        871                29,827         

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment (390)           (2,076)                 (198)            (710)               (3,374)          

Closing net book balance 10,966         5,318                    10,008          161                 26,453            
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) (continued) 
Build ings Other property, Heri tage Computer Tota l

plant and and cul tura l software and
equipment intangibles

$ '000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Estimated operating expenditure
 in income statement for 
heritage and cultural assets

Operations and Maintenance 320
Preservation and Conservation 200
Total operating expenditure on heritage and cultural assets 520  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Appropriation equity" refers to equity injections or Administered Assets and Liabilities appropriations provided through Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13, including 

CDABs. 
2Appropriation ordinary annual services" refers to funding provided through Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13 for depreciation / amortisation expenses, DCBs or other 

operational expenses. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 
AIATSIS has no budgeted income and expenses; therefore Table 3.2.7 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
AIATSIS has no budgeted assets and liabilities; therefore Table 3.2.8 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 
AIATSIS has no budgeted administered cash flows on behalf of Government; therefore 
Table 3.2.9 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
AIATSIS has no budgeted administered cash flows on behalf of Government; therefore 
Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
AIATSIS has no administered assets movements; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not 
presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

AIATSIS’ budgeted financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards and Accounting Guidance release and having regard 
to the Statements of Accounting concepts. 

The application of the AASB 1004, issued December 2007, remains an issue for the 
Institute. This standard requires the Institute to treat the full amount of grant income 
as income for the year of receipt regardless of when expenditure is incurred. 
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AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF MARINE SCIENCE 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) is a Commonwealth statutory 
authority established by the Australian Institute of Marine Science Act 1972. Its mission is 
to generate and transfer knowledge to support the protection and sustainable use of 
the marine environment through innovative, world class research. Operating under a 
consistent legislative framework, mission and outcome, AIMS generates new 
knowledge that directly contributes to national priorities and to better understanding 
of issues facing global marine environments.  

AIMS has developed its strategic direction and research focus in consultation with 
stakeholders and collaborators and through feedback from external expert review. In 
the year ahead AIMS will continue to focus its internationally recognised capabilities 
on three broad research directions: 

 understanding of tropical marine ecosystems and processes  

 understanding the responses of tropical marine systems to global changes 

 supporting sustainable development of tropical marine-based industries.   

Research activities are prioritised, also in consultation with users, to address gaps in 
knowledge and to ensure that investment is made where AIMS can make the greatest 
difference. AIMS’ research program is strongly aligned with Australia’s National 
Research Priorities and supports Government policy through active engagement with 
a number of departments. The 2011-2015 Research Plan (www.aims.gov.au) provides 
details of the Key Research Areas, desired outcomes and performance indicators. 

 In order to build critical mass, enhance research capabilities and maximise the uptake 
of its research, AIMS actively promotes national and international research 
partnerships and collaborations. In this way, AIMS ensures that Government gets the 
best return on its investment. This includes co-investing in major multi-agency 
research partnerships. AIMS is contributing to three hubs in the Commonwealth 
funded National Environment Research Program and is a major contributor to the 
Western Australian Marine Science Institution. AIMS also has significant research 
agreements in place with Australian universities that are enhancing collaboration and 
training of future researchers. Through partnerships with universities, AIMS is 
increasingly involved in post-graduate education – 74 post-graduate students and 19 
post-doctoral fellows are currently on the books in 2011-12.  

http://www.aims.gov.au/�
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In addition to delivering its mission-driven research program, AIMS continues to 
enhance Australia’s capability to conduct world-leading marine science through 
construction of new marine research facilities funded by the Education Investment 
Fund. These facilities provide a platform to support further research collaboration and 
training, as well as contributing to Australia’s marine and climate research effort. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Australian Institute of Marine Science Resource Statement — Budget 
Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

o f prior + at Budget = estimate availab le

year amounts appropr iation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12

Source $'000 $'000 $'000 $ '000

Opening balance/Reserves at bank              41,835          41,835               77,511 

REVENUE FROM GOVERNMENT

Ordinary annual serv ices¹
Outcome 1: Growth o f knowledge to
support protection and sustainable
development of Australia's marine 
science and technology                        -           31,562 31,562          31 ,245             

Total ordinary annual services  -                       31,562          31,562          31 ,245             

Total annual appropriations -                       31,562          31,562          31 ,245             

FUNDS FROM OTHER SOURCES

In terest -                       2,159           2,159           3 ,719               

Sale of goods and services -                       14,234          14,234          13 ,553             

Other -                     618            618            436                  

Total -                       17,011          17,011          17 ,708             

Total net resourcing for agency 41,835             48,573          90,408          126 ,464            
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
AIMS is not directly appropriated as it is a CAC Act body. Appropriations are made to DIISRTE, which are 

then paid to AIMS and are considered 'departmental' for all purposes. 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to AIMS are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are 
summarised below.  

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
AIMS has no new measures since the 2011-12 Budget; therefore Table 1.2 is not 
presented. 

Measures announced between 2011-12 Budget and 2012-13 Budget but not yet 
reported in a subsequent portfolio statement 

Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue measures (if applicable)
Effiicency Dividend - One Off1 1.1 -           (95)       (95)       (98)        (99)         

Total -             (95)         (95)         (98)         (99)          
Prepared on a Government Financial Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
1Whole of Government measure announced at Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook 2011-12. 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
AIMS in achieving Government outcomes. 

 

Outcome 1: Growth of knowledge to support protection and sustainable 
development of Australia’s marine resources through innovative marine 
science and technology. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

AIMS has one outcome and its strategy is described in Section 1.1. AIMS will continue 
to work with its partners in industry and government to deliver excellent science that 
meets the needs of stakeholders. This includes continued exploration of the poorly 
understood coastal and continental shelf ecosystems of northern Australia; 
deployment of its multidisciplinary science capability to examine cumulative impacts 
of anthropogenic influences on tropical marine systems; increased effort in the analysis 
and integration of long term data, and the development of dynamic and spatially-
explicit predictive models for use in conservation and management strategies; and 
working with the Australian marine science community to lead development of a 
national strategy for marine science capability. 

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
Outcome 1: Growth of knowledge to support protection 2011-12 2012-13
and sustainable development of Australia's marine Estimated Estimated
resources through innovative marine science and technology actual expenses

technology expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: Marine Research
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 31,245 31,562

Revenues from other independent sources 17,196 13,489
Expenses not requiring Appropriation (losses) 2,410 7,364

Total for Program 1.1 50,851 52,415

Outcome 1 Totals by resource type
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 31,245 31,562
Revenues from other independent sources 17,196 13,489

Expenses not requiring Appropriation (losses) 2,410 7,364

Total expenses for Outcome 1 50,851 52,415

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 207                  198                   
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

 

Program 1.1: Marine Research 

 

Program objective 

With a national value of production across marine-based industries (e.g. oil and gas 
exploration and extraction, tourism, fishing, boatbuilding, shipping, ports) of 
$42.3 billion in 2009-101 the marine estate makes a vital contribution to employment 
and infrastructure at national and regional levels. 

AIMS’ research and services enhance Australia’s capacity to capture the benefits 
from its marine estate while ensuring protection of marine and coastal ecosystems 
through effective environmental management. This is achieved through major 
programs of research and monitoring throughout Australia’s tropical regions and 
the provision of data, information, decision support tools and innovative solutions 
to key government regulators and policy makers and to a range of industry 
stakeholders.  

AIMS engages strongly within national and international collaborative marine 
science programs to maximise leverage of investment, ensure the uptake of its 
research and promote outcomes.   

AIMS contributes strongly to the development of human capability in tropical 
marine science through active partnerships with Universities in Australia and 
internationally.   

AIMS maintains a world-class infrastructure base (vessels, aquaria, ocean monitoring 
equipment and laboratories) to support its innovative research. Increasingly this is being 
deployed into national programs as the scale of issues being addressed demands 
collaborations among agencies.  

With the support of the Commonwealth as part of the Super Science Initiative, 
additional tropical marine facilities are currently being constructed. The facilities will 
provide new capacity to investigate the cumulative impacts of global change, 
resource use and industrial development on the marine environment, and to 
develop solutions that will be effective in our tropical environment. 

                                                           

1 The AIMS Index of Marine Industry, 2011 
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Program expenses 

AIMS uses funding from Government together with revenue from external sources 
to deliver its research program (AIMS Research Plan 2011-15). Forward estimates 
assume that AIMS will be able to retain its current level of capacity and success in 
establishing future externally funded projects. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Departmental item 48,441 45,051 46,798 44,427 44,860
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1 2,410 7,364 9,916 7,759 5,035

Total program expenses 50,851 52,415 56,714 52,186 49,895  
1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expense, Amortisation 

Expense and Operating losses. 

 

 Program 1.1 Deliverables 

AIMS focuses its research effort on Australia’s tropical marine and coastal systems. 
The research portfolio ranges from fundamental to highly applied science, and is 
designed to support Commonwealth and State Government departments in their 
development of policy and effective management of risks to the marine environment. 
Increasingly, AIMS research is also focussed towards the needs of the private sector 
(e.g. the oil and gas, marine tourism and shipping/ports industries).  

Through innovative marine science and technology and strong linkages with users 
AIMS will: 

• Describe patterns of biodiversity from multiple “voyages of discovery” to some of 
the most remote and inadequately surveyed areas of the continental shelf off 
North West Australia in conjunction with Geoscience Australia 

• Sustain fundamental observations of tropical Australian marine systems as a 
partner in Australia’s Integrated Marine Observing System (IMOS)  

• Analyse long term data sets from the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) and develop 
predictive models of the cumulative impacts of global change, resource extraction 
and industrial development on the GBR 

• Maintain AIMS monitoring of water quality of the GBR Lagoon and support for 
the decadal Queensland-Commonwealth “Reef Plan”, while increasing effort on 
the development of tools for examining the potential impacts of urban and 
industrial development along the coast, with particular emphasis on marine 
dredging activities 

• Provide new insight to the possible future states of coral reefs in a high CO2 world 
through the study of natural CO2 vents (cold gas seeps) in Papua New Guinea 

• Collaborate in the development of implementation plans for operational and 
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scientific monitoring programs to be instigated in the event of any future incidents 
similar to the Montara oil spill 

• During 2012-13 AIMS will also deliver new infrastructure capacity provided by 
the Tropical Marine Research Facilities Project (funded under the Education 
Investment Fund).  

 

Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators 
• Maintain or increase scientific output and quality as measured by the level of 

peer reviewed scientific journal papers.  

• Maintain or increase the transfer of new knowledge to users of marine science as 
measured by the trend in all publication numbers (includes reports, etc) and 
stakeholder take-up of AIMS’ practices, instruments and processes. 

• Maintain or improve science excellence and impact as assessed through a rolling 
program of expert peer review.  

• Collaborate to increase critical mass and research capabilities as measured by the 
number of collaborative research papers. 

• Partner to increase research capacity and impact as measured by the number of 
joint ventures and strategic alliances. 

• Enhance Australia’s future capabilities in marine science by AIMS’ contribution 
to training as measured by the number of jointly supervised postgraduate 
students. 

• Enhance Australia’s marine research capabilities by effective delivery of new 
infrastructure capacity provided by the Tropical Marine Research Facilities 
Project (funded under the Education Investment Fund).  
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

AIMS does not have administered funds; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented. 

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

AIMS has no special accounts; therefore Table 3.1.2 is not presented. 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

AIMS has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented. 
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

AIMS’ resourcing statement Table 1.1 is directly comparable to the budgeted financial 
statements.  

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

The estimates in the budgeted financial statements are subject to the outcomes of the 
review by the Department of Finance and Deregulation (DoFD) of the depreciation 
funding arrangements for CAC agencies, which may impact the level of capital 
funding through depreciation and other revenue.  

Budgeted Comprehensive Income Statement  

This statement shows the estimated net cost of services for AIMS. 

Sale of goods and rendering of services represents co-investments and fees for service 
contracts entered into with external organisations. These are only estimates and may 
vary with changes to economic conditions.  

The financial statements reflect operating losses approved by the Finance Minister. 

AIMS is budgeting for operating losses in 2012-13 of $7.4 million, $9.9 million in 
2013-14, $7.8 million in 2014-15 and $5.0 million in 2015-16. The operating losses are a 
result of depreciation expenses being higher than depreciation appropriation and 
budgeted operating expenses exceeding operating revenue. The increase in 
depreciation is due to an increase in asset value associated with two major national 
science infrastructure programs: 

1. equipment deployed for the Integrated Marine Observing System; and 

2. construction of new research facilities, funded from the Education Investment 
Fund and AIMS internal funds.  

Budgeted operating expenses include expenses associated with the spending of 
externally funded revenue. These expenses are not always in the year revenue is 
earned and also includes re-investment of cash reserves from these external sources to 
maintain research capacity.  

AIMS is in the process of valuing all assets, which may result in an increase in the 
value of assets and the associated depreciation expenses and this has not been 
provided for in the estimates.  
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Budgeted Balance Sheet 

This statement shows the estimated end of year financial position of AIMS’ balance 
sheet. The estimates for buildings, plant and equipment are subject to the outcomes of 
asset valuation that will be finalised by June 2012 and the DoFD review of the funding 
of CAC agency depreciation costs, which may impact the level of capital funding 
through depreciation and other revenue. 

AIMS’ intangibles comprise purchased and internally developed software for internal 
use. These assets are carried at cost. 

Other payables include contract revenue received in advance. 

The non-interest bearing loan item represents a loan from the Queensland Department 
of State Development for the construction of the Centre for Marine Microbiology and 
Genetics.  

The liability for employees’ entitlement is based on projected staff levels and includes 
provision for annual leave, long service leave and anticipated salary increases. 

Budgeted statement of cash flow  

The statement provides information on the extent and nature of cash flows by 
categorising them into expected cash flows against operating, investing and financing.   

The movements in cash flow are consistent with movements in the income statement 
and the balance sheet. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 20,719      20,586      21,471      19,991      18,005      

Suppliers 21,038      20,865      22,453      19,381      18,833      
Depreciation and amortisation 9,094        10,964      12,790      12,814      13,057      
Total expenses 50,851      52,415      56,714      52,186      49,895      

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue
 Sale of goods and rendering of services 13,120      11,350      13,567      11,000      11,000      

Interest 3,846        1,989        1,095        836           820           
Other 230           150           150           150           150           
Total own-source revenue 17,196      13,489      14,812      11,986      11,970      

 Net cost of (contribution by) 

services 33,655      38,926      41,902      40,200      37,925      

Revenue from Government 31,245      31,562      31,986      32,441      32,890      

Deficit attributable to
  the Australian Government (2,410)       (7,364)       (9,916)       (7,759)       (5,035)       

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 attributable to the Australian 

 Government (2,410)     (7,364)       (9,916)     (7,759)      (5,035)        
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
*These estimates are subject to the DoFD review of the funding of CAC agency depreciation costs, which 

may impact the level of capital funding through depreciation and other revenue.  
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet (as at 30 June) 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 41,835 20,193 15,297 12,997 13,416
Trade and other receivables 5,396 4,215 4,698 3,795 3,791
Other Investments 41,435 19,793 14,897 12,597 13,016

Total financial assets 47,231 24,408 19,995 16,792 17,207

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 75,473 82,682 80,115 77,559 75,459
Property, plant and equipment 52,255 64,109 62,119 59,983 56,636
Intangibles 2,277 2,476 2,075 1,680 1,635
Inventories 191 188 188 188 189
Other non-financial assets 23

Total non-financial assets 130,219 149,455 144,497 139,410 133,919

Total assets 177,450 173,863 164,492 156,202 151,126

LIABILITIES
Payables

Suppliers 1,484 1,438 1,549 1,336 1,298
Other payables 1,885 1,589 1,899 1,540 1,540

Total payables 3,369 3,027 3,448 2,876 2,838

Non-Interest bearing liabilities
Loans 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

Total non-interest bearing liabilities 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

Provisions
Employee provisions 7,417 7,536 7,660 7,701 7,698

Total provisions 7,417 7,536 7,660 7,701 7,698

Total liabilities 12,286 12,063 12,608 12,077 12,036

Net assets 165,164 161,800 151,884 144,125 139,090
EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 82,607 86,607 86,607 86,607 86,607
Reserves 54,686 54,686 54,686 54,686 54,686
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) 27,871 20,507 10,591 2,832 (2,203)       
Total parent entity interest 165,164 161,800 151,884 144,125 139,090
Total Equity 165,164 161,800 151,884 144,125 139,090  
* 'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13)  

Retained Asset Contributed Total
earnings revaluation equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period 27,871   54,686        82,607        165,164    

Comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income

Surplus (deficit) for the period (7,364)   -                 -                 (7,364)       

Total comprehensive income (7,364)   -                 -                 (7,364)       
of which:

Attributable to the Australian Government (7,364)   -                 -                 (7,364)       

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Other -          -               4,000        4,000        

Sub-total transactions with owners -            -                 4,000          4,000        

Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government 20,507   54,686        86,607        161,800     
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 31,245       31,562       31,986     32,441      32,890    
Sale of goods and rendering of services 13,569       11,742       13,157     11,474      11,000    

Interest 3,903       2,482      1,333     905          824         
Other 230            150           150          150           150         

Total cash received 48,947       45,936       46,626     44,970      44,864    

Cash used
Employees 21,217     20,468     21,348   19,949     18,009    
Suppliers 21,233       20,884       22,342     19,594      18,871    

Total cash used 42,450       41,352       43,690     39,543      36,880    

Net cash from (used by)
operating activities 6,497         4,584        2,936       5,427        7,984      

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment 286            468           219          286           468         

Total cash received 286            468           219          286           468         

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 42,459       30,694       8,051       8,013        8,033      
Total cash used 42,459       30,694       8,051       8,013        8,033      

Net cash from (used by)  
investing activities (42,173)      (30,226)     (7,832)      (7,727)       (7,565)     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash received
Other -                4,000        -               -                -              

Total cash received -                4,000        -               -                -              

Net cash from (used by)  

financing activities -              4,000      -             -               -              
Net increase (decrease)

in cash held (35,676)      (21,642)     (4,896)      (2,300)       419         

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the reporting period 77,511       41,835       20,193     15,297      12,997    

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the reporting period 41,835     20,193     15,297   12,997     13,416     
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL

ASSETS
Funded internally from

departmental resources 1 42,459      30,694      8,051        8,013        8,033         
TOTAL 42,459    30,694    8,051      8,013       8,033         

RECONCILIATION OF CASH

USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS
TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE

Total purchases 42,459      30,694      8,051        8,013        8,033         
acquire assets

acquire assets 42,459    30,694    8,051      8,013       8,033          
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1This includes an EIF equity payment from DIISRTE to AIMS and internally funded resources 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Build ings Other property, Computer Total

plant and software and
equipment intangibles

$ '000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 77,752         71,667                  2,797              152,216         

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (2 ,279)          (19,412)                 (520)                (22,211)          

Opening net book balance 75,473       52,255                2,277            130,005         

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - other 10,208         19,932                  554                 30,694           
Total addit ions 10,208       19,932                554               30,694          

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense (2,999)          (7,610)                   (355)                (10,964)          

Disposals (468)                   (468)              
Total other movements (2,999)          (8,078)                   (355)                (11,432)          

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 87,960       91,131                3,351            182,442         
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

and impairment (5 ,278)        (27,022)               (875)              (33,175)          
Closing net book balance 82,682         64,109                  2,476              149,267          

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 
AIMS has no budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.27 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
AIMS has no budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.8 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 
AIMS has no budgeted administered cash flows on behalf of Government; therefore 
Table 3.29 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
AIMS has no administered capital budget; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 

 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
AIMS has no administered asset movements; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

AIMS’ budgeted financial statements have been prepared on an accrual accounting 
basis, having regards to the Statement of Accounting Concepts, and in accordance 
with: 

 the Finance Ministers Orders; and 

 the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 
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AUSTRALIAN NUCLEAR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 

ORGANISATION 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO) is Australia's 
national nuclear research and development organisation, and the centre of Australian 
nuclear expertise. ANSTO’s unique expertise is applied to radiopharmaceutical 
production and research, climate change research, water resource management, air 
pollution monitoring, materials engineering, neutron scattering and a range of other 
scientific disciplines, and enables ANSTO to provide expert advice to Government. 

ANSTO operates nuclear science and technology based facilities, including Australia’s 
only nuclear research reactor, OPAL, for the benefit of industry and the Australian 
research community, including higher education. ANSTO supplies approximately 
10,000 doses of radioisotopes each week for use in nuclear medicine procedures across 
Australia. ANSTO-produced radioisotopes are used for the diagnosis of heart disease 
and a range of cancers and skeletal injuries, as well as the treatment of cancer and 
other diseases. 

ANSTO employs over 1,000 staff with a range of niche expertise. The ANSTO site is 
located in the suburb of Lucas Heights in Sydney, with 25 per cent of ANSTO’s 
workforce sourced from the local Illawarra region. 

The 2010-15 Corporate Plan sets out the strategic priority areas for the organisation, 
which are to:  
 

 Deliver world-class research and innovation in nuclear science and technology 

 Expand ANSTO’s reach and contribution, exploiting landmark technologies 

 Serve the nuclear needs of the Government, industry, community and the 
people of Australia 

 Drive organisational renewal. 

These priority areas will drive ANSTO’s work, enabling the agency to: 
 

 Realise the benefits of nuclear science and technology for the benefit of all 
Australians 
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 Build on its landmark infrastructure, continuing to increase its national 
capabilities 

 Support Australia’s international competitiveness through research, 
innovation and collaboration 

 Develop the next generation of nuclear scientists and engineers 

 Enhance Australia’s international standing, particularly in the areas of non-
proliferation, nuclear safety, security and specialised applications of key 
technologies. 

The major activities that will underpin the strategy are: 
 The continued effective and reliable operation of the OPAL reactor and other 

facilities for the benefit of a range of scientific disciplines, industry and the 
Australian health sector 

 Growth in the user base for the neutron beam instruments  

 The routine operation of the nuclear medicine production facilities, ensuring 
reliable domestic supply of nuclear medicines that one in two Australians will 
need in their lifetime 

 The demonstration of impact of ANSTO’s research in areas of national 
importance: climate and water, materials engineering and 
radiopharmaceutical research 

 The continuation of the Nuclear Science Facilities capital expansion in the 
areas of neutron beam and accelerator science. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation Resource 
Statement — Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12

Source $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Opening balance/Reserves at bank 66,169 66,169 118,546

REVENUE FROM GOVERNMENT
Ordinary annual services¹

Outcome:  Improved knowledge, 
innovative capacity and healthcare through 
nuclear-based facilities, research training, 
products, services and advice to 
Government, industry, the education 
sector and the Australian population. - 159,222 159,222 157,676

Total ordinary annual services  - 159,222 159,222 157,676

Other services²

Non-operating - 3,500 3,500 1,400

Total other services - 3,500 3,500 1,400

Total annual appropriations - 162,722 162,722 159,076

Total funds from Government - 162,722 162,722 159,076

FUNDS FROM OTHER SOURCES

Interest - 5,200 5,200 6,500

Sale of goods and services - 70,300 70,300 65,400

Total - 75,500 75,500 71,900

Total net resourcing for agency 66,169 238,222 304,391 349,522  
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13 
2Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13 
Reader notes: All figures are GST exclusive. 
ANSTO is not directly appropriated as it is a CAC Act body. Appropriations are made to DIISRTE, which are 

then paid to ANSTO are considered ‘departmental’ for all purposes. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to ANSTO are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are 
summarised below.  

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
ANSTO has no new measures since the 2011-12 Budget; therefore Table 1.2 is not 
presented. 

Measures announced between 2011-12 Budget and 2012-13 Budget but not yet 
reported in a subsequent portfolio statement 

Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Expense measures
Efficiency Dividend - One-off1

Departmental expenses 1.1 - (600)       (592)       (593)       (596)       
Total - (600)       (592)       (593)       (596)       

Total expense measures
Departmental - (600)       (592)       (593)       (596)       

Total - (600)       (592)       (593)       (596)        
Prepared on a Government Financial Statistics (fiscal) basis.  
1Whole of Government measure announced at MYEFO 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
ANSTO in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Improved knowledge, innovative capacity and healthcare through 
nuclear-based facilities, research, training, products, services and advice to 
Government, industry, the education sector and the Australian population. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

ANSTO will continue to focus its expertise, collaboration, facilities and activities in 
areas that contribute to Australia’s priorities, especially in support of its nuclear, 
research, industry, environmental, health, security and international relations policies.  
ANSTO will be the source of significant new discoveries, producing new knowledge, 
capabilities and technologies. While some of these will be applied to enhance its own 
capabilities as the operator of national facilities, others will be developed through 
targeted research to benefit Australian research, industry and government. Avenues 
for commercialisation will continue to be explored.   

ANSTO will operate world-class nuclear facilities at a level of efficiency that ensures a 
high return on investment for the Australian Government, its customers and its 
collaborative partners.   

Through effective communication and engagement with industry, research and wider 
communities, ANSTO will increase support for its work and encourage the further 
adoption and impact of applications of nuclear science and technology.  

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: Science and Technology Solutions

Program 1.1.1: Management of core nuclear facilities
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 87,658 88,519
Revenues from other independent sources 10,920 11,462

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year1 41,981 22,181

Total for Program 1.1.1 140,559 122,162

Program 1.1.2: Scientific and technical services for Government

Revenue from Government
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 19,721 19,914

Revenues from other independent sources 2,534 2,659
Total for Program 1.1.2 22,255 22,573

Program 1.1.3: Research into, and application of, nuclear science 
and technology
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 41,203 41,607
Revenues from other independent sources 6,977 7,323

Total for Program 1.1.3 48,180 48,930
Program 1.1.4: Provision of education and training
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 4,146 4,186

Revenues from other independent sources 364 382
Total for Program 1.1.4 4,510 4,568

Program 1.1.5: Radiopharmaceutical sales
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 3,045 3,075
Revenues from other independent sources 35,485 37,244

Total for Program 1.1.5 38,530 40,319
Program 1.1.6: Exploitation of assets
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 1,903 1,921
Revenues from other independent sources 16,320 17,130

Total for Program 1.1.6 18,223 19,051

Outcome 1 Totals by resource type
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 157,676 159,222
Revenues from other independent sources 72,600 76,200

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year1 41,981 22,181

Total expenses for Outcome 1 272,257 257,603
2011-12 2012-13

Average Staffing Level (number) 1,107               1,150

Outcome 1: Improved knowledge, innovative capacity and healthcare 
through nuclear-based facilities, research, training, products, services 
and advice to Government, industry, the education sector and the 
Australian population. 

 
1Reflects approved operating losses due to accounting treatment of decommissioning costs. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: Science and Technology Solutions 

 

Program objective 

• Integration of the use of nuclear technologies available at ANSTO for the purpose 
of studying fundamental and applied biological systems   

• ANSTO will achieve global recognition for its capabilities in the application of 
isotopic science to climate challenges of importance to Australia 

• The Bragg Institute will achieve scientific quality and productivity comparable 
with similar neutron and synchrotron radiation facilities in the world and 
become a regional centre of excellence in neutron beam science 

• ANSTO will enhance its national security and non-proliferation research through 
collaborative programs 

• Increased recognition of ANSTO as a key and trusted source of advice to 
government 

• All international and regional collaborations will relate directly and clearly to an 
issue of national importance and will deliver demonstrable value through 
effective leverage of ANSTO’s facilities and skills 

• ANSTO will achieve a standard of operational efficiency and effectiveness for its 
facilities that is comparable with the best organisations worldwide 

• ANSTO will successfully commercialise and transfer technologies and expertise, 
particularly in materials-related areas (e.g. radioactive waste immobilisation) 

• ANSTO will achieve reliable operation of its nuclear medicine production facility 
to ensure timely delivery of its products 

• Community understanding of the benefits and necessity of nuclear science and 
technology will improve 

• ANSTO will become a partner of choice for leading businesses and research 
organisations 

• ANSTO will deliver the Education Investment Fund (EIF) funded Nuclear 
Science Facilities expansion.  
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Program expenses 

The only new measure for this budget was a reduction in Government 
appropriation of approximately $0.6 million per annum, as a result of a one-off 
efficiency dividend decision in the MYEFO. 

Base funding in forward years again remains flat, placing pressure on maintaining 
outputs whilst managing costs and maximising external revenues. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 230,276 235,422 237,050 241,245 242,487
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1 41,981 22,181 24,024 23,087 22,752
Total program expenses 272,257 257,603 261,074 264,332 265,239  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation reflects approved operating losses due to the accounting treatment of 
decommissioning costs. 

 

Program 1.1 Deliverables   

• High availability of national facilities for users 

• Increased reliability and supply of radiopharmaceuticals for the Australian 
community and the world  

• Completion of a 1,000-year rainfall record for South Western Australia 

• Completion of requested reports on national security issues 

• Scale-up engineering for Synroc technology in the US 

• Progress Nuclear Science Facilities project in line with agreed milestones 
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Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators   

Facility availability 

• OPAL 

– Total availability (time operating as a percentage of total time) 

– Planned availability (actual operating time as a percentage of planned 
operating time) 

• Accelerators 

– Average percentage of time accelerators operated per available time 

• Neutron Beam Instruments 

– Average percentage of time neutron beam instruments operated per actual 
days of beamline availability 

Nuclear Science Facilities Project 

• Percentage expenditure of total EIF funding 

Radiopharmaceutical doses 

• Potential patient doses supplied to hospitals and radiopharmacies 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Key Performance Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
Indicators budget target year 1 year 2 year 3

Facil ity availability
 - total availability of OPAL: % of
   days at power 80% 70% 82% 82% 77%

 - planned availability of OPAL:
   % of actual operating to 
   scheduled operating time >95% >95% >95% >95% >95%

 - Accelerators: average % of days
   operated per available time 72% 75% 75% 75% 75%

 - Neutron Beam instruments:
   average % of days operated 

   per days beamline availability 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%

Nuclear Science Facil ities project
  - percentage of capital funding
   completed1 58% 95% 100% - -

Radiopharmaceutical doses

   - Potential Doses 2,007,258 2,087,548 2,171,050 2,218,299 2,383,711  
1EIF Super Science expenditure has been revised and agreed with the Department as per the Deed of 

Variation. 
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Departmental Program Elements  

ANSTO has six departmental program elements under program 1.1. The objectives 
and deliverables for these are summarised in the following tables. 

Program Element 1.1.1: Management of core nuclear facilities 

 

Program objectives 1.1.1  

• Two rounds of calls for beam-time applications will be completed during the 
year and peer-reviewed by external reviewers to select successful applicants. 
ANSTO will assist users from universities, research institutes and industry, 
across a wide range of applications. Education in neutron scattering will be 
fostered for the Australian and the international community.  

• ANSTO will maintain baseline reliability and availability for the OPAL reactor. 

• ANSTO’s accelerators will continue to have high availability for users, and 
ANSTO will develop stronger relationships with other accelerator groups in 
Australia. 

• ANSTO will continue the safe and secure management of radioactive wastes 
generated from operation of its nuclear facilities and production of radioisotopes. 

 

Program 1.1.1 Deliverables 

• Publication of a schedule for OPAL operation enabling the allocation of times to 
neutron beam users. 

• Safe, secure and reliable operation of facilities. 

• Increased number of users of facilities. 

• Prioritised completion of scheduled milestones for the Nuclear Science Facilities 
project. 

• Continue planning for temporary storage of Australia’s overseas intermediate 
level waste. 

• Complete funded decommissioning activities as scheduled. 
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Program Element 1.1.2: Scientific and technical services for Government 

 
Program Element 1.1.2: Objective 

• ANSTO provides expert nuclear and radiological advice to government and 
represents Australia internationally. 

 

Program 1.1.2 Deliverables 

• Continued representation of Australian interests and contribution to the global 
non-proliferation agenda at the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) and 
regional nuclear forums. 

• Effective responses to requests for advice or assistance on forensics and border 
protection from government agencies such as the Australian Federal Police, 
Customs and the Department of Infrastructure and Transport. 

• Provision of timely advice to government departments on nuclear proliferation in 
other countries and nuclear policies, including the status of regional programs. 

• Provision of health physics support to nuclear-powered warships’ visits to 
Australian ports. 
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Program 1.1.3 Research into, and application of, nuclear science and 
technology 

 

Program 1.1.3 Objectives 

• Continued progress in radiopharmaceuticals development, utilising isotopes 
produced by OPAL and cyclotron-produced compounds. ANSTO will also 
disseminate new technologies and their applications to further the training of 
various professionals. 

• Isotope and nuclear techniques are used in geo-chronological dating in order to 
understand paleoclimate variability and past environmental conditions. One task 
is improving the ability of governments to ensure that groundwater resources are 
managed sustainably. The second task is providing knowledge and data valuable 
to contaminant ecological risk assessments of water-resource management 
bodies.   

• The neutron-beam instrumentation operated by the Bragg Institute will offer 
experiments on its initial suite of seven instruments. A strong scientific program 
will be maintained, especially with respect to food science and energy-related 
materials. An increase in the number of postdoctoral and PhD students will 
support the growth of neutron scattering in the longer term and assist in not only 
expanding it into new areas of research, but also stimulating industrial 
applications and thereby further advancing Australian research. 

 

Program 1.1.3 Deliverables 

• Commercially-funded clinical trials of ANSTO-developed compounds to be 
initiated. 

• ANSTO’s nuclear techniques and facilities, combined with its long-standing 
experience in its applications, will be made available to the Australian research 
community and key partners such as the IAEA, enabling Australia to continue to 
contribute to the global nuclear non-proliferation movement. 

• The Murray-Darling water system and waterways in Western Australia will be 
the focus of ANSTO’s water sustainability research. The results of these studies 
will contribute to setting risk levels for pollutants in estuaries and catchment 
areas, and therefore provide an effective handle on environmental risk-based 
management decisions. Its studies into older climate and environmental systems, 
using cosmogenic isotopes such as radiocarbon and uranium series, will continue 
with field studies in Australia and Antarctica. Other field studies will trace food 
chains in inland water systems such as the Macquarie Marshes and the Murray 
catchment in northern Victoria. 
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Program 1.1.4 Provision of education and training 

 

Program 1.1.4 Objectives 

To promote understanding of nuclear science and technology, ANSTO: 

• Provides high quality information to meet its stakeholders' needs, making it 
readily available electronically and in other forms 

• Provides educational resources and engages with the education community 

• Participates in community events 

• Encourages the broader community to experience its facilities and technologies 

• Works with the Australian Institute of Nuclear Science and Engineering (AINSE) 
in training graduate and post-graduate students; and 

• Strengthens its profile as an innovative organisation, by publicising its 
achievements and its regional and international roles as well as fostering 
networks and collaboration with the nuclear medicine and other scientific 
communities. 

 

Program 1.1.4 Deliverables 

• At least 10,000 high school students and others participate in scientific tours of 
ANSTO  

• At least 400,000 ‘hits’ on ANSTO’s website 

• Honorary and adjunct appointments 

• University students supervised – year-in-industry, vacation, PhD, AINSE grant 
recipients 

• Postdoctoral positions 

• ANSTO Graduate Development Program 

• Provision of training and education (e.g. radiochemistry, nuclear engineering, 
radioactive waste management). 
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Program 1.1.5 Radiopharmaceutical sales 

 

Program 1.1.5 Objectives 

• ANSTO is aiming to achieve a consistently reliable supply of 
radiopharmaceuticals, including Molybdenum-99, to domestic and international 
markets for the diagnosis and treatment of heart disease and a range of cancers. 
ANSTO currently supplies nuclear medicines to Australian and New Zealand 
hospitals and market suppliers each year. The reliable operation of the OPAL 
research reactor and the associated Molybdenum-99 processing facility is crucial 
in ensuring this consistent supply.  

 

Program 1.1.5 Deliverables 

• The yield of Molybdenum-99 will progressively increase. 

• ANSTO will ensure continuity of supply to the domestic market including 
through future opportunities in the nuclear medicine supply chain. 

• ANSTO will review possible extension of its product range in response to 
requests from the medical community, taking into account commercial viability 
and operating conditions. 

 

Program 1.1.6 Exploitation of assets 

 

Program 1.1.6 Objectives 

• ANSTO aims to move new products and/or services through proof of concept 
and commercialisation, with the intention of deriving benefit to Australian 
industries and a financial return on government investment. 

• In the medium to long term ANSTO will continue to develop the full utilisation 
of OPAL, rebalance its research portfolio to ensure consistency with Government 
policy, make provision for increased numbers of researchers to use the 
instruments at OPAL, and continue its processes to ensure it is a reliable supplier 
of radiopharmaceuticals. 

 

Program 1.1.6 Deliverables 

• ANSTO to license new technology to commercial partner(s). 

• Development and commercialisation of up to two new research projects. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

ANSTO is a CAC Act body and has no administered funds; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not 
presented.  

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

ANSTO has no Special Accounts; therefore Table 3.1.2 is not presented. 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

ANSTO has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented.  
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

There are no material variances between the agency resources table and the budgeted 
financial statements.  

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

Comprehensive Income Statement 

The statement shows the estimated net cost of services for the organisation. 

Total revenue in 2012-13 is estimated to be $235.4 million (including appropriation) 
compared to $230.3 million in the 2011-12 Budget. Funding for decommissioning 
required in 2012-13 is $4.2 million compared with $2.5 million in 2011-12, an increase 
of $1.7 million. 

ANSTO has projected losses of $42.0 million for 2011-12 and $22.2 million for 2012-13.  
These losses are due to the recognition of future decommissioning costs, required 
under Australian Accounting Standards. As the shortfall on decommissioning funding 
continues, ANSTO will continue to report losses in forward years. The Minister for 
Finance and Deregulation has approved these reported operating losses out to 2015-16. 

Total expenses in 2012-13 are estimated at $257.6 million compared to $250.7 million in 
the 2011-12 Budget.  Excluding the decommissioning costs, estimated expenditure in 
2012-13 is $235.4 million compared to $230.3 million in 2011-12 Budget. This increase in 
expenditure is offset by expected increases in external revenues. 

A one-off efficiency dividend increase announced in MYEFO reduced funding by 
approximately $0.6 million per annum, commencing in 2012-13. 

Budgeted Departmental Balance Sheet 

This statement shows the estimated end of year financial position of ANSTO. It helps 
decision-makers track the management of ANSTO’s assets and liabilities. 

In relation to the primary assets for 2012-13, total financial assets are projected to 
reduce by $98.4 million due largely to accelerated purchases of non-financial assets 
(property, plant and equipment) associated with the EIF funded Super Science 
initiative and prior year equity injections.   

Budgeted Departmental Statement of Cash Flows 

Budgeted cash flows, as reflected in the statement of cash flows, provides information 
on the extent and nature of cash flows by categorising them into expected cash flows 
from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. 



ANSTO Budget Statements 

217 

3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 106,092    105,679    107,241    110,800    102,217    

Suppliers 66,407      68,314      65,869      66,353      70,120      
Grants 1,880        2,000        2,000        2,000        -               
Depreciation and amortisation 81,540      64,762      68,891      68,528      76,568      

Finance costs 16,218      16,848      17,073      16,651      16,334      
Losses from asset sales 120           - - - -
Total expenses 272,257    257,603    261,074    264,332    265,239    

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue
Sale of goods and rendering of services 65,400      70,300      75,200      80,000      78,424      

Interest 6,500        5,200        4,100        3,300        2,900        
Other - - - - 2,536        
Total own-source revenue 71,900      75,500      79,300      83,300      83,860      

Gains
Sale of assets 200           200           200           200           -
Other 500           500           500           500           500           
Total gains 700           700           700           700           500           
Total own-source income 72,600      76,200      80,000      84,000      84,360      

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 199,657    181,403    181,074    180,332    180,879    

Revenue from Government 157,676    159,222    157,050    157,245    158,127    

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government (41,981)     (22,181)     (24,024)     (23,087)     (22,752)      

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,255 2,255 2,255 2,255 3,000
Trade and other receivables 11,727 11,727 11,727 11,727 11,727
Other investments 63,914 51,223 51,621 48,083 55,467

Total financial assets 77,896 65,205 65,603 62,065 70,194

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 248,694 260,723 260,870 252,070 239,430
Property, plant and equipment 697,822 723,615 738,284 744,486 743,079
Intangibles 13,123 8,959 5,586 5,086 4,586
Inventories 15,629 15,629 15,629 15,629 15,629
Other non-financial assets 7,255 7,255 7,255 7,255 7,255

Total non-financial assets 982,523 1,016,181 1,027,624 1,024,526 1,009,979
Total assets 1,060,419 1,081,386 1,093,227 1,086,591 1,080,173

LIABILITIES
Payables

Suppliers 11,383 11,383 11,383 11,383 11,383
Other payables 2,120 2,120 2,120 2,120 2,120

Total payables 13,503 13,503 13,503 13,503 13,503

Interest bearing liabilities
Other interest bearing liabilities 2,694 2,694 2,694 2,694 2,694

Total interest bearing liabilities 2,694 2,694 2,694 2,694 2,694

Provisions
Employee provisions 33,364 33,364 33,364 33,364 33,364
Other provisions 307,759 324,407 341,280 357,731 374,065

Total provisions 341,123 357,771 374,644 391,095 407,429

Total liabilities 357,320 373,968 390,841 407,292 423,626

Net assets 703,099 707,418 702,386 679,299 656,547  
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 489,356 515,856 534,848 534,848 534,848
Reserves 350,809 350,809 350,809 350,809 350,809
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) (137,066)    (159,247)    (183,271)    (206,358)    (229,110)    
Total parent entity interest 703,099 707,418 702,386 679,299 656,547

Total Equity 703,099 707,418 702,386 679,299 656,547  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Other Contributed Total
earnings revaluation reserves equity/ equity

reserve capital
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2012
Balance carried forward from

previous period (137,066) 339,108 11,701 489,356 703,099
Adjusted opening balance (137,066) 339,108 11,701 489,356 703,099

Comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income

Surplus (deficit) for the period (22,181) - - - (22,181)

Total comprehensive income (22,181) - - - (22,181)

of which:

Attributable to the Australian 
Government

(22,181) - - - (22,181)

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Equity Injection - - - 23,000 23,000

Equity Injection - Appropriation - - - 3,500 3,500
Sub-total transactions with owners - - - 26,500 26,500

Estimated closing balance

as at 30 June 2013 (159,247) 339,108 11,701 515,856 707,418
Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government (159,247) 339,108 11,701 515,856 707,418  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 157,676 159,222 157,050 157,245 158,127
Sale of goods and rendering
 of services

65,430 70,300 75,200 80,000 78,424

Interest 6,500 5,200 4,100 3,300 2,900
Other 9,170 10,000 - - 2,536

Total cash received 238,776 244,722 236,350 240,545 241,987

Cash used
Employees 105,092 107,379 108,241 108,800 105,975
Suppliers 66,197 66,614 65,769 66,353 70,120

Borrowing costs 210 200 200 200 -
Other 2,286 3,129 2,000 2,000 -

Total cash used 173,785 177,322 176,210 177,353 176,095

Net cash from (used by)
operating activities 64,991 67,400 60,140 63,192 65,892

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment 200 200 200 200 -

Investments 150,000 150,000 150,000 130,000 130,000
Total cash received 150,200 150,200 150,200 130,200 130,000

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 116,861 98,607 80,521 65,430 62,021
Investments 106,753 145,493 148,811 127,962 133,626

Total cash used 223,614 244,100 229,332 193,392 195,647
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (73,414) (93,900) (79,132) (63,192) (65,647)  
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Contributed equity - - - - -
Other1 7,400 26,500 18,992 500

Total cash received 7,400 26,500 18,992 - 500

Net cash from (used by)  
financing activities 7,400 26,500 18,992 - 500

Net increase (decrease)

in cash held (1,023) - - - 745
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period 3,278 2,255 2,255 2,255 2,255

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period 2,255 2,255 2,255 2,255 3,000  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Receipts for 2011-12 to 2013-14 are EIF equity payments from DIISRTE to ANSTO. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Equity injections - Bil l 2 1,400      3,500      15,992    - -
Total new capital appropriations 1,400      3,500      15,992    - -

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 1,400        3,500        15,992      - -

Total Items 1,400      3,500      15,992    - -

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations1
18,583      14,238      12,084      4,343        -

Funded internally from
departmental resources2

98,278      84,369      68,437      61,087      62,021       
TOTAL 116,861  98,607    80,521    65,430    62,021       

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS

TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE
Total purchases 116,861  98,607    80,521    65,430    62,021       
Total cash used to

acquire assets 116,861    98,607      80,521      65,430      62,021        
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes both current and prior Bill 2/4/6. 
2Includes funding sources from current and prior year Bill 1/3/5 appropriations. 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Land Buildings Other property, Computer Tota l

plant and software and
equipment intangibles

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value  78,700        219,189       956,339                40,044          1,294,272       

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment -                  (49,195)        (258,517)               (26,921)         (334,633)         

Opening net book balance 78,700      169,994     697,822              13,123          959,639        
CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS

Estimated expenditure on
new or replacement assets

By purchase - appropriation equi ty1 -                390            13,848                -                  14,238          
By purchase - appropriation ordinary

annual services2 -                24,643       35,784                -                  60,427          
By purchase - other -                -                 23,942                -                  23,942          
Total addit ions -                25,033       73,574                -                  98,607          

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense -                  (13,004)        (47,594)                 (4,164)           (64,762)           

Other -                -                 (187)                   -                  (187)              
Total other movements -                  (13,004)        (47,781)                 (4,164)           (64,949)           

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 78,700      244,222     1,029,726           40,044          1,392,692     
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

and impairment -                (62,199)      (306,111)             (31,085)         (399,395)       
Closing net book balance 78,700        182,023       723,615                8,959            993,297           

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Appropriation equity" refers to equity injections provided through Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13. 
2Appropriation ordinary annual services" refers to funding provided through Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13 for depreciation/amortisation expenses. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 
ANSTO has no budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.7 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
ANSTO has no budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.8 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 
ANSTO has no budgeted administered cash flows; therefore Table 3.2.9 is not 
presented. 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
ANSTO has no administered capital budget; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
ANSTO has no administered assets movements; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

Basis of Accounting 

ANSTO’s budget statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards and Accounting Guidance releases and having regard to the 
Statement of Accounting Concepts. 

Net Operating Losses 

These reflect accounting treatment of current and future decommissioning costs. They 
are largely accrual entries, and cash outgoings are currently minimal. 

Revenues from Government 

These have increased by $1.5 million.  

Employee Expenses 

Employee expenses are based on projected staffing levels and include anticipated 
salary increases.  

Finance Cost Expense 

This item reflects primarily the interest related to the unwinding of the discount on the 
provision for decommissioning.   

Inventories 

This item includes consumable stores and reactor fuel elements. 

Other Provisions 

These include a provision for the decommissioning of infrastructure, plant and 
equipment at ANSTO’s Lucas Heights and Camperdown sites. 
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AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH COUNCIL 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Australian Research Council (ARC) is a statutory authority within the portfolio. Its 
mission is to deliver policy and programs that advance Australian research and 
innovation globally and benefit the community. The mission aligns with the ARC 
outcome statement, which is: ‘Growth of knowledge and innovation through 
managing research funding schemes, measuring research excellence and providing 
advice.’ 

The ARC provides advice to the Government on research matters and manages the 
National Competitive Grants Program (NCGP), a significant component of Australia’s 
investment in research and development. Through the NCGP, the ARC supports the 
highest-quality fundamental and applied research and research training. Funding is 
allocated through national competition across all research disciplines.  

The ARC is responsible for the Excellence in Research for Australia (ERA) evaluations. 
ERA assesses research quality within Australia’s higher education research institutions 
using a combination of indicators and expert review by committees comprising 
experienced, internationally recognised experts. ERA details areas within disciplines at 
Australian institutions that are internationally competitive and points to emerging 
research areas where there are opportunities for development and further investment. 
The effective and comprehensive evaluation of Australia’s research effort is crucial to 
the understanding of the national research landscape. 

In 2012-13 priorities for the ARC will include: 

 implementation of the Industrial Transformation Research Program, under 
which the Government will invest $236 million in quality research and 
development partnerships to transform Australian industries. The Program 
comprises Industrial Transformation Research Hubs and Industrial 
Transformation Training Centres 

 establishment of a multi-disciplinary Science of Learning Centre under the 
Special Research Initiatives scheme 

 finalisation of the selection round for an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Researchers’ Network under the Special Research Initiatives scheme 

 administration of funding for the Special Research Initiative in Synchrotron 
Science 
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 implementation of the ERA 2012 evaluations. This includes collection of data 
from institutions, evaluations of research disciplines conducted by Research 
Evaluation Committees, and publication of the outcomes of the evaluations in 
the ERA 2012 National Report. 

 In working to achieve its outcome, the ARC will continue to engage with its 
stakeholders across the national and international innovation systems. The ARC will 
also participate in the whole-of-government policy dialogue in areas relevant to 
research matters such as higher education, health and science communication. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Australian Research Council Resource Statement — Budget 
Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

o f prior  + at Budget = estimate availab le

year amounts appropr iation

 available  in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$'000 $'000 $'000 $ '000

Ordinary annual services1

Departmental appropriat ion

Prior year departmental appropriation2                 6,270                    -            6,270                        - 

Departmental appropriation3                        -         20,328         20,328 20 ,482             

s31 Relevant agency receipts4                        -                   -                  - 200                  

Total                 6,270          20,328          26,598               20,682 

Administered expenses

Outcome 1                        -           5,625 5,625        2 ,539               

Total                         -            5,625 5,625          2 ,539               

Total ordinary annual services  A 6,270                        25,953 32,223      23 ,221             

Departmental non-operating

Equity in jections                        -           1,589           1,589 1 ,480               

Total                         -            1,589 1,589          1 ,480               

Total other services B                        -           1,589 1,589        1 ,480               

Total available annual 

appropriations 6,270                27,542         33,812        24 ,701             

Special appropriations

by amount

Special Appropriation  ARC Act 2001                         -        879,107 879,107      808 ,837           

Total special appropriations C                         -        879,107 879,107      808 ,837           

Total appropriations excluding

 Special Accounts 6,270                906,649       912,919      833 ,538            
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Table 1.1: Australian Research Council Resource Statement — Budget 
Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 (continued) 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual
of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Special Accounts

Opening balance5 -                                       - -                 3,933               
Appropriation receipts

 - other agencies6 -                     2,360         2,360        7,276               

Non-appropriation receipts to

 Special Accounts -                                         -                  -                        - 

Total Special Account D -                       2,360           2,360          11,209             

Total resourcing

A+B+C+D 6,270                909,009       915,279      844,747           

Less appropriations drawn from

annual or special appropriations above

and credited to special accounts

and/or CAC Act bodies through 

annual appropriations                        - -                -                 -                       

Total net resourcing for ARC 6,270                909,009       915,279      844,747            
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
2Estimated adjusted balance carried forward from previous year. 
3Includes an amount of $1.270m in 2012-13 for the Departmental Capital Budget (refer to table 3.2.5 for further 

details). For accounting purposes this amount has been designated as 'contributions by owners'. 
4s31 Relevant Agency receipts — estimate. 
5Estimated opening balance for special accounts (less ‘Special Public Money’ held in accounts like Other Trust 

Monies accounts (OTM), Services for other Government and Non-agency Bodies accounts (SOG), or Services 
for Other Entities and Trust Moneys Special accounts (SOETM)). For further information on special accounts 
see Table 3.1.2. 

6Appropriation receipts from other agencies credited to ARC’s special accounts. 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 

1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

ARC does not have any Budget measures; therefore Table 1.2 is not presented.  
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
Australian Research Council in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Growth of knowledge and innovation through managing research 
funding schemes, measuring research excellence and providing advice. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

The ARC will pursue the results outlined in its outcome (that is, growth of knowledge 
and innovation in Australia) by: 

 supporting excellence in research and building Australia’s research capacity 
through administration of the National Competitive Grants Program 

 measuring research excellence at Australia’s universities by conducting 
research evaluation 

 advancing Australian research and innovation by providing strategic policy 
advice to Government. 

The National Competitive Grants Program (NCGP) supports two main streams of 
research funding—Discovery and Linkage (Program 1.1 and Program 1.2). Through 
Discovery, funding is available for investigator-initiated research projects and research 
fellowships and awards. Through Linkage, funding is available for research projects, 
infrastructure, hubs and centres that foster collaboration among researchers and 
research teams in Australia and internationally, and with industry and other end-users 
of research. Together, the ARC funding schemes: support the generation of new ideas, 
knowledge and breakthrough discoveries; provide incentives for researchers to partner 
with business, the public sector and community organisations; build the scale and 
focus of research in areas of national priority; and support the development of highly 
trained personnel. 



ARC Budget Statements 

236 

The ARC evaluates the excellence of research undertaken in Australia’s universities. 
Excellence in Research for Australia (ERA) evaluates research quality using a 
combination of indicators and expert review by committees comprising experienced, 
internationally recognised experts. It identifies excellence across the full spectrum of 
research activities and compares Australia’s university research effort against 
international benchmarks. 

The ARC, jointly with the National Health and Medical Research Council, provides 
ongoing support for the Australian Research Integrity Committee (ARIC). The primary 
role of ARIC is to provide assurance that institutions take—and are seen to take—
appropriate action on serious allegations of research misconduct.   

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
Outcome 1: Growth of knowledge and innovation through 2011-12 2012-13
managing research funding schemes, measuring Estimated Estimated
research excellence and providing advice actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 1.1:  Discovery - Research and Research Training 
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 40 40
Special appropriations 502,229 541,901

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 7,589 7,464

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 465 605

Total for Program 1.1 510,323         550,011           

Program 1.2:  Linkage - Cross Sector 
Research Partnerships

Administered expenses
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 534 1,067

Special appropriations 314,399 334,846
Special Accounts 11,209 2,360

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 9,507 9,384

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 465 605

Total for Program 1.2 336,113           348,263           

Program 1.3: Excellence in Research for Australia
Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 1,965 4,518
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 3,586 3,479
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 465 605

Total for Program 1.3 6,016             8,603               

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type
Administered Expenses

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 2,539 5,625
Special appropriations 816,628 876,747
Special Accounts 11,209 2,360

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 20,682 20,328

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 1,394 1,816

Total expenses for Outcome 1 852,452 906,876

2011-12 2012-13

Average Staffing Level (number) 107                115                   
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expense, Amortisation 

Expense and Audit Fees. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: Discovery—research and research training 

 

Program 1.1 objective 

The Discovery Program is aimed at supporting the growth of Australia’s research 
capacity, resulting in the development of new technologies, products and ideas, the 
creation of jobs, economic growth and an enhanced quality of life in Australia. 
Specifically the Discovery Program aims to: 

• support excellent fundamental research by individuals and teams 

• support the development of young researchers as well as the ongoing careers of 
individuals and research teams 

• provide incentives for researchers to build the scale of their work, develop teams 
and support the growth of networks of research (both nationally and 
internationally) 

• enhance the scale and focus of research in areas of national priority. 

The main schemes of the Discovery Program are: Australian Laureate Fellowships, 
Discovery Early Career Researcher Award, Discovery Indigenous, Discovery 
Projects, Future Fellowships and Super Science Fellowships. 
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Program 1.1 expenses 

Administered and departmental funding for the Discovery Program decreases over 
the forward estimates due to the winding-down of the Future Fellowships scheme 
and the Super Science Fellowships scheme. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual administered expenses:

Administered item             40 40              -                  -                - 

Special Appropriations:
Australian Research Council Act 2001    502,229 541,901 555,805 523,498 576,712

Program support        7,589 7,464 7,100 7,196 7,368
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1           465 605 744 632 629
Total program expenses 510,323 550,011 563,650 531,326 584,709  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 
Amortisation Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 1.1 Deliverables 

Through the Discovery Program, the ARC delivers funding to individual research 
projects and research fellowships and awards through a range of schemes (listed 
under the program objectives above). Funding is awarded to administering 
organisations on the basis of competitive peer review processes involving Australian 
and international experts. The ARC also provides policy advice on matters related to 
research and research training, and undertakes communications activities to 
promote the benefits of research.  

Specific deliverables include: 

• number of grants awarded 

• number of researchers supported (investigators named in funding proposals) 

• amounts awarded to administering organisations 

• policy advice relating to research and research training. 

 

Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators 

Indicator Measure 201213 Target 
Outputs and outcomes 
arising from ARC-
supported research are of 
a high quality and 
produce national benefits 

Evidence of impact of ARC-
funded research  

Significantly exceeds 
benchmarks where 
available 

 Outcomes arising from ARC-
funded research that provide 
social, economic, 
environmental and cultural 
benefits  

Evidence of benefits 
arising from the outcomes 
of ARC-funded research 

External recognition of the 
achievements of ARC-
funded researchers 

Prestigious prizes and 
awards are received by 
ARC-funded researchers 
 

ARC funding supports 
excellent researchers 

Evidence of impact of 
research conducted by ARC-
funded fellows 

Exceeds benchmarks 
where available 

ARC-supported research 
contributes significantly 
to high quality research 
training 

Proportion of ARC-funded 
researchers who are early 
career researchers (within 
five years of completion of 
their PhD)  

Greater than 20 per cent 
 

ARC fellowship and 
award schemes attract 
high quality international 

Proportion of fellowships 
and awards that are 
awarded to international 

Greater than 28 per cent 
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applicants   applicants (foreign nationals 
and returning Australians)  
Proportion of funded 
proposals that address the 
National Research Priorities 
(NRPs)  

Greater than 85 per cent 
 

ARC-funded research 
makes a significant 
contribution to research 
activity and capability in 
areas of national need 

Evidence of impact in NRP 
areas  

Examples of impact in  
NRP areas 

There is a high level of 
collaboration between 
ARC-funded researchers 
and those within other 
components of the 
national and international 
innovation systems 

Proportion of projects 
involving international 
collaboration  

Greater than 65 per cent 
 

Policy advice enhances 
Australia’s capacity and 
excellence in research 

Evidence of impact of  
policy advice  

Policy advice improves 
the ARC’s capacity to 
contribute to the national 
innovation agenda 
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Program 1.2: Linkage—cross-sector research partnerships 

 

Program 1.2 objective 

The Linkage Program is aimed at improving research outcomes and the use of 
research outcomes by strengthening links within Australia’s innovation system and 
with innovation systems internationally. Specifically, the Linkage Program aims to: 

• encourage partnerships between university-based researchers and end-user 
organisations (including business, industry, government and community 
organisations, and publicly funded research agencies) 

• foster opportunities for postgraduate and postdoctoral researchers to pursue 
research in collaboration with organisations outside the higher education sector 

• support investment in strategic national research infrastructure and access to 
major international research facilities 

• encourage the growth of clusters of research and research training as platforms 
for innovation through funding research centres and hubs. 

By supporting the development of partnerships, the Linkage Program encourages 
the exchange and transfer of skills, knowledge and ideas as a basis for securing 
commercial and other benefits of research. 

The main schemes of the Linkage Program are: ARC Centres of Excellence; Co-
funded Centres of Excellence; Industrial Transformation Research Hubs; Industrial 
Transformation Training Centres; Linkage Infrastructure, Equipment and Facilities; 
Linkage Projects and Special Research Initiatives. 
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Program 1.2 expenses 

Increased funding for the Linkage Program over the forward estimates is a result of 
additional funding for new research grants in bionic vision science and technology, 
and an extension of funding for the National Information and Communication 
Technology Centre of Excellence. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward

budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual administered expenses:

Administered item 534 1,067 1067 1067 1067

Special Appropriations:
Australian Research Council Act 2001    314,399 334,846    329,333    330,239    271,720 

Special Accounts Expenses:

ARC Research Endowment Account      11,209 2,360        3,933        2,704           627 
Program support        9,507 9,384 8,950 9,041 9,259
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1           465 605 744 632 629
Total program expenses 336,113 348,263 344,027 343,683 283,302  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 
Amortisation Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 1.2 Deliverables 

Through the Linkage Program, the ARC delivers funding for individual research 
projects and research hubs and centres via a range of schemes (listed under Program 
objective above). Funding is awarded to administering organisations on the basis of 
competitive peer review processes involving Australian and international experts. 
The ARC also provides policy advice on matters related to research collaboration 
and undertakes communications activities to promote the benefits of collaborative 
research.  

Specific deliverables include: 

• number of grants awarded 

• number of researchers supported (investigators named in funding proposals) 

• amounts awarded to administering organisations 

• policy advice relating to encouraging research collaboration. 



ARC Budget Statements 

245 

 

Program 1.2 Key Performance Indicators   

• There is a high level of collaboration between ARC-supported researchers and 
those within other components of the national and international innovation 
systems  

• Outputs and outcomes arising from ARC-supported research are of a high 
quality and produce national benefits  

• ARC-supported research contributes significantly to high quality research 
training 

• ARC-supported research makes a significant contribution to research activity and 
capability in areas of national need 

• Policy advice enhances Australia’s capacity and excellence in research 

As noted under the Discovery Program, there are limitations to the ways in which 
the effectiveness of the Linkage Program in meeting its objectives can be measured 
because the contribution of excellent research to growth and innovation can only be 
measured in the long term  

Measures and targets have been added to the KPIs for 201213 (see below) 

 
Indicator Measure 201213 Target 

Financial commitment (cash 
and in-kind) from partner 
organisations for every 
dollar contributed by the 
ARC (Linkage Projects, 
Industrial Transformation 
Research Hubs and 
Industrial Transformation 
Training Centres schemes) 

Greater than $1.90  

Proportion of partner 
organisations that indicate 
that their involvement in 
projects was beneficial or 
very beneficial (Linkage 
Projects scheme) 

Greater than 90 per cent 

Proportion of projects 
involving international 
collaboration  

Greater than 42 per cent 
 

There is a high level of 
collaboration between 
ARC-funded researchers 
and those within other 
components of the 
national and 
international innovation 
systems 

Average number of 
organisations involved in 
projects funded (Linkage 
Infrastructure, Equipment 

Greater than 3.5 
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and Facilities scheme)  
Evidence of impact of ARC-
funded research  

Significantly exceeds 
benchmarks where 
available 

Outputs and outcomes 
arising from ARC-
supported research are of 
a high quality and 
produce national benefits 

Outcomes arising from 
ARC-funded research that 
provide social economic, 
environmental and cultural 
benefits  

Evidence of benefits 
arising from the outcomes 
of ARC-funded research 

Proportion of ARC-funded 
researchers who are early 
career researchers (within 
five years of completion of 
their PhD)  

Greater than 12 per cent 
 

ARC-supported research 
contributes significantly 
to high quality research 
training 

Support for research training 
in areas of strategic 
importance to Australian 
industries  

Provide funding to 
support the establishment 
of Industrial 
Transformation Training 
Centres 

Proportion of funded 
proposals that address the 
National Research Priorities 
(NRPs)  

Greater than 90 per cent 
 

ARC-funded research 
makes a significant 
contribution to research 
activity and capability in 
areas of national need 

Evidence of impact in NRP 
areas  

Examples of impact in  
NRP areas 

Policy advice enhances 
Australia’s capacity and 
excellence in research 

Evidence of impact of  
policy advice  

Policy advice improves the 
ARC’s capacity to 
contribute to the national 
innovation agenda 
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Program 1.3: Excellence in Research for Australia 

 

Program 1.3 objective 

The ERA initiative aims at improving research outcomes by identifying universities 
and disciplines that are internationally competitive and highlighting areas where 
there are opportunities for further development and investment.  

Specifically, the ERA initiative aims to:  

• Administer an evaluation framework that gives Government, industry, business 
and the wider community assurance of the excellence of research conducted in 
Australia’s higher education institutions 

• Provide a national overview of areas of research strength and areas where there 
may be opportunity for development 

• Allow for comparisons of Australia’s research nationally and internationally for 
all disciplines offered in Australian higher education institutions 

• Allow for comparisons of Australia’s research effort over time. 

 

Program 1.3 expenses 

Administered and departmental expenses reflect the funding provided in the 
2009-10 Budget to develop and implement ERA. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual administered expenses:

Administered item        1,965        4,518        1,000        3,270        3,140 

Program support        3,586        3,479 3,312 3,701 3,536
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1           465           605 744 632 629
Total program expenses 6,016 8,603 5,056 7,603 7,305  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is largely made up of Depreciation Expense, 
Amortisation Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 1.3 Deliverables 

Through the ERA initiative, the ARC delivers regular evaluations of the excellence 
of research undertaken in Australia’s universities. Quality is evaluated using a 
combination of indicators and expert review by committees comprising experienced, 
internationally recognised experts.  

Specific deliverables include implementation of the ERA 2012 evaluations. This 
includes collection of data from institutions, evaluations of research disciplines 
conducted by Research Evaluation Committees, and publication of the outcomes of 
the evaluations in the ERA 2012 National Report. 

This will be the second full round of ERA, and will allow for comparison of 
Australia’s research effort over time. 

The ARC also provides ongoing policy advice on broader research matters related to 
the measurement of research quality. 

 

Program 1.3 Key Performance Indicators   

• Contribution to best practice evaluation of Australia’s research investment in 
universities 

• Achievement of milestone for delivery of ERA 2012 

• Successful outreach initiatives that further inform the sector and other key 
stakeholders of overarching ERA policy and implementation 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

Administered funds can be provided for a specified period, for example under annual 
Appropriation Acts. Funds not used in the specified period with the agreement of the 
Finance Minister may be moved to a future year. Table 3.1.1 shows the movement of 
administered funds approved between years.  

Table 3.1.1: Movement of Administered Funds between years1 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Outcome 1: 

Program 1.3 Excellence in Research
for Australia (ERA) (550)          2,850        (2,300)        -  - 
Total Movement of

Administered Funds (550)          2,850        (2,300)        -  -  
1Figures displayed as a negative (-) represent a decrease in funds and a positive reflect an increase in funds. 

 
The movement of $0.6 million administered funds from 2011-12 to 2012-13 and 
$2.3 million of future administered funds from 2013-14 to 2012-13 will ensure that the 
ERA election commitment is met. The movement of funds is required to provide 
appropriate support and remuneration for the committee members associated with 
ERA evaluation process.  

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

Special Accounts provide a means to set aside and record amounts used for specified 
purposes. Special Accounts can be created by a Finance Minister’s Determination 
under the FMA Act or under separate enabling legislation. Table 3.1.2 shows the 
expected additions (receipts) and reductions (payments) for each account used by the 
ARC. 
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Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
Opening Closing
balance Receipts Payments Adjustments balance
2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13
2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12

Outcome $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ARC Research Endowment -              2,360       (2,360)       -                   -              
-

Account - Australian Research 1      
Council Act 2001 (A) 3,933    7,276     (11,209)  -                 -              
Total Special Accounts 

2012-13 Budget estimate -              2,360       (2,360)       -                   -              

Total Special Accounts
2011-12 estimate actual 3,933      7,276       (11,209)    -                  -               

(A) = Administered 

 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

Table 3.1.3: Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 
Other Total Program

Bill Bill Special Total
No. 1 No. 2 approp approp

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Outcome 1

Research and research
training

1.1

Administered 2012-13 -     -   1,920  1,920  -    1,920   
Administered 2011-12 -      -    1,067   1,067    -      1,067     

Total outcome  2012-13 -      -     1,920    1,920    -      1,920     
Total outcome 2011-12 -     -  1,067 1,067 -    1,067   

Total AGIE 2012-13 -      -     1,920    1,920    -      1,920     
Total AGIE 2011-12 -     -  1,067 1,067 -    1,067   

Appropriations
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

There are no material variances between the agency resources table and the ARC’s 
Budget Statements. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

Budgeted Departmental Income Statement 

The budgeted net cost of services to the ARC for delivering its programs in 2012-13 is 
$22.1 million. 

The ARC is expecting an operating loss in 2012-13 and forward estimates due to the 
removal of the depreciation funding as part of the Operation Sunlight net cash 
appropriation framework. 

Budgeted Departmental Balance Sheet 

The statement shows the estimated end of year position for departmental assets and 
liabilities. 

Assets 

Total departmental assets budgeted for in 2012-13 are $27.6 million, comprising 
$8.1 million for financial assets and $19.5 million for non-financial assets. 

The $19.5 million in non-financial assets includes $2.5 million for land and buildings, 
$0.4 million for plant and equipment and $16.6 million for intangibles (including 
internally developed software). The $8.1 million in financial assets consists of 
$0.5 million in cash and $7.6 million in receivables. 

Liabilities 

Total departmental liabilities budgeted for in 2012-13 are $7.1 million, comprising 
$1.5 million for payables, $2.9 million for interest bearing liabilities and $2.7 million for 
provisions. 

Budgeted Departmental Statement of cash Flows 

The statement provides information on estimates of the extent and nature of cash flows 
by categories the expected cash flows against operating investing and financing 
activities. Forecast cash flows for the budget and forward estimates relate to general 
operating activities to fund internally developed software projects. 

Departmental Statement of Changes in Equity 

The statement shows the expected movement of equity during the Budget year. 
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Departmental Capital budget Statement 

The capital budget for the ARC principally relates to internally developed software to 
enhance grant management and evaluation systems. 

Schedule of budgeted Income and Expenses Administered on behalf of 
Government 

The schedule shows the estimated expenses for programs administered by the ARC on 
behalf of the Government. 

Total administered expenses budget in 2012-13 are $884.7 million, comprising $879.1 
million for grant expenses, representing new and ongoing research funding 
agreements awarded under the National Competitive Grants Program (NCGP) and 
$5.6 million for suppler expenses reflecting the funding provided for the Excellence in 
Research for Australia and the new Industrial Transformation Research Program. 
Administered funding for grants decreases over the forward estimates due to the 
lapsing of the Future Fellowships and the Super Science schemes.  

Schedule of budgeted Assets and Liabilities Administered on behalf of 
Government 

The schedule shows the estimated end of year position for assets and liabilities 
administered by the ARC on behalf of the Government.  

Total financial assets budgeted in 2012-13 are $1.5 million, representing estimated GST 
receivable.   

Total liabilities budgeted in 2012-13 are $311.1 million, representing the balance of 
payments under research funding agreements for new and ongoing research projects 
for calendar year 2013. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 12,356      13,027      12,531      12,615      12,673      

Suppliers 6,429        5,821        5,680        5,847        6,020        
Depreciation and amortisation 2,983        2,998        3,098        3,098        3,098        
Write-down and impairment of assets -               -               -               -               -               
Finance costs 308           298           286           274           259           
Total expenses 22,076      22,144      21,595      21,834      22,050      

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue
Sale of goods and rendering of services 200           -               -               -               -               
Resources received free of charge 88             88             88             88             88             
Total own-source revenue 288           88             88             88             88             

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 21,788      22,056      21,507      21,746      21,962      

Revenue from Government 18,805      19,058      18,409      18,648      18,864      

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government (2,983)       (2,998)       (3,098)       (3,098)       (3,098)       

Total comprehensive income (loss)

 attributable to the Australian 
Government (2,983)       (2,998)       (3,098)       (3,098)       (3,098)        

Note: Impact of Net Cash Apppropriation Arrangements
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total Comprehensive Income 
(loss) less depreciation/amortisation
expenses previously funded through

revenue appropriations. -               -               -               -               -               

plus depreciation/amortisation expenses
previously funded through revenue
appropriations (2,983)       (2,998)       (3,098)       (3,098)       (3,098)       

Total Comprehensive Income 
(loss) - as per the Statement of

Comprehensive Income        (2,983)        (2,998)        (3,098)        (3,098)        (3,098)
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 520           520           520           520           520           
Trade and other receivables 7,363        7,543        7,543        7,543        7,543        

Total financial assets 7,883        8,063        8,063        8,063        8,063        

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 2,754      2,497      2,210      1,923      1,923        
Property, plant and equipment 211           380           577           442           439           

Intangibles 16,620    16,569    14,514    13,127    11,332      
Other 58             58             58             58             58             

Total non-financial assets 19,643      19,504      17,359      15,550      13,752      

Total assets 27,526    27,567    25,422    23,613    21,815      

LIABILITIES

Payables
Suppliers 102           102           102           102           102           

Other payables 1,446      1,446      1,446      1,446      1,446        
Total payables 1,548        1,548        1,548        1,548        1,548        

Interest bearing liabilities
Leases 2,876        2,876        2,876        2,876        2,876        

Total interest bearing liabilities 2,876        2,876        2,876        2,876        2,876        

Provisions
Employee provisions 2,223      2,403      2,403      2,403      2,403        
Other provisions 252           252           252           252           252           

Total provisions 2,475        2,655        2,655        2,655        2,655        

Total liabilities 6,899        7,079        7,079        7,079        7,079        

Net assets 20,627      20,488      18,343      16,534      14,736      
EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 21,692      24,551      25,504      26,793      28,093      
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) (1,065)       (4,063)       (7,161)       (10,259)     (13,357)     

Total parent entity interest 20,627      20,488      18,343      16,534      14,736      

Total Equity 20,627      20,488      18,343      16,534      14,736       
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Other Contributed Total
earnings revaluation reserves equity/ equity

reserve capital
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2012
Balance carried forward from

previous period (1,065) -             -         21,692        20,627    
Operating result after extraordinary

item (2,998) -           -       -            (2,998)
Adjusted opening balance (4,063) -             -         21,692        17,629    

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Equity Injection - Appropriation -        -             -         1,589          1,589      

Departmental Capital Budget (DCB) -      -           -       1,270         1,270      
Sub-total transactions with owners -      -           -       2,859         2,859      

Estimated closing balance

as at 30 June 2013 (4,063) -           -       24,551      20,488    
Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government (4,063) -             -         24,551        20,488     
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Sale of goods and 
rendering of services

200            -                -                -                -                

Appropriations 18,631     18,878     18,409     18,648     18,864       
Net GST received 550            550            550            550            -                

Total cash received 19,381       19,428       18,959       19,198       18,864       

Cash used
Employees 12,182     12,847     12,531     12,615     12,673       
Suppliers 6,341         5,698         5,559         5,726         5,932         
Borrowing costs 308            298            286            274            259            

Net GST paid 550          550          550          550           -                
Total cash used 19,381       19,393       18,926       19,165       18,864       
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities -              35            33            33             -                

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash used

Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment (3,157)      (2,859)      (953)         (1,289)      (1,300)        
Total cash used (3,157)        (2,859)        (953)           (1,289)        (1,300)        
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (3,157)        (2,859)        (953)           (1,289)        (1,300)        

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Contributed equity 3,157         2,824         920            1,256         1,267         
Total cash received 3,157         2,824         920            1,256         1,267         

Net cash from (used by)  
financing activities 3,157         2,824         920            1,256         1,267         

Net increase (decrease)
in cash held -                -                -                -                (33)             
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period 520          520          520          520           487            
Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the reporting period 520            520            520            520            487             
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Capital budget - Bill 1 (DCB) 1,677      1,270      953         1,289      1,300         

Equity injections - Bill 2 1,480        1,589        -               -                -                
Total new capital appropriations 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300         

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300         

Total Items 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300         

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations1
1,480        1,589        -               -                -                

Funded by capital appropriation - DCB2
1,677        1,270        953           1,289        1,300         

TOTAL 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300         

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS

TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE
Total purchases 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300         
Total cash used to

acquire assets 3,157      2,859      953         1,289      1,300          
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes both current and prior Bill 2/4/6 appropriations 
2Does not include annual finance lease costs. Includes purchase from current and previous years' 

Departmental Capital Budgets (DCBs). 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Build ings Other property, Intangibles Total

plant and
equipment

$ '000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 4,860 1,028 24,375 30,263

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (2,106) (817) (7,755) (10,678)

Opening net book balance 2,754 211 16,620 19,585

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - other 30 284 2,545 2,859
Total addit ions 30 284 2,545 2,859

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense (287) (115) (2,596) (2,998)
Total other movements (287) (115) (2,596) (2,998)

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 4,890 1,312 26,920 33,122

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment (2,393) (932) (10,351) (13,676)

Closing net book balance 2,497 380 16,569 19,446  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES ADMINISTERED ON

BEHALF OF GOVERNMENT
Suppliers 2,539 5,625 2,067 4,337 4,207
Grants 827,837 879,107 889,071 856,441 849,059

Total expenses administered

on behalf of Government 830,376 884,732 891,138 860,778 853,266  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents -                -                -                -                -                
Receivables 1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         

Total financial assets 1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         

Total assets administered 
on behalf of Government 1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         1,402         

LIABILITIES
Payables

Suppliers 225            225            225            225            225            
Grants 310,867     310,867     310,867     310,867     310,867     

Total payables 311,092   311,092   311,092   311,092   311,092     

Total liabilities administered

on behalf of Government 311,092     311,092     311,092     311,092     311,092     

Net assets/(liabilities) (309,690)    (309,690)    (309,690)    (309,690)    (309,690)     
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Net GST received 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300
Total cash received 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300

Cash used
Grant 808,837 879,107 889,071 856,441 849,059
Suppliers 2,539 5,625 2,067 4,337 4,207
Net GST paid 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300

Total cash used 816,676 890,032 896,438 866,078 858,566

Net cash from (used by)

operating activities (811,376) (884,732) (891,138) (860,778) (853,266)  
Net increase (decrease) in

 cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of reporting period -         -           -          -           -            

Cash from Official Public
 Account for:

- Appropriations 811,376 884,732 891,138 860,778 853,266
811,376 884,732 891,138 860,778 853,266

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of reporting period -           -             -            -            -             

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
The ARC has no administered capital budget; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
The ARC has no administered assets; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

The ARC budget statements have been prepared on an accrual accounting basis, 
having regard to the Statement of Accounting Concepts, and in accordance with the 
Finance Ministers Orders and the Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

Departmental assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are those items that are 
controlled by the ARC that are used by the ARC in producing its outputs and include 
computer, plant and equipment used in providing goods and services; liabilities for 
employee entitlements; revenue from appropriations; and employee, supplier and 
depreciation expenses incurred in providing agency outputs. 

Administered items are those that the ARC does not control and which are subject to 
prescriptive rules or conditions established by legislation or Australian Government 
policy, in order to achieve Australian Government outcomes.  The ARC administers a 
number of grant schemes.  Grant liabilities are recognised to the extent that the grant 
eligibility criteria or reporting requirements have been satisfied and is recorded when 
the Government enters into an agreement to make these grants but the services have 
not been performed or criteria satisfied. 
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AUSTRALIAN SKILLS QUALITY AUTHORITY 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The National Vocational Education and Training Regulator (National VET Regulator) 
was established as a statutory agency under the National Vocational Education and 
Training Regulator Act 2011 (NVR Act). The agency operates as the Australian Skills 
Quality Authority (ASQA). ASQA has three Commissioners, including a Chief 
Commissioner who is also the Chief Executive Officer with powers under the Financial 
Management and Accountability Act 1997.  

The establishment of ASQA gave effect to a Council of Australian Governments 
agreement on 7 December 2009 to create a national VET regulator, responsible for 
registering training providers as registered training organisations (RTOs) and 
accrediting courses. ASQA also regulates services to overseas students by vocational 
education providers under the Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000. ASQA 
is the designated authority for all English Language Intensive Courses for Overseas 
Students (ELICOS) and Foundation Program courses (except where they are delivered 
by schools). 

On 1 July 2011, ASQA became the regulatory body for the VET sector for the 
Australian Capital Territory, the Northern Territory and New South Wales. ASQA 
became the regulatory body for the VET sector in Tasmania after state referral 
legislation was proclaimed on 15 February 2012, and the regulatory body for the VET 
sector in South Australia on 26 March 2012. Queensland is due to refer its powers in 
the regulation of VET to ASQA later in 2012. ASQA also has responsibility for 
regulating some RTOs in Victoria and Western Australia. 

ASQA’s objectives are to: 

a) provide for national consistency in the regulation of VET; 

b) regulate VET using: 

i) a standards-based quality framework;   

ii) risk assessments, where appropriate;  

c) protect and enhance: 

i) quality, flexibility and innovation in VET;  
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ii) Australia’s reputation for VET nationally and internationally;  

d) provide a regulatory framework that encourages and promotes a VET 
system that is appropriate to meet Australia’s social and economic needs for 
a highly educated and skilled population;  

e) protect students undertaking, or proposing to undertake, Australian VET by 
ensuring the provision of quality VET; and 

f) facilitate access to accurate information relating to the quality of VET. 

In 2012-13 ASQA will focus on: 

a) the targeted regulation of high risk areas; 

b)  enhancing its online services and functionality; 

c)  reviewing external delegations; and 

d)  further developing risk management systems and processes.  

ASQA will continue to work collaboratively with industry stakeholders, associations 
and other regulators and will provide targeted, rigorous and transparent compliance 
regulation to assure the quality of VET for students, industry and the community.   

ASQA liaises with the Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) to 
facilitate the alignment of regulatory approaches, where possible, to achieve a more 
interconnected tertiary sector. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Australian Skills Quality Authority Resource Statement — Budget 
Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$ '000 $'000 $ '000 $'000

Ordinary annual services1

Departmental appropriat ion

Departmental appropriation 2,000 31,551 33,551 29,243

Total 2,000 31,551 33,551 29,243

Total ordinary annual services  A 2,000 31,551 33,551 29,243

Other services2

Departmental non-operating

Equity in jections 0 1,898 1,898 3,524

Total 0 1,898 1,898 3,524

Total other services B 0 1,898 1,898 3,524

Total available annual 

appropriations 0 33,449 35,449 32,767

Total resourcing

A+B 2,000 33,449 35,449 32,767

Total net resourcing for ASQA 2,000 33,449 35,449 32,767  
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13 
2Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to ASQA are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are 
summarised below.  

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue measures

Australian Skil ls Quality Authority
(National Vocational Education and
 Training Regulator)
 - additional funding 1.1

Administered revenues -             5,166 13,378 13,911 13,682
Total revenue measures -             5,166 13,378 13,911 13,682

Expense measures

Australian Skil ls Quality Authority
(National Vocational Education and
 Training Regulator)
 - additional funding 1.1

Departmental expenses -             8,359 11,142 11,235 10,599
Total -             8,359 11,142 11,235 10,599

Capital measures

Australian Skil ls Quality Authority
(National Vocational Education and
 Training Regulator)
 - additional funding 1.1

Departmental capital -             985 2,236 2,676 3,083

Total capital measures -             985 2,236 2,676 3,083  
Prepared on a Government Finance Statistics (fiscal) basis. 

 

Measures announced between 2011-12 Budget and 2012-13 Budget but not yet 
reported in a subsequent portfolio statement 

Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Measures 

Efficiency Dividend - One off1 1.1

Departmental expenses -             (596) (601) (601) (607)
Total -             (596) (601) (601) (607)

Total measures
Departmental -             (596) (601) (601) (607)

Total -             (596) (601) (601) (607)  
Prepared on a Government Financial Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
1Whole of Government measure announced at Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook 2011-12. 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
ASQA in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Contribute to a high quality vocational education and training 
sector, including through streamlined and nationally consistent regulation of 
training providers and courses, and the communication of advice to the sector 
on improvements to the quality of vocational education and training. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

ASQA will focus on building collaborative relationships to enhance the delivery of 
nationally consistent regulation and will apply a targeted risk-based approach to 
deliver sector-wide compliance and improve confidence in the VET system.  

In applying a primarily risk-based approach, ASQA will target resources to address 
areas of greatest risk to the delivery of quality VET. ASQA’s processes will identify 
those RTOs that are not compliant and apply appropriate regulatory interventions, 
including sanctions proportionate to the impact of non-compliance.  Regulatory 
interventions will be minimised for those RTOs that consistently demonstrate their 
operations comply with approved national standards. 

ASQA will identify and communicate significant trends and emerging issues and 
provide advice on system improvements to key stakeholders.  

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses

$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: (Regulation and advice)
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 24,565 31,551

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 0 3,327

Total for Program 1.1 24,565 34,878

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 24,565 31,551

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 0 3,327

Total expenses for Outcome 1 24,565 34,878

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 116                  208                  

Outcome 1: Contribute to a high quality vocational education and 
training sector, including through streamlined and nationally consistent 
regulation of training providers and courses, and the communication of 
advice to the sector on improvements to the quality of vocational 
education and training 

 
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expense, Amortisation 

Expense and expenses funded from the prior year’s appropriation. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: Regulation and advice 

 

Program objective 

• To assure the quality of VET outcomes through national regulation and the 
communication of advice on vocational education and training. 

 

Program expenses 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Departmental items 24,565 31,551 34,527 34,630 34,217
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1 -               3,327 1,960 983 1,497
Total program expenses 24,565 34,878 36,487 35,613 35,714  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expenses, Amortisation 
Expenses and expenses funded from prior years’ appropriation. 

 

Program 1.1 Deliverables  

• Register training organisations that meet national standards 

• Accredit courses that meet national standards 

• Monitor and enforce compliance 

• Provide advice to and make recommendations to the Portfolio Minister, and/or 
state and territory Ministers and/or the Ministerial Council on matters relating to 
VET Collect, analyse, interpret and disseminate information about VET and the 
performance of RTOs. 
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Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators 
 

• Number of initial and renewal applications accepted/rejected1 

• Number of courses accredited2 

• Number of providers subject to high risk monitoring3 

• Number of RTOs to which written directions, conditions, sanctions, offences or 
civil penalties were applied4 

• Stakeholder perception of ASQA’s performance of its statutory functions. 

 

ASQA will track the above activities from year to year and provide a qualitative 
discussion of the data collected. 

1This indicator has replaced ‘Proportion of training organisations registered within the timeframes identified in 
the National VET Regulator’s Service Charter’ to better articulate ASQA’s activities and to emphasise 
ASQA’s regulatory rather than service function.   

2This indicator has replaced ‘Proportion of courses accredited within the timeframes identified in the National 
VET Regulator’s Service Charter’ to better articulate ASQA’s activities and to emphasise ASQA’s 
regulatory rather than service function.  

3This indicator has replaced ‘Proportion of registered training organisations RTOs subject to high risk 
monitoring’ to align it with refinements made to the other indicators.  

4This indicator has replaced ‘Proportion of RTOs to which written directions, conditions, sanctions, offences 
or civil penalties were applied’ to align it with refinements made to the other indicators. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

ASQA has no movement of funds; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented.  

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

Special Accounts provide a means to set aside and record amounts used for specified 
purposes. Special Accounts can be created by a Finance Minister’s Determination 
under the FMA Act or under separate enabling legislation.  

Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
ASQA has no Special Accounts; therefore Table 3.1.2 is not presented. 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

ASQA has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented. 
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

ASQA does not have any differences to report. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

Departmental 

ASQA is budgeting for an operating loss in 2012-13, reflecting the value of unfunded 
depreciation expenses.   

Total expenses other than for depreciation are estimated to be $33.6 million. This is 
$9.8 million more than reported in the 2011-12 Budget Papers, as a result of the 
measures outlined in Table 1.2.  

The 2011-12 result includes a $2.0 million surplus, which ASQA will utilise in 2012-13 
in order to complete a range of establishment matters, relating to ASQA’s 
commencement on 1 July 2011. 

Total assets at the end of 2012-13 are estimated to be $7.7 million, comprising $0.9 
million in financial assets and $6.8 in non-financial assets. The majority of assets are 
property, fit outs and IT business systems.  

Total liabilities at the end of 2012-13 are estimated to be $0.9 million, for employee 
entitlements.  

Capital acquisitions in 2012-13 are planned to be $1.9 million for ongoing development 
of IT business systems.  

Administered 

Administered revenues are forecast to increase across the forward years as ASQA 
progressively implements new fees and charges.   

ASQA will eventually move to full cost recovery. However, regulated providers are 
transitioning progressively from pre-existing state and territory annual fees (which 
applied only partial cost recovery) to ASQA’s annual fees. ASQA expects the transition 
period to last until 2016-17. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 17,174      21,084      23,533      23,583      23,198      

Suppliers 7,391        12,467      10,994      11,047      11,019      
Depreciation and amortisation -               1,327        1,960        983           1,497        
Total expenses 24,565      34,878      36,487      35,613      35,714      

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 24,565      34,878      36,487      35,613      35,714      

Revenue from Government 26,565      31,551      34,527      34,630      34,217      

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government 2,000        (3,327)       (1,960)       (983)          (1,497)       

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 attributable to the Australian 
Government 2,000        (3,327)       (1,960)       (983)          (1,497)       

Note: Impact of Net Cash Apppropriation Arrangements
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total Comprehensive Income 

(loss) less depreciation/amortisation
expenses previously funded through
revenue appropriations. 2,000            (2,000)                -                -                 - 

plus depreciation/amortisation expenses

previously funded through revenue

appropriations1 -                      (1,327)        (1,960)           (983)        (1,497)

Total Comprehensive Income 
(loss) - as per the Statement of

Comprehensive Income        2,000       (3,327)       (1,960)          (983)        (1,497) 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1From 2010-11, the Government introduced net cash appropriation arrangements where Bill 1 revenue 

appropriations for the depreciation/amortisation expenses of FMA Act agencies were replaced with a 
separate capital budget (the Departmental Capital Budget, or DCB) provided through Bill 1 equity 
appropriations. For information regarding DCBs, please refer to Table 3.2.5 Departmental Capital Budget 
Statement. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 2,601 885 1,140 767 767
Total financial assets 2,601 885 1,140 767 767

Non-financial assets
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles 6,202 6,773 7,049 8,742 10,328

Total non-financial assets 6,202 6,773 7,049 8,742 10,328
Assets held for sale

Total assets 8,803 7,658 8,189 9,509 11,095

LIABILITIES

Provisions
Employee provisions 601 885 1,140 767 767

Total provisions 601 885 1,140 767 767

Total liabilities 601 885 1,140 767 767

Net assets 8,202 6,773 7,049 8,742 10,328  
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 6,202         8,100         10,336       13,012       16,095       
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) 2,000       (1,327)      (3,287)      (4,270)      (5,767)        

Total parent entity interest 8,202         6,773         7,049         8,742         10,328       

Total Equity 8,202       6,773       7,049       8,742       10,328        
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Contributed Total
earnings equity/ equity

capital

$'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period 2,000     6,202          8,202    

Adjusted opening balance 2,000     6,202          8,202    

Comprehensive income

Surplus (deficit) for the period (3,327)   -                 (3,327)   

Transactions with owners

Contributions by owners
Equity Injection - Appropriation -            1,898          1,898    

Sub-total transactions with owners -          1,898        1,898  

Estimated closing balance

as at 30 June 2013 (1,327)   8,100          6,773    
Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government (1,327) 8,100        6,773   
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 23,964       33,267       34,272       35,003       34,217       
Total cash received 23,964       33,267       34,272       35,003       34,217       

Cash used
Employees 16,573     20,800     23,278     23,956     23,198       
Suppliers 7,391       12,467     10,994     11,047     11,019       

Total cash used 23,964       33,267       34,272       35,003       34,217       
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities -                -                -                -                -                

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment 6,202         1,898         2,236         2,676         3,083         

Total cash used 6,202         1,898         2,236         2,676         3,083         
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (6,202)      (1,898)      (2,236)      (2,676)      (3,083)         
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Contributed equity 6,202         1,898         2,236         2,676         3,083         

Total cash received 6,202       1,898       2,236       2,676       3,083         

Net cash from (used by)  
financing activities 6,202         1,898         -                -                -                

Net increase (decrease)

in cash held -              -              -              -               -                
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period -              -              -              -               -                
Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the reporting period -                -                -                -                -                 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Capital budget - Bil l 1 (DCB) 2,678      -            -            -             -               

Equity injections - Bil l 2 3,524        1,898      2,236      2,676       3,083        
Total new capital appropriations 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083        

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083        

Total Items 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083        

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations1
3,524        1,898      2,236      2,676       3,083        

Funded by capital appropriation - DCB2
2,678        -              -              -              -               

TOTAL 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083        

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS

TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE
Total purchases 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083        
Total cash used to

acquire assets 6,202      1,898    2,236    2,676     3,083         
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes both current and prior Bill 2/4/6 appropriations and special capital appropriations 
2Does not include annual finance lease costs. Includes purchase from current and previous years' 

Departmental Capital Budgets (DCBs). 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 

Other property, Computer Total

plant and software and
equipment in tangibles

$'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 2,614                    3,588              6,202             

Opening net book balance 2,614                  3,588            6,202           

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - appropriation equi ty 1 1,898              1,898             
Total addit ions -                           1,898              1,898             

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense (733)                     (594)                (1,327)            

Total other movements (733)                   (594)              (1,327)          

As at 30 June 2013
Gross book value 2,614                    5,486              8,100             

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment (733)                     (594)                (1,327)            

Closing net book balance 1,881                    4,892              6,773              
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1"Appropriation equity" refers to equity injections or Administered Assets and Liabilities appropriations provided through Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13, including 

CDABs. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of Government (for the period ended 30 
June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue

Non-taxation revenue
Other revenue 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382

Total non-taxation revenue 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382

Total own-source revenues
administered on behalf of 

Government 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382

Total own-sourced income

administered on behalf of
Government 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382

Net Cost of (contribution by)
services

Surplus (Deficit) 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382

Total comprehensive income (loss) 11,400 21,066 34,078 34,611 34,382  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf of Government (as at 30 June) 
ASQA expects to have no administered assets and liabilities at the end of each financial year.  For this reason, Table 3.2.8 is not 
presented.
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Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Fees and charges 11,400       21,066       34,078       34,611       34,382       
Total cash received 11,400       21,066       34,078       34,611       34,382       

Cash used
Cash to the OPA 11,400     21,066     34,078     34,611     34,382       

Total cash used 11,400     21,066     34,078     34,611     34,382       
Net cash from (used by) 

operating activities -              -              -              -               -                 
Cash and cash equivalents 

end of reporting period -           -              -              -               -                 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
ASQA has no administered capital budget; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
ASQA has no administered asset movements; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not presented. 



ASQA Budget Statements 

285 

3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

Accounting Policy 

The budgeted financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Finance Minister’s Orders, issued by the Minister for Finance and 
Deregulation. 

The statements have been prepared: 

 on an accrual accounting basis; and 

 in compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS) and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and the Consensus Views of the Urgent Issues Group. 

Departmental Revenue from Government 

Revenue from Government represents Government’s purchase of outputs from ASQA. 
The changes reflected in the ordinary annual appropriations are predominantly a 
result of measures and variations that are explained in Section 1: Agency overview and 
resources. 

Departmental Expenses – Employees 

This item represents payments made - and net increases or decreases in entitlements 
owed - to employees for their services provided in the financial year. 

Departmental Expenses – Suppliers  

This item represents payments to suppliers for goods and services. 

Departmental Expenses – Depreciation and Amortisation 

Infrastructure, plant and equipment assets are written-off to their estimated residual 
values over their estimated useful lives using, in all cases, the straight-line method of 
depreciation. Leasehold improvements are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
lesser of the estimated useful life of the improvements or the unexpired period of the 
lease.   

Departmental Assets – Financial Assets – Receivables  

Receivables mainly represent amounts owing to ASQA as cash reserves held in the 
Official Public Account. 

Departmental Assets – Non-Financial Assets 

ASQA’s non-financial assets include leasehold improvements (fitout), ICT business 
systems (software), and ICT equipment.   
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These items represent future economic benefits that ASQA will consume in producing 
outputs. Apart from re-valued assets, the reported value represents the purchase price 
paid, less depreciation incurred to date in using that asset. 

Infrastructure, plant and equipment is initially brought to account at cost, except for 
purchases costing less than $10,000 for leasehold improvements and $2,000 for all other 
classes, which are expensed in the year of acquisition (other than where they form part 
of a group of similar items that are significant in total). 

Computer software is expensed in the year of acquisition except for purchases or 
internally developed software costing more than $2,000 - which is capitalised at cost. 

ASQA will annually reassess and adjust the values of infrastructure, plant and 
equipment. 

Departmental Liabilities – Provisions – Employees  

Provision has been made for ASQA’s liability for employee entitlements arising from 
services rendered by employees up to the balance date. This liability encompasses 
wages and salaries that are yet to be paid, plus annual and long service leave.  No 
provision is made for sick leave.   

Employee entitlements payable are measured as the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Liabilities expected to be settled within twelve months are measured at 
the nominal amount. 

Administered Revenue  

Administered revenue represents the collection of fees and charges from regulated 
organisations. This revenue is expected to increase across the forward years as the 
initial arrangements of partial cost recovery transition to full cost recovery. This money 
is transferred to the Government (via the Official Public Account) as and when it is 
received.  
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COMMONWEALTH SCIENTIFIC AND INDUSTRIAL 

RESEARCH ORGANISATION 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) is a 
statutory authority within the portfolio.  The organisation’s primary functions are set 
out in the Science and Industry Research Act 1949. They are to: 
  
a) carry out scientific research for any of the following purposes: 

 assisting Australian industry 

 furthering the interests of the Australian community 

 contributing to the achievement of Australian national objectives or the 
performance of the national and international responsibilities of the 
Commonwealth 

 any other purpose determined by the Minister 

b) encourage or facilitate the application or utilisation of the results of such research 

Consistent with its outcome statement, CSIRO aims to deliver great science and 
innovative solutions for industry, society and the environment and to see our science 
used to make a profound and positive impact for the future of Australia and humanity. 
   
In pursuing this outcome, CSIRO embraces its distinct role as a large-scale mission 
directed, multi-disciplinary science and technology organisation, and as trusted 
science advisor on the big issues facing the nation.   
 
A key pillar of CSIRO’s strategy for 2011-15 is to grow National Research Flagships as 
the key mechanism for achieving outcomes relevant to the National Research Priorities 
and the National Innovation Priorities. Through the Flagships, CSIRO concentrates on 
strategic research and knowledge and technology transfer with the potential to deliver 
major long term social, economic and environmental benefits to Australia.  

The capacity to deliver profound impact through the Flagships is underpinned by 
investing in capabilities that build strength in areas of national need, ensuring that 
Australia has the knowledge and skills required to respond to national and international 
challenges.  
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Fundamental to this is:  

 maintaining science excellence in CSIRO research divisions  

 establishing stronger connections with top global research and technology peers  

 enhancing industry alliances through Flagships to actively encourage the 
application and adoption of CSIRO research  

 building, maintaining and making available research infrastructure, including 
national scientific facilities and collections  

 actively fostering collaboration with other parts of the National Innovation 
System, including other publicly funded research agencies and universities  

 promoting and supporting the science sector by supervising undergraduate and 
postgraduate students, conducting science education programs for school 
students and teachers, and raising community awareness of its activities and 
science 

 providing the Government with independent scientific and technical advice as 
required, and informing the policy making process to assist the Government to 
decide how to best meet the challenges Australia faces. 

CSIRO research investment is divided into four programs: National Research 
Flagships (Program 1.1), core research and services (Program 1.2), the delivery of 
science outreach programs (Program 1.3) and the management of national research 
infrastructure (Program 1.4).   
 
Program 1.5 is the Science and Industry Endowment Fund (SIEF), which is a separately 
constituted trust under the Science and Industry Endowment Act 1926 and makes 
strategic investments in scientific research that address issues of national priority for 
Australia. The Chief Executive of CSIRO, as trustee of the fund, is assisted by the SIEF 
Advisory Council which provides independent advice and recommendation to the 
trustee in relation to the making of grants and funding of proposals out of the assets of 
the SIEF. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 
Resource Statement — Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Total Actual

of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 available in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12

Source $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Opening balance/Reserves at bank 275,073                   - 275,073 308,478

REVENUE FROM GOVERNMENT

Ordinary annual services¹

Outcome: Innovative scientific and 
technology solutions to national challenges 
and opportunities to benefit industry, the 
environment and the community, through 
scientific research and capability 
development, services and advice. -                736,774 736,774 724,939

Total ordinary annual services  -                       736,774 736,774 724,939

Total funds from Government -                       736,774 736,774 724,939

FUNDS FROM OTHER SOURCES

Interest -                       12,310 12,310 14,186

Sale of goods and services -                       452,169 452,169 470,390

Other -                       126,650 126,650 124,222

Total -                       591,129 591,129 608,798

Total net resourcing for agency 275,073 1,327,903 1,602,976 1,642,215  
CSIRO is not directly appropriated as it is a CAC Act body. Appropriations are made to DIISRTE which are 

then paid to CSIRO and are considered ‘departmental’ for all purposes. 
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

Budget measures relating to the CSIRO are detailed in Budget Paper No. 2 and are 
summarised below.  

 

Table 1.2: Agency 2012-13 Budget measures 
CSIRO has no new measures since the 2011-12 Budget; therefore Table 1.2 is not 
presented. 

Measures announced between 2011-12 Budget and 2012-13 Budget but not yet 
reported in a subsequent portfolio statement 

Program 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Expense measures 
Efficiency Dividend - one off 1.1 to 1.4

Departmental expenses1
-             (5,577)    (5,692)    (5,795)    (5,881)    

Total -             (5,577)    (5,692)    (5,795)    (5,881)    

Expense and Capital measures 

Digital Productivity - putting museums
online for public access 1.3

Departmental expenses -             -             -             -             -             
Total -             -             -             -             -             

Total measures
Departmental -             (5,577)    (5,692)    (5,795)    (5,881)    

Total -             (5,577)    (5,692)    (5,795)    (5,881)     
Prepared on a Government Financial Statistics (fiscal) basis. 
1Whole of Government measure announced at Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook 2011-12. 
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
CSIRO in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Innovative scientific and technology solutions to national 
challenges and opportunities to benefit industry, the environment and the 
community, through scientific research and capability development, services 
and advice. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

CSIRO has one outcome. Its strategy is described in Section 1.1.   

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
Outcome 1: Innovative scientific and technology solutions 2011-12 2012-13
to national challenges and opportunities to Estimated Estimated
benefit industry, the environment and the community, actual expenses

through scientific research and capability development, expenses
services and advice. $'000 $'000
Program 1.1: National Research Flagships
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 339,454 344,996

Revenues from other independent sources 226,722 229,958

Total for Program 1.1 566,176 574,954

Program 1.2: Core Research and Services
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 306,038 311,034
Revenues from other independent sources 250,736 197,200

Total for Program 1.2 556,774 508,234

Program 1.3: Science Outreach
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 14,445 14,681
Revenues from other independent sources 22,119 23,009

Total for Program 1.3 36,564 37,690

Program 1.4: National Research Infrastructure
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 65,002 66,063

Revenues from other independent sources 49,768 57,501

Total for Program 1.4 114,770 123,564

Program 1.5: Science and Industry Endowment Fund
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)
Revenues from other independent sources 18,679 23,636

Total for Program 1.5 18,679 23,636

Outcome 1 Totals by resource type
Revenue from Government

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1) 724,939 736,774
Revenues from other independent sources 568,024 482,890
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year -                       48,414              

Total expenses for Outcome 1 1,292,963 1,268,078

2011-12 2012-13

Average Staffing Level (number) 5,712             5,596                 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: National Research Flagships 

 

Program objective 

The National Research Flagships aim to increase economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing in areas of complex challenges through the provision of 
information, advice and scientific solutions. National challenges being addressed 
through this program include water, food, health, energy, climate change, mining, 
and manufacturing - covering over 40 per cent of Australia’s GDP. 

Flagships operate on a large scale and with long timeframes, and have a strong 
focus on identifying a clear path to adoption and impact to deliver real benefits in 
the Australian economy, community and environment. The Flagship Program 
outcomes intend to deliver in the order of tens of billions per annum realised net 
benefit by 2030.   

Program 1.1 will deliver these benefits utilising the capability in Program 1.2. 

Recognising that complex challenges require collaboration of the best and brightest 
researchers, the Flagships form partnerships with Australian universities and 
publicly funded research institutions, the private sector and selected international 
organisations. Continued interaction and engagement with these bodies is crucial to 
ongoing success and delivery and adoption of research outputs to maximise benefits 
for Australia. 
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Program expenses 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 566,176 574,954 611,756 638,943 642,991
Total program expenses 566,176 574,954 611,756 638,943 642,991  
 

Program 1.1 Deliverables 

CSIRO will catalyse the establishment and effective functioning of National 
Research Flagships to address problems and opportunities of significance to 
Australia. The Flagship program is subject to a governance process that may identify 
opportunities for new Flagships and/or the need to decommission others. There are 
currently nine Flagships: Water for a Healthy Country; Food Futures; Preventative 
Health; Wealth from Oceans; Energy Transformed; Climate Adaptation; Minerals 
Down Under; Future Manufacturing; and Sustainable Agriculture.  

In 2011, the Light Metals Flagship was decommissioned as a result of the review 
process, with key activities either wound down or moved to other programs. In 
2012, two potential new Flagships are under development in the areas of Biosecurity 
and Productivity. 

Each Flagship operates within an approved business plan which guides the path to 
impact. 
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Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators  

The key performance indicators for the National Flagship Program are: 

 Evidence of growing economic, social, environmental and intangible benefits 
through demonstrated adoption of Flagship outputs  

 Maintain or increase the number of refereed publications (shared with Program 
1.2) 

 Maintain or increase financial support by Flagship partners   

 Maintain customer satisfaction 

 Investment of the Flagship collaboration funds as per agreed guidelines.  

CSIRO is working towards developing a framework to capture future intended 
economic, social and environmental outcomes from its research and understand 
better its potential future impact.  

There are significant challenges which make measuring the impact of CSIRO’s 
research difficult. Challenges include: capturing adoption evidence given long lead 
time to impact; some impact dimensions are not amenable to quantification; when 
assessing CSIRO’s contribution to a particular multi-party program it can be difficult 
to attribute benefits from a particular program and each party’s contribution to an 
outcome. 

The other KPIs listed above are lead and lag indicators and indicative of the 
relevance and scientific quality of the National Research Flagship Program which 
underpin its ability to deliver economic, social, environmental and intangible 
benefits.  

 

Program 1.2: Core Research and Services 

 

Program objective 

CSIRO’s core research and services activities improve industry, the environment 
and community wellbeing across the breadth and depth of the national innovation 
system through the provision of advice, information and solutions including the 
delivery of new and improved technologies, management systems, intermediate and 
final products, catalyst services for business, advice relevant to policy development, 
and new knowledge and skills.  

This Program provides capability to Program 1.1 and core National Research 
capability with flow on benefits to industry, environment and community.  

Core research groups are led by a Group Executive and all groups are committed to 
pursuing their objectives through partnerships in the private and public sectors both 
within Australia and internationally. Outcomes of research group activities are 
communicated to our collaborators, partners, key stakeholders and the Australian 
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community, supporting engagement and confirming CSIRO’s collaborative role in 
the National Innovation System. 

 
 

Program expenses  
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 556,774 508,234 501,149 524,091 566,478
Total program expenses 556,774 508,234 501,149 524,091 566,478  
 

Program 1.2 Deliverables  

CSIRO’s research and services are managed and delivered through five CSIRO 
groups: Food, Health and Life Science Industries; Energy; Environment; Information 
Sciences (previously known as Information and Communication Sciences and 
Technology); and Manufacturing, Materials and Minerals.   

Research capability is defined as integrated combinations of people (disciplinary 
skills, experience and know-how), assets (such as research equipment and facilities) 
and relationships. Leadership in capabilities is provided with a focus on science 
excellence and collaboratively working with research delivery to ensure impact from 
CSIRO research. There are approximately 100 capability disciplines within CSIRO. 

CSIRO has identified and aims to establish both national and global precincts as 
collaborative centres with other parties in the National Innovation System as a 
catalyst for delivery of research outcomes. 
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Program 1.2 Key Performance Indicators   

The key performance indicators for the Core Research Program are: 

 Evidence of economic, social, environmental and intangible benefits through 
demonstrated adoption of Core Research outputs (initially demonstrated by 
case study impact analysis or other evaluation)  

 Maintain or increase the number of refereed Core Research publications  

 Maintain customer satisfaction 

 Maintain or improve science excellence in CSIRO research capabilities as 
assessed through a rolling program of rigorous peer review (percentage of 
capabilities rated strong/benchmark) 

There are significant challenges which make measuring the impact of CSIRO’s 
research difficult. Challenges include: capturing adoption evidence given long lead 
time to impact; some impact dimensions are not amenable to quantification; when 
assessing CSIRO’s contribution to a particular multi-party program it can be difficult 
to attribute benefits from a particular program and each party’s contribution to an 
outcome. 

Despite these difficulties we aim to quantify the impact of CSIRO’s work on 
industry, environment and the community through a case study approach to impact 
assessment such as cost-benefit analysis of individual themes of research.  As such 
selected Core Research themes will be independently reviewed during the course of 
2012-13.  In addition the performance of Core Research is monitored during the year 
via the CSIRO Science Investment – Appraisal process. 

The other KPIs listed above are both lead and lag indicators and are indicative of the 
relevance and scientific quality of CSIRO’s Core Research and Services Program 
which underpin the ability to deliver economic, social, environmental and intangible 
benefits.  
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Program 1. 3: Science Outreach: Education and Scientific Publishing 

 

Program objective 

 Through the science outreach programs CSIRO aims to promote the importance 
of science and its application to students, parents, teachers and the Australian 
community. This work contributes to the maintenance of Australia’s science 
capacity, which helps Australia to remain innovative and competitive in science. 

 CSIRO is strongly positioned to help create a knowledgeable society by raising 
scientific literacy and communicating the outcomes, impacts and benefits of 
scientific research, so the community can engage with major issues related to 
science. CSIRO supports undergraduates, post-graduates and post-doctoral 
researchers to boost the calibre of researchers working in the Australian 
community. CSIRO gives young researchers experience in technology transfer 
and uptake, which is important for Australia’s future innovation capacity.  

 CSIRO engages with the community though a variety of multimedia channels. 

 CSIRO also operates CSIRO Publishing as an independent science and 
technology publisher with a global reputation for quality products and services 
covering a wide range of scientific disciplines, including agriculture, the plant 
and animal sciences, and environmental management. 

 

Program expenses  
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 36,564 37,690 40,334 42,651 29,779
Total program expenses 36,564 37,690 40,334 42,651 29,779  
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Program 1.3 Deliverables  

 Discovery Centre – the CSIRO Discovery centre is a purpose-built, public 
complex showcasing CSIRO research. Its philosophy is the presentation and 
communication of ongoing and completed research and technology. Science is 
presented in an entertaining way to demystify it and to educate people of all 
ages about the fascinating world of research and innovation.  The Discovery 
centre is also home to a great range of public events and as a working laboratory 
it offers the public a unique insight into science at work. 

 Education Programs – CSIRO offers a range of science education projects to alert 
school students, their families and teachers to the contribution of scientific 
research to our community. 

 CSIRO Publishing – is an international recognised publishing program covering 
a wide range of scientific disciplines. 

 

Program 1.3 Key Performance Indicators   

 Utilisation of Science Outreach Programs (number of participants and users, 
proportion of uptake within the target group) 

 Awareness of science by CSIRO stakeholders  

 Evidence of success of participants of the Science Outreach Programs 
(qualitative indicator - results are expected in narrative form)  

 Continue to grow the international reach and impact for the 25 journals 
published in partnership with the Australian Academy of Science and other 
societies  

 Number of new book titles  

 Positive net profit outcome from CSIRO Publishing. 

The above indicators were chosen to represent the actual use and outcome of 
CSIRO’s Science Outreach Programs. Utilisation of CSIRO’s Science Outreach 
Programs is vital to promote the importance of science to various components of the 
Australian community. Coupling this with success measures such as the success of 
participants gives a rounded view of the effectiveness of this program. 
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Program 1.4: National Research Infrastructure: National Facilities and 
Collections 

 

Program objective 

CSIRO hosts National Research Infrastructure on behalf of the scientific community 
to assist with the delivery of research. There are two types of National Research 
Infrastructure: 

 National Research Facilities are available for use by Australian and international 
researchers and are not restricted to CSIRO personnel 

 National Biological Collections are storehouses of information on Australia’s 
biodiversity. They support a significant part of the country’s taxonomic, genetic, 
bio-geographical and ecological research and are a vital resource for 
conservation and research.  

 

Program expenses  
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 114,770 123,564 130,770 137,073 148,959
Total program expenses 114,770 123,564 130,770 137,073 148,959  

 

Program 1. 4 Deliverables  

 National Research Facilities - Australian Animal Health Laboratory (AAHL); 
Australia Telescope (ATNF); and Marine Research Vessel Southern Surveyor 
(MNF). 

 The major National Biological Collections are – the Australian National Fish 
Collection; Australian National Insect Collection; Australian National 
Herbarium and Australian National Wildlife Collection. 
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Program 1.4 Key Performance Indicators   

 Utilisation of the National Research Infrastructure (the number of loans, visitor 
days,  research days, observation time or operation time) 

 All National Research Infrastructure maintained and operated to international 
standard (qualitative indicator) 

 Proportion of collections digitised and available to the public (percentage of 
collection) 

 Coverage of the National Biological Collections  (percentage of known species) 

 Demonstrated response to national events (this is a qualitative indicator – 
narrative responses are expected)  

 Demonstrated high quality scientific contributions in support of National 
Research Flagships, CSIRO Core Research and external users (this is a 
qualitative indicator – narrative responses are expected). 

The National Research Infrastructure represents a diverse range of activities.  
Consequently the above indicators may be tailored to the specific activities of each 
facility or collection.   
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Program 1.5: Science and Industry Endowment Fund 

 

Program objective 

The Science and Industry Endowment Fund (SIEF) is established by Commonwealth 
legislation, the Science and Industry Endowment Act 1926, for the purpose of 
supporting scientific and industrial research for the benefit of Australia and its 
people. 
 
The SIEF will make strategic investments in scientific research that addresses issues 
of national priority for Australia. The fund will invest in science that contributes to 
Australia’s sustainable future such as: 
 fundamental research for sustainable resource use, environmental protection 

and community health  

 tactical research addressing solutions to national challenges  

 collaborative research that brings together organisations capable of working 
together on solutions to national challenges  

 scholarships that create and sustain young researchers capable of addressing 
national challenges.  

 

Program expenses 

 CSIRO’s gift to the SIEF ($150 million), made possible from the initial licensing 
of its wireless LAN intellectual property, has allowed the SIEF to be rejuvenated 
as a funding source for science in Australia. The disbursement period for this 
$150 million extends beyond the forward estimates. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Program support 18,679 23,636 24,208 24,198 24,000
Total program expenses 18,679 23,636 24,208 24,198 24,000  
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Program 1. 5 Deliverables  

The SIEF delivers funding via:  
 Research Project grants (competitive)  

 Research Infrastructure grants 

 Joint Chair appointment (CSIRO/Macquarie University)  

 Research fellowships/scholarships (competitive).  

 
Funding is awarded by the trustee of the Fund under these programs with advice 
from Australian and international experts. Some of the programs are operated on a 
competitive basis, and others are operated by invitation on the basis of identified 
needs of the Australian science community. 
 

 

Program 1.5 Key Performance Indicators   

 Proportion of projects involving research in areas of national priority 

 Proportion of projects involving more than one organisation 

 Financial contributions of partners 

 Number of publications from SIEF projects 

 

There are limitations to the way in which the effectiveness of the SIEF Program in 
meeting its objectives can be measured because the contribution of research can only 
be measured in the long term. As such, key performance indicators were chosen to 
address the objectives of the early stage of this program.  New performance 
indicators will be added in the future as the program matures. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

CSIRO is a CAC Act body and not required to include Table 3.1.1. 

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

CSIRO has no special accounts; therefore Table 3.1.2 is not presented. 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

CSIRO has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented. 
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

CSIRO’s resourcing statement Table 1.1 is directly comparable to the budgeted 
financial statements. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

The CSIRO’s budgeted financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis in 
accordance with AASB 127 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements). The 
consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities and the results 
of all entities controlled by CSIRO as defined by AASB 127.  

The estimates in the budgeted financial statements are subject to the outcomes of the 
following activities which remain in progress: 

 The review by the Department of Finance and Deregulation (DoFD) of 
depreciation funding arrangements for CAC agencies, which may impact the 
level of capital funding through depreciation and the recognition of losses; and 

 Agreement of the details of the size and timing of any innovation dividend to 
be paid to Government in relation to net cash IP revenue from particular 
patents or patent families, including any impact on 2011-12.  

An analysis of the CSIRO’s budgeted financial statements, as reflected in the budgeted 
agency financial statements for 2012-13, is provided below. 

Budgeted Comprehensive Income Statement 

Other revenue includes revenue received from external sources which is not already 
represented in the revenue categories provided.  

Budgeted Balance Sheet 

The estimates for land and buildings and property, plant and equipment and other 
liabilities are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of the funding of CAC 
agency depreciation costs, which may impact the level of capital funding through 
depreciation and other revenue. 

Budgeted Statement of Cash Flows 

The estimates for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and other cash 
received are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of the funding of CAC agency 
depreciation costs, which may impact the level of capital funding through depreciation 
and other revenue. 
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Budgeted Capital Budget Statement 

The estimates for the purchases of non-financial assets funded internally from 
departmental resources are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of the funding 
of CAC agency depreciation costs, which may impact the level of capital funding 
through depreciation and other revenue. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 741,155      743,720      756,791      786,073      815,460       
Suppliers 418,892      390,944      403,118      412,227      427,658       
Depreciation and amortisation¹ 117,001      125,651      145,711      166,242      166,844       
Finance costs 2,923          2,763          2,597          2,414          2,245           

Write-down and impairment of 
assets 12,992        5,000          -                  -                  -                   
Total expenses 1,292,963   1,268,078   1,308,217   1,366,956   1,412,207    

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue

Sale of goods and rendering of 
services 424,343      413,280      433,418      457,321      481,891       
Interest 14,186        12,310        10,582        9,120          7,729           
Rental income 5,550          4,000          3,500          3,000          2,500           
Royalties, Fees and Fines 268,443      36,700        32,739        40,712        50,529         
Other 19,072        16,600        24,880        27,300        27,611         
Total own-source revenue 731,594      482,890      505,119      537,453      570,260       

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 561,369      785,188      803,098      829,503      841,947       

Revenue from Government 724,939      736,774      751,959      765,440      776,916       

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government 163,570      (48,414)     (51,139)     (64,063)     (65,031)         

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
¹These estimates are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of depreciation funding arrangements for 
CAC bodies, which may impact the level of funding through depreciation and external revenue. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents¹ 275,073 346,802 393,128 391,486 378,647
Trade and other receivables 247,294 164,673 98,862 102,710 104,699

Investments accounted for under 
 the equity method 389 389 389 389 389

Other investments 18,977 13,977 13,977 13,977 13,977

Total financial assets 541,733 525,841 506,356 508,562 497,712

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings¹ 1,631,838 1,573,014 1,537,055 1,484,732 1,467,040
Property, plant and equipment¹ 453,661 605,908 606,164 604,312 554,184

Investment property 50,950 50,950 50,950 50,950 50,950
Intangibles¹ 26,622 23,398 20,174 16,950 13,726
Inventories 1,010 1,010 1,010 1,010 1,010

Other non-financial assets 38,477 38,477 40,717 43,134 44,985
Total non-financial assets 2,202,558 2,292,757 2,256,070 2,201,088 2,131,895

Assets held for sale 5,900 5,900 5,900 5,900 5,900

Total assets 2,750,191 2,824,498 2,768,326 2,715,550 2,635,507

LIABILITIES
Payables

Suppliers 98,850 106,460 95,000 97,000 98,000

Other payables 132,126 120,680 122,101 126,575 127,105
Total payables 230,976 227,140 217,101 223,575 225,105

Interest bearing liabilities
Leases 61,013 56,713 52,216 47,460 42,460

Deposits 6,472 6,472 6,472 6,472 6,472
Total interest bearing liabilities 67,485 63,185 58,688 53,932 48,932

Provisions
Employee provisions 235,966 237,968 247,221 256,790 245,248

Total provisions 235,966 237,968 247,221 256,790 245,248

Total liabilities 534,427 528,293 523,010 534,297 519,285

Net assets 2,215,764 2,296,205 2,245,316 2,181,253 2,116,222  
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EQUITY
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 140,858 269,713 269,963 269,963 269,963
Reserves 1,321,990 1,321,990 1,321,990 1,321,990 1,321,990

Retained surplus
(accumulated deficit) 752,916 704,502 653,363 589,300 524,269

Total parent entity interest 2,215,764 2,296,205 2,245,316 2,181,253 2,116,222

Total Equity 2,215,764 2,296,205 2,245,316 2,181,253 2,116,222  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis 
¹These estimates are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of depreciation funding arrangements for 

CAC bodies, which may impact the level of funding through depreciation and external revenue. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Other Contributed Total
earnings revaluation reserves equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period 752,916   1,321,990    -             140,858      2,215,764   

Adjusted opening balance 752,916   1,321,990    -             140,858      2,215,764   

Comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income

Surplus (deficit) for the period (48,414)    -                   -             -                 (48,414)       

Total comprehensive income (48,414)    -                   -             -                 (48,414)       

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Restructuring - equity adjustment¹ -              -                   -             128,855      128,855      
Sub-total transactions with owners -              -                   -             128,855      128,855      

Transfers between equity

components

Estimated closing balance

as at 30 June 2013 704,502 1,321,990  -           269,713    2,296,205   
Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government 704,502   1,321,990    -           269,713      2,296,205    
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
¹Includes EIF equity payment from DIISRTE to CSIRO.  
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 724,939      736,774       751,959      765,440      776,916       
Sale of goods and rendering
of services

470,390      452,169       467,951      488,821      525,441       

Interest 14,186        12,310         10,582        9,120          7,729           

Net GST received 14,436      9,575         8,232        7,889        9,575           
Other¹ 124,222      126,650       129,330      74,650        74,961         

Total cash received 1,348,173   1,337,478    1,368,054   1,345,920   1,394,622    

Cash used
Employees 734,375    741,719     747,536    776,505    827,002       
Suppliers 448,909      429,055       460,564      455,044      477,414       
Borrowing costs 2,923          2,763           2,597          2,414          2,245           
Net GST paid 289           917            -                -                 -                  

Total cash used 1,186,496   1,174,454    1,210,697   1,233,963   1,306,661    
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities 161,677    163,024     157,357    111,957    87,961         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash received
Proceeds from sales of property,

plant and equipment 5,965        -                 -                -                 -                  
Total cash received 5,965          -                   -                  -                  -                  

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment¹ 221,028    215,850     106,784    108,843    95,800         
Total cash used 221,028      215,850       106,784      108,843      95,800         
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (215,063)   (215,850)    (106,784)   (108,843)   (95,800)        
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) (continued) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Other2 24,168       128,855     250            -                -                
Total cash received 24,168       128,855     250            -                -                

Cash used
Repayments of borrowings 4,187       4,300       4,497       4,756        5,000         

Total cash used 4,187       4,300       4,497       4,756        5,000         
Net cash from (used by)  

financing activities 19,981       124,555     (4,247)        (4,756)        (5,000)        

Net increase (decrease)
in cash held (33,405)      71,729       46,326       (1,642)        (12,839)      
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period 308,478     275,073     346,802     393,128     391,486     
Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the reporting period 275,073   346,802   393,128   391,486   378,647      
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1These estimates are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of depreciation funding arrangements for 

CAC bodies, which may impact the level of funding through depreciation and external revenue. 
2Includes EIF equity payment from DIISRTE to CSIRO. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL

ASSETS
Funded internally from

departmental resources1
221,028    215,850    106,784    108,843    95,800       

TOTAL 221,028    215,850    106,784    108,843    95,800       

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS
TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE

Total purchases2
221,028    215,850    106,784    108,843    95,800       

Total cash used to
acquire assets 221,028  215,850  106,784  108,843  95,800        

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes the following sources of funding: 

- annual and prior year appropriations 
- internally developed assets 
- proceeds from the sale of assets 

2These estimates are subject to the outcomes of the DoFD review of depreciation funding arrangements for 
CAC bodies, which may impact the level of funding through depreciation and external revenue. 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Land Buildings Other property, Investment Computer L&B, IP&E Total

p lant and property so ftware and held for sale
equipment in tangibles

$ '000 $'000 $ '000 $'000 $ '000 $'000 $ '000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 386,572 2,351,654 975,804 50,950 39,852 11,152 3,815,984

Accumula ted  depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment - (1,106,388) (522,143) - (13,230) (5,252) (1,647,013)

Opening net book balance 386,572 1,245,266 453,661 50,950 26,622 5,900 2,168,971

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase - other - 7,637 208,213 - - - 215,850
Total addit ions - 7,637 208,213 - - - 215,850

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense - (66,461) (55,966) - (3 ,224) - (125,651)
Total other movements - (66,461) (55,966) - (3 ,224) - (125,651)

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 386,572 2,359,291 1,184,017 50,950 39,852 11,152 4,031,834

Accumula ted  depreciation/amortisation
and impairment - (1,172,849) (578,109) - (16,454) (5,252) (1,772,664)

Closing net book balance 386,572 1,186,442 605,908 50,950 23,398 5,900 2,259,170  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 
CSIRO has no budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.7 is not presented. 

 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
CSIRO has no budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.8 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 
CSIRO has no administered cash flows; therefore Table 3.2.9 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
CSIRO has no administered capital budget; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
CSIRO has no administered assets; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

Consolidation 
The CSIRO’s budgeted financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis in 
accordance with AASB 127 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements).  The 
consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities and the results 
of all entities controlled by CSIRO as defined by AASB 127 (being the Science and  
Industry Endowment Fund and WLAN Services Pty Ltd).  
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IP AUSTRALIA  

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

IP Australia is the agency responsible for administering Australia’s intellectual 
property (IP) rights system, specifically trade marks, inventions (patents), designs and 
plant breeder’s rights. It operates as a prescribed agency within the portfolio and 
recovers more than 95 per cent of its costs by charging fees for its IP rights services.  

To achieve its outcome, IP Australia grants exclusive IP rights for a period of time. This 
fosters innovation, investment and international competitiveness by:  

 creating a safe and secure environment in which to make the intellectual 
investment necessary to innovate and thereby encouraging research and 
development 

 promoting the disclosure of discoveries and follow-on generation of ideas 

 enabling firms to build brand value and business reputation which in turn 
contributes to improved consumer confidence 

 providing a legal framework in which to trade ideas. 

IP Australia also promotes awareness of intellectual property, provides advice to 
government on the development of IP policy and contributes to bilateral and 
multilateral negotiations and development cooperation programs to support the global 
IP system for the benefit of the Australian economy and society. From time to time, 
this system will require adjustment to meet new demands or to keep up with 
economic, legal and business developments. IP Australia’s role is to ensure that these 
changes are in Australia’s best interest. 

IP Australia’s Strategic Statement and Strategic Plan define its direction for 2012-13 
and forward years and prioritise strategic activities over the same period. These 
activities are focused on delivering robust IP rights efficiently. The priority areas can 
be summarised as follows: 

 Quality and consistency – continue to strive for the highest possible standard 
of quality in the agency’s work so that granted rights are robust and able to 
withstand any challenge 
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 Stakeholder confidence – manage operations and stakeholder relationships to 
ensure IP Australia has an excellent reputation for the effectiveness of its 
services 

 Speed and efficiency – offer timely and efficient services which are consistent 
with the needs of IP applicants and the community as a whole  

 Facilitate the strategic use of IP – enable Australians to derive maximum value 
from the IP system through effective education/awareness and information 
services 

 Contribute to improving the IP System – foster Australian innovation by 
shaping the development of the IP system both at home and abroad 

In the light of these priorities, IP Australia’s key initiatives and challenges for 
2012-13 and forward years are outlined below. 

 To implement its program of IP legislative reform which aims to reduce 
obstructions in the innovation landscape and provide Australian business and 
consumers with a stronger and more efficient IP rights system. The centrepiece 
of the Intellectual Property Laws Amendment (Raising the Bar) legislation will 
more closely align the Australian patent system with the patent systems of our 
major trading partners. This will provide applicants with an earlier indication 
of patentability and others in the marketplace with earlier certainty about 
where they have freedom to operate. 

 To consolidate recent improvements in quality standards and ensure that IP 
Australia’s search and examination services are equal to, if not better than, that 
of other IP offices. This includes embedding work practices that enable more 
consistent decision making by examiners.  

 To better manage stakeholder relationships by improving feedback 
mechanisms, enhancing awareness of major activities and reforms and 
assisting customers to understand and derive value from the IP system. In 
2012-13 IP Australia will deliver more targeted education and awareness 
products across a number of digital channels, including YouTube. IP Australia 
will also develop new interactive tools to help customers apply for an IP right 
and improve its audience reach by offering services that are compatible with a 
number of mobile devices.   

 To continue to refine the work processes and technology solutions that 
underpin its core products and services to provide more efficient service 
delivery. The major initiative for 2012-13 and the forward years is a program 
of work that is modernising IP Australia’s customer management channels 
and service requests. This program will deliver a suite of online services to 
customers, which will be complemented by improvements to IP Australia’s 
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website to provide for a more intuitive experience and enable customers to 
gain a better understanding of the services the organisation offers. This will be 
followed by a case management program that aims to deliver an agile business 
environment for processing IP rights that is adaptable over the long term. 

 To continue to participate in a number of initiatives which aim to harmonise 
international search and examination practices and to share work between 
offices. In 2012-13 this will include active participation in a project to share, 
and provide centralised access to, search and examination reports using the 
World Intellectual Property Organization’s technical infrastructure. 

 To facilitate the strategic use of IP across the Australian community. IP 
Australia will work to improve access to information that will assist 
commercial innovators and policy makers to make informed and streamlined 
decisions about the direction of future R&D activities, including IP protection 
and commercialisation. In 2012-13 IP Australia will undertake a pilot for the 
provision of patent analytics and research services based on the mining, 
visualisation and interpretation of data included in patent documents. This 
pilot aims to contribute to the Government’s Innovation Agenda by providing 
evidence to inform policy decisions, assist with strategic R&D decision-making 
and help develop a system-wide Australian research impact assessment 
mechanism. 

 IP Australia will introduce fee changes to come into effect during the 2012-13 
financial year. The impact of fee increases will be less than the cumulative rise 
in inflation over the period from the last fee change to the period forecast for a 
further review of fees, in 2016-17. The fee changes will remove cross 
subsidisation between our patents and trade marks customers, will keep IP 
Australia’s fees comparable with those of other international offices, and will 
include incentives for our customers to utilise lower cost electronic and web-
based service channels. The fee changes will enable IP Australia to meet 
increasing internal costs while continuing to invest in essential ICT 
improvements, continue our focus on quality improvement and to continue 
opening up access to IP Australia’s important information holdings to enable 
increased Australian innovation. 
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: IP Australia Resource Statement — Budget 
Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Tota l Actual

of prior + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 availab le in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Ordinary annual services

Departmental appropriat ion

Prior year departmental appropriation                         -                    -                   - -                       

Departmental appropriation1                         - 3,600 3,600 4,117
Total                         - 3,600 3,600 4,117

Total ordinary annual services  A -                       3,600 3,600 4,117

Other services

Departmental non-operating

Equity in jections -                                          -                   - -                       

Total -                                          -                   - -                       

Total other services B -                                          -                   - -                       

Total available annual 

appropriations -                       3,600 3,600 4,117

Special appropriations

Total special appropriations C -                                          -                   - -                       

Total appropriations excluding

 Special Accounts -                       3,600 3,600 4,117

Special Accounts

Opening balance2 75,303 -                75,303 84,639

Appropriation receipts3 -                     3,600 3,600 4,117

Non-appropriation receipts to

 Special Accounts -                       171,935 171,935 149,644

Total Special Account D 75,303 175,535 250,838 238,400

Total resourcing

A+B+C+D 75,303 179,135 254,438 242,517

Less appropriations drawn from

annual or special  appropriations above

and credited to special  accounts -                       (3,600)          (3,600)         (4,117)              

Total net resourcing for IP  Australia 75,303 175,535 250,838 238,400  
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
2Estimated opening balance for special accounts. For further information on special accounts see Table 

3.1.2. 
3Appropriation receipts from IP Australia annual appropriations included above. 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 

 

Third party payments from and on behalf of other agencies 
IP Australia has no payments from and on behalf of other agencies. 



IP Australia Budget Statements 

331 

1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

There are no Budget measures relating to IP Australia detailed in Budget Paper No.2; 
therefore Table 1.2 is not presented.  
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of IP 
Australia in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Increased innovation, investment and trade in Australia, and by 
Australians overseas, through the administration of the registrable intellectual 
property rights system, promoting public awareness and industry 
engagement, and advising government. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

IP Australia has only one outcome.  Reference is made to the Strategic Direction in 
Section 1 in relation to IP Australia’s strategies for 2012-13 in relation to this outcome. 

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
2011-12 2012-13

Estimated Estimated
actual expenses

expenses
$'000 $'000

Program 1.1: IP Rights Administration and Professional
Registration
Departmental expenses

Special Accounts 140,630 155,335

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 143 150

Total for Program 1.1 140,773 155,485

Program 1.2: Awareness, Education and International
Engagement
Departmental expenses

Special Accounts 8,662 9,068

Total for Program 1.2 8,662 9,068

Program 1.3: Advice to Government
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 4,117 3,600
Special Accounts -                      636

Total for Program 1.3 4,117 4,236
Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 4,117 3,600
Special Accounts 149,292 165,039

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 143 150

Total expenses for Outcome 1 153,552 168,789

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 1,004               1,029               

Outcome 1: Increased innovation, investment and trade in Australia, and 
by Australians overseas, through the administration of the registrable 
intellectual property rights system, promoting public awareness and 
industry engagement, and advising government.

 
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Audit Fees. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: IP Rights Administration and Professional Registration 

 

Program objective 

Intellectual property rights: IP Australia will deliver robust IP rights and satisfy its 
customers in terms of timeliness and value for money. IP Australia will be 
recognised as one of the leading IP offices in the world for the quality (including 
accuracy and consistency) of the IP rights it grants. 

Professional registration: IP Australia will successfully undertake its functions 
associated with persons wishing to qualify for registration as Patent and/or Trade 
Marks Attorneys and will provide effective secretariat support to the Professional 
Standards Board. 

 
 

Program expenses 

The expenses not requiring appropriation relate to the resources received free of 
charge. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Account expenses: 

Intellectual Property Special Account 140,630 155,335 163,517 168,198 170,851

Expenses not requiring Appropriation in
the Budget year 143 150 158 166 174
Total program expenses 140,773 155,485 163,675 168,364 171,025  
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Program 1.1 Deliverables   

IP Administration and Professional Registration encompasses the administration of 
patent, trade mark, design and plant breeder’s IP rights legislation. This program 
also includes the administration of the Professional Standards Board for Patent and 
Trade Marks Attorneys and the Patent Attorneys Disciplinary Tribunal. 

Customers pay fees to IP Australia for all of the deliverables listed below and also 
under legislation for the retention of rights once granted (renewal fees). 

 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
Deliverables budget year 1 year 2 year 3

Receipt of Patent applications 26,634 27,019 28,212 28,684 29,163
Receipt of Patent Cooperation Treaty 
(PCT) applications

4,591 4,823 4,902 4,973 5,047

Provision of Patent examination services
23,899 23,675 24,083 25,648 21,053

Receipt of Trade Mark applications 111,348 113,567 115,843 118,172 119,355
Provision of Trade Mark registration 
services

57,255 59,549 61,800 64,248 64,730

Receipt of Design applications 5,636 5,588 5,479 5,479 5,479

Provision of Design examinations 
services

1,022 994 1,000 1,000 1,000

Receipt of Plant Breeder's Rights 
applications

340 340 340 340 340

Provision of Plant Breeder's Rights 
examination services

319 326 330 334 338

Receipt of Professional Standards 
Boards applications

111 118 121 124 127

Provision of Professional Standards 
Board registration services 1,133 1,278 1,317 1,356 1,396  
 

Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators  

The progress of the organisation to achieve the objectives of program 1.1 will be 
monitored through independent review, the use of benchmarking and stakeholder 
survey and other feedback mechanisms. 

Specific areas to be monitored will be: 

Intellectual property rights 

 The level of customer satisfaction with the consistency of IP Australia’s work 

 IP Australia’s performance in benchmarking against quality standards 

 The level of maturity of quality assurance systems 

 Timeliness of services against service charter standards 

 The level of work on hand for each IP right reduced, avoidance of backlog 
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Professional Standards Board 

 Stakeholder satisfaction with secretariat support 
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Program 1.2: Awareness, Education and International Engagement 

 

Program objective 

Awareness and education: IP Australia will facilitate understanding of the value of 
and access to the domestic and international intellectual property system among its 
stakeholders in line with Australia’s interests. 

International engagement: IP Australia will influence the development of effective 
intellectual property systems in line with Australia’s interests. 

 

Program expenses 

IP Australia will not increase resources significantly for this program ahead of 
improvements in the current economic climate. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Account expenses: 

Intellectual Property Special Account         8,662 9,068         9,278         9,405         9,429 
Total program expenses 8,662 9,068 9,278 9,405 9,429  
 

Program 1.2 Deliverables 

Awareness, Education and International Engagement represents IP Australia’s role 
in raising awareness and educating customers about intellectual property, and 
engaging with key international stakeholders and IP bodies. 

Under the awareness and education objective of this program, IP Australia will 
deliver public education and awareness programs, which promote the importance of 
IP and provide Australians with the tools they require to make informed decisions 
regarding IP. 

Under the international engagement objective of this program, IP Australia will 
proactively manage customer and international engagement activities, including 
development of cooperation activities. 
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Program 1.2 Key Performance Indicators  

The progress of the organisation to achieve the objectives of program 1.2 will be 
monitored through the use of a benchmarking and stakeholder survey and other 
feedback mechanisms including internal monitoring. 

Specific areas to be monitored will be: 

Awareness and education 

 Increased use of public information services. 

 Increased public awareness of intellectual property rights. 

 The level of satisfaction with information services. 

International engagement 

 The amount and quality of international work sharing. 
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Program 1.3: Advice to government 

 

Program objective 

Policy and legislation: IP Australia’s program of policy and legislative change will 
foster Australian innovation by shaping the development of the IP system both at 
home and abroad.  

Support for advisory bodies: IP Australia will provide support to the Advisory 
Council on Intellectual Property (ACIP) and the Plant Breeder’s Rights Advisory 
Committee. 

 

Program expenses 

IP Australia will not increase resources significantly for this program ahead of 
improvements in the current economic climate. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Special Account expenses: 

Intellectual Property Special Account                - 636         1,173         1,182            904 

Annual departmental expenses:
Departmental item         4,117 3,600         3,172         3,235         3,544 

Total program expenses 4,117 4,236 4,345 4,417 4,448  
 

Program 1.3 Deliverables   

Advice to government relates to IP Australia’s role in providing advice on 
intellectual property matters, and supporting the research into the current and 
future use of IP rights. 

Under the policy and legislative objective of this program, IP Australia will provide 
policy advice across government and internationally. 
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Program 1.3 Key Performance Indicators  

The progress of the organisation to achieve the objectives of program 1.3 will be 
monitored through the use of stakeholder survey and other feedback mechanisms 
including internal monitoring. 

Specific areas to be monitored will be: 

Policy and Legislation 

 Satisfaction of stakeholders with quality and timeliness of advice on policy and 
legislation, and ministerial correspondence, speeches and briefings, submissions 
to reviews and Government responses. 

 The number of ministerial briefs and responses. 

IP Research 

 Increased understanding of IP issues impacting on Australian business. 

 The number of IP research initiatives. 

Support for Advisory Boards 

 Council and board satisfaction with quality of secretariat and research support 
provided. 

 The number of ACIP reviews completed. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

IP Australia has no administered funds; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented. 
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3.1.2 Special Accounts 

Special Accounts provide a means to set aside and record amounts used for specified 
purposes. Special Accounts can be created by a Finance Minister’s Determination 
under the FMA Act or under separate enabling legislation. Table 3.1.2 shows the 
expected additions (receipts) and reductions (payments) for each account used by 
IP Australia. 

Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
Opening Closing
balance Receipts Payments Adjustments balance
2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13
2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12

Outcome $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

IP Australia Special Account 1        75,303     175,535    178,128    -                   72,710     

s20 FMA Act (D)1 84,639    153,761   163,097   -                  75,303    

Services for Other Entities
and Trust Moneys

1         612          7,770       7,599        -                   783          

s20 FMA Act (D)2 372       7,617     7,377     -                 612         
Total Special Accounts 

2012-13 Budget estimate 75,915     183,305    185,727    -                   73,493     

Total Special Accounts

2011-12 estimate actual 85,011  161,378 170,474 -                 75,915     
 (D) = Departmental 
1The purpose of this account is the receipt of all monies (including an interest equivalency payment of $3.600 

million in 2012-13) and payment of all expenditure related to the operation of IP Australia. 
2The purpose of this account is to manage: 
(a) to manage the COMCARE reimbursements in accordance with the Safety, Rehabilitation and 

Compensation Act 1998. 
(b) the receipt of moneys temporarily held in trust for the World Intellectual Property Organisation under the 

Patent Cooperation Treaty and Madrid protocol and IP legislation. 
(c) the receipt of moneys held as a security in respect of the cost of the opposition proceedings under 

section 222 of the Trade Marks Act 1995 and section 219 of the Patents Act 1990. 

 

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

IP Australia has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented. 
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

There are no material differences between the agency resourcing and financial 
statements for IP Australia. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

IP Australia is budgeting for an operating surplus of $2.1 million for 2012-13, which is 
higher than the $0.1 million reported in the 2011-12 Portfolio Budget Statements. 
Modest operating surpluses are also projected for the forward estimate years. 

Income Statement 

Changes impacting the income statement since the 2011-12 Portfolio Budget 
Statements are summarised as follows. 

The Budget and forward year revenue estimates for the sale of goods and rendering of 
services have increased as a result of the fee increases starting from 1 July 2012.  An 
additional $13.0 million in revenue has been forecast in 2012-13 from the sale of goods 
and rendering of services. 

The estimate for the appropriation funding is predominantly for notional interest on 
the IP Australia special account. This has been updated for the Budget and forward 
years taking into account the forecast quarterly balance in the special account over the 
forward year estimates. 

Estimated employee expenses for 2012-13 have increased by $6.8 million due to a 
combination of increasing staffing levels and annual increases under the IP Australia 
Enterprise Agreement. The staffing profile into the forward estimates incorporates the 
impact of harvesting benefits from our ICT projects and the settling to a steady state 
(on natural turnover levels) after the anticipated reduction to the patent examination 
backlog. 

Estimated supplier expenses for 2012-13 have increased by $4.2 million and remain 
stable on average across the forward year estimate period. This reflects the net effect of 
inflation on the price of inputs while operating costs for pre-build ICT program 
investments decrease ahead of the build phase. 

Estimated depreciation expense for 2012-13 has increased by $0.1 million with further 
increases forecast over the forward year estimates. This is the result of the roll-out of 
software assets for the modernised front-end ICT systems during 2012-13 and the 
initial delivery of assets for the IP Rights Case management program in 2015-16.  
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Balance Sheet 

Budget changes impacting on the balance sheet since the 2011-12 Portfolio Budget 
Statements are summarised as follows. 

The financial asset estimate for 2012-13 has decreased by $3.1 million reflecting the 
draw-down on the Official Public Account receivable (IP Australia’s cash reserves) at 
the peak of the ICT reinvestment cycle.  Financial assets grow in the out-years to reflect 
a decrease in capital investment later in the budget cycle. 

The non-financial asset estimates for 2012-13 have increased to reflect the activity 
reported in Table 3.2.6—Asset movements, with future investment activity outlined in 
Table 3.2.5—Capital budget statement. The variation to the information presented in 
the 2011-12 Portfolio Budget Statements reflects a peak in ICT investment in 2011-12 
with decreases through to 2015-16, when the build phase of the IP Rights Case 
Management program reaches its peak. 

The employee provision estimate has been increased to reflect the planned growth in 
staffing numbers and the increase in the value of the provision resulting from 
approved and forecast salary increases in future years. 

The other payables estimate represents the unearned income attributable to 
unexamined IP rights. This estimate has increased due to the higher than anticipated 
growth in application numbers.  

 

Cash flow Statement 

The movements in the cash flow are consistent with movements in the income 
statement and the balance sheet. The ‘to and from OPA’ lines reflect the use of funds 
from the OPA balance or the return of funds to the OPA balance depending on cash 
requirements. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 105,349    111,330    117,347    120,685    123,886    

Suppliers 39,202      46,953      46,062      47,582      45,962      
Depreciation and amortisation 9,001        10,506      13,889      13,919      15,054      
Total expenses 153,552    168,789    177,298    182,186    184,902    

LESS: 
OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue
Sale of goods and rendering of services 147,193    167,106    175,562    180,206    181,198    
Total own-source revenue 147,193    167,106    175,562    180,206    181,198    

Gains
Sale of assets
Other 143           150           158           166           174           
Total gains 143           150           158           166           174           

Total own-source income 147,336    167,256    175,720    180,372    181,372    

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 6,216        1,533        1,578        1,814        3,530        

Revenue from Government 4,117        3,600        3,172        3,235        3,544        

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government (2,099)       2,067        1,594        1,421        14             

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus -               -               -               -               -               

Total other comprehensive income -               -               -               -               -               
Total comprehensive income (loss) -               -               -               -               -               

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 attributable to the Australian 
Government -             -               -             -              -               

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500
Trade and other receivables 75,842 73,526 81,823 87,544 85,056

Total financial assets 77,342 75,026 83,323 89,044 86,556

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 14,533 13,011 11,676 10,533 9,365
Property, plant and equipment 8,191 8,040 7,239 6,185 4,276

Intangibles 47,506 54,706 52,417 52,484 60,086
Other non-financial assets 2,728 3,266 3,204 3,310 3,197

Total non-financial assets 72,958 79,023 74,536 72,512 76,924

Total assets 150,300 154,049 157,859 161,556 163,480

LIABILITIES

Payables
Suppliers 16,667 18,126 18,135 18,152 17,401

Other payables 14,836 14,638 14,233 13,712 13,364
Total payables 31,503 32,764 32,368 31,864 30,765

Provisions
Employee provisions 30,866 31,278 33,888 36,666 39,673
Other provisions 184 193 195 197 199

Total provisions 31,050 31,471 34,083 36,863 39,872

Total liabilities 62,553 64,235 66,451 68,727 70,637

Net assets 87,747 89,814 91,408 92,829 92,843

EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 5,608 5,608 5,608 5,608 5,608

Reserves 4,734 4,734 4,734 4,734 4,734
Retained surplus

(accumulated deficit) 77,405 79,472 81,066 82,487 82,501

Total parent entity interest 87,747 89,814 91,408 92,829 92,843

Total Equity 87,747 89,814 91,408 92,829 92,843  
*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Contributed Total
earnings revaluation equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period 77,405 4,734 5,608 87,747

Surplus (deficit) for the period 2,067 -               -                2,067

Estimated closing balance
as at 30 June 2013 79,472 4,734 5,608 89,814

Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government 79,472 4,734 5,608 89,814  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 4,117         3,600         3,172         3,235         3,544         

Sale of goods and rendering
 of services

145,333     166,773     175,099     179,654     180,843     

Net GST received 4,255         5,107         5,174         5,305         5,193         
From OPA 10,072       2,592         -                -                2,466         

Total cash received 163,777   178,072   183,445   188,194   192,046     

Cash used
Employees 101,394     110,918     114,738     117,907     120,878     
Suppliers 38,608       46,024       45,990       47,670       46,599       

Net GST paid 3,977       5,154       5,056       5,223       5,045         
To OPA -                -                8,254         5,661         -                

Total cash used 143,979     162,096     174,038     176,461     172,522     

Net cash from (used by)
operating activities 19,798       15,976       9,407         11,733       19,524       

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment 57              57              57              56              56              

Total cash received 57              57              57              56              56              

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 3,455         2,870         2,098         1,957         1,403         

Intangibles 15,664     13,163     7,366       9,832       18,177       
Total cash used 19,119     16,033     9,464       11,789     19,580       
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (19,062)      (15,976)      (9,407)        (11,733)      (19,524)      

Net increase (decrease)

in cash held 736          -              -              -               -                
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the reporting period 764          1,500       1,500       1,500       1,500         
Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the reporting period 1,500         1,500         1,500         1,500         1,500          
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Equity injections - Bill 2 -              -             -             -               -                
Total new capital appropriations -                -               -               -                -                

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets -                -               -               -                -                

Total Items -              -             -             -               -                

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS
Funded internally from

departmental resources 1 19,119      16,033      9,464        11,789      19,580       

TOTAL 19,119      16,033      9,464        11,789      19,580       

RECONCILIATION OF CASH

USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS
TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE

Total purchases 19,119      16,033      9,464        11,789      19,580       
Total cash used to

acquire assets 19,119    16,033    9,464      11,789    19,580        
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis  

1Includes the following sources of funding: 
- annual and prior year appropriations 
- internally developed assets 
- proceeds from the sale of assets 

. 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 
Build ings Other property, Computer Total

plant and software and
equipment intangibles

$ '000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value 24,969 21,245 73,980 120,194

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (10,436) (13,054) (26,474) (49,964)

Opening net book balance 14,533 8,191 47,506 70,230

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets
By purchase or interna lly developed 300 2,570 13,163 16,033

Total addit ions 300 2,570 13,163 16,033

Other movements

Depreciation/amortisation expense (1,822) (2,721) (5,963) (10,506)
Total other movements (1,822) (2,721) (5,963) (10,506)

As at 30 June 2013

Gross book value 25,269 23,815 87,143 136,227
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

and impairment (12,258) (15,775) (32,437) (60,470)
Closing net book balance 13,011 8,040 54,706 75,757  

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf 
of Government (for the period ended 30 June) 
IP Australia has no budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of 
Government; therefore Table 3.2.7 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
IP Australia has no budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf of 
Government; therefore Table 3.2.8 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 
IP Australia has no budgeted administered cash flows on behalf of Government; 
therefore Table 3.2.9 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
IP Australia has no administered capital; therefore Table 3.2.10 is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
IP Australia has no administered asset movements; therefore Table 3.2.11 is not 
presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

IP Australia’s budgeted financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards, Accounting Guidance Releases and having regard 
to the Statement of accounting concepts. 
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TERTIARY EDUCATION QUALITY AND STANDARDS 

AGENCY 

Section 1: Agency overview and resources 

1.1 STRATEGIC DIRECTION STATEMENT 

The Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) is Australia’s national 
higher education regulatory and quality assurance agency. TEQSA was established on 
29 July 2011 under section 132 of the Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency 
Act 2011 to maintain and enhance quality, diversity and innovation in the Australian 
higher education sector through nationally consistent regulation and quality 
assurance. 
 
TEQSA operated in a quality assurance capacity until it began its regulatory functions 
on 29 January 2012.  
 
Under the TEQSA Act, the functions and powers of TEQSA include: 
• registering regulated entities as registered higher education providers 

• accrediting courses of study 

• investigating compliance with the Act, including assessments of compliance, 
quality, and accredited courses 

• providing advice to government on matters relating to the quality and 
regulation of higher education providers 

• collecting, analysing, interpreting and disseminating information relating to 
higher education providers; regulated higher education awards; quality 
assurance practice and quality improvement in higher education; and the 
Higher Education Standards Framework 

• conducting training to improve the quality of higher education 

• cooperating with similar agencies in other countries. 

TEQSA exercises its functions in line with the following values.  

• Accountability – answerable to all stakeholders for the decisions it makes when 
discharging its legislative functions. 

• Transparency – operates in an open manner, processes are clear and there is 
regular communication with the sector. 
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• Independence – acts without external influence in its regulatory and quality 
assurance role. 

• Integrity – discharges its role impartially and ethically in the interest of the 
public. 

• Professionalism – decisions are based on evidence, gathered from rigorous and 
objective enquiries and research. 

• Improvement – committed to continuous improvement and the development of 
its staff and processes, based on research and feedback from the sector. 

• Consultation – consults with relevant stakeholders from time to time on matters 
relating to its roles and responsibilities. 

 
In exercising its regulatory powers, TEQSA complies with three principles.  These are: 

• regulatory necessity 

• reflecting risk 

• proportionate regulation 
 
TEQSA has developed a framework based on these regulatory principles to guide its 
regulatory activities. 

TEQSA’s Regulatory Framework

INPUTS ANALYSIS
MODES OF 
FORMAL 
INQUIRY

COMMISSION 
ACTIONS

TEQSA Act 
Threshold Standards

Regulatory principles  ‐ reflecting risk, proportionate regulation and regulatory necessity 

Information flow

Scheduled Reviews

Non‐scheduled 
Reviews

Quality Assessments 
(Sector and Provider)

Regulatory Decisions 
‐Register
‐Accredit
‐ Impose conditions
Regulatory Actions
‐Monitor
‐Enquire
‐ Investigate
‐Enforce
Non‐regulatory Activities
‐Disseminate information
‐Advise Ministers
‐ International cooperation 

Public Disclosure
‐National Register
‐CRICOS

Sector and Provider Profiles

Information and 
Data Collection

‐ Scheduled and 
Non‐scheduled 
Reviews
‐DIISRTEdata 
collections
‐ Other national  and 
international sources
‐ Providers
‐Other

Regulatory Risk 
Management

Provider Case 
Management

External Expert 
Advice
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1.2 AGENCY RESOURCE STATEMENT 

Table 1.1 shows the total resources from all sources. The table summarises how 
resources will be applied by outcome and by administered and departmental 
classification. 

Table 1.1: Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency Resource Statement 
— Budget Estimates for 2012-13 as at Budget May 2012 

Estimate Proposed Tota l Actual

of prio r + at Budget = estimate available

year amounts appropriation

 availab le in

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Ordinary annual services1

Departmental appropriat ion

Prior year departmental appropriation2 -                                    -                   -   -                   

Departmental appropriation3 -                 17,534 17,534 11,214

Total -                   17,534 17,534 11,214

Total ordinary annual services  A -                   17,534 17,534 11,214

Other services4

Departmental non-operating

Equity in jections -                   1,900 1,900 3,786

Total -                   1,900 1,900 3,786

Total other services B -                   1,900 1,900 3,786

Total available annual 

appropriations -                   19,434 19,434 15,000

Total appropriations excluding

 Special Accounts -                   19,434 19,434 15,000

Total net resourcing for agency -                   19,434 19,434 15,000  
1Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2012-13. 
2Estimated adjusted balance carried forward from previous year. 
3Includes an amount of $0.556 million in 2012-13 for the Departmental Capital Budget (refer to table 3.2.5 for 

further details). For accounting purposes this amount has been designated as 'contributions by owners'. 
4Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13 
Reader note: All figures are GST exclusive. 
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1.3 BUDGET MEASURES 

TEQSA has no new measures since the 2011-12 Budget; therefore Table 1.2 is not 
presented.  
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Section 2: Outcomes and planned performance 

2.1 OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Government outcomes are the intended results, impacts or consequences of actions by 
the Government on the Australian community. Commonwealth programs are the 
primary vehicle by which government agencies achieve the intended results of their 
outcome statements. Agencies are required to identify the programs which contribute 
to Government outcomes over the Budget and forward years. 

Each outcome is described below together with its related programs, specifying the 
performance indicators and targets used to assess and monitor the performance of 
TEQSA in achieving Government outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Contribute to a high quality higher education sector through 
streamlined and nationally consistent higher education regulatory 
arrangements; registration of higher education providers; accreditation of 
higher education courses; and investigation, quality assurance and 
dissemination of higher education standards and performance. 

 

Outcome 1 Strategy 

TEQSA will work to achieve its outcome by assuring the quality of Australian higher 
education, supporting the capacity of the sector to understand the nature of 
compliance with the Higher Education Standards Framework, and establishing itself 
as an innovative and expert regulator. 

TEQSA’s work will contribute to building a national higher education system that 
meets Australia’s future needs for an educated and skilled population, and maintain 
Australia’s international reputation for providing quality higher education and 
training services. Regulation and quality assurance in the sector will help protect the 
interests of students, no matter where, what or how they study. 

Outcome Expense Statement 

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the total expenses for Outcome 1 by program. 
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Table 2.1: Budgeted Expenses for Outcome 1 
2011-12 2012-13

$'000 $'000
Program 1.1: Regulaton and Quality Assurance
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 11,081 16,978

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 63 556

Total for Program 1.1 11,144 17,534

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type
Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation1 11,081 16,978

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year2 63 556

Total expenses for Outcome 1 11,144 17,534

2011-12 2012-13
Average Staffing Level (number) 48              90               

Outcome: Contribute to a high quality higher education sector through 
streamlined and nationally consistent higher education regulatory 
arrangements; registration of higher education providers; accreditation of 
higher education courses; and investigation, quality assurance and 
dissemination of higher education standards and performance

Estimated
actual 

expenses

Estimated
expenses

 
1Departmental Appropriation combines ‘Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill No. 1)’ and ‘Revenue 

from independent sources (s31)’. 
2Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expense and 

Amortisation Expense. 
Note: Departmental appropriation splits and totals are indicative estimates and may change in the course of 
the budget year as government priorities change. 
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Contributions to Outcome 1  

Program 1.1: Regulation and Quality Assurance 

 

Program objective 

The objectives for this program are to: 

 assure the quality of Australian higher education 

 support the capacity of the sector to understand the nature of compliance with 
the Higher Education Standards Framework 

 establish TEQSA as an innovative and expert regulator. 

 

Program expenses 

In order to meet capital expenditure associated with IT systems and office fit-out, 
TEQSA had $8.5 million reallocated from operating to capital over the three year 
period 2011-12 to 2014-15 at Additional Estimates. Whilst the reduction in 
appropriation for ordinary annual services will place pressure on TEQSA in the 
early stages of its operations, TEQSA will work to deliver on the Government’s 
expectations to maintain and enhance quality in Australian higher education. 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Revised Budget Forward Forward Forward
budget year 1 year 2 year 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual departmental expenses:

Departmental item 11,081 16,978 18,358 19,156 19,610

Program support
Expenses not requiring appropriation in

the Budget year1 63 556 856 909 902
Total program expenses 11,144 17,534 19,214 20,065 20,512  

1Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year is made up of Depreciation Expense, Amortisation 
Expense, Makegood Expense and Audit Fees. 
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Program 1.1 Deliverables 

 A robust regulatory framework 

 Regulation that is risk based and focuses on higher education sector risks and 
higher risk providers 

 Well defined data collection and communications policies 

 Provision of timely and relevant information to providers in relation to their 
obligations under the TEQSA Act 

 Increased awareness of TEQSA’s roles and responsibilities in the community 

 Develop and communicate TEQSA service standards 

 TEQSA’s processes compare positively with international benchmarks 

 Recruit, develop and retain high quality staff 

 

Program 1.1 Key Performance Indicators 

The key performance indicators for this outcome are: 

 Improved levels of compliance by higher education providers with the Higher 
Education Standards Framework  

 Improved levels of quality assurance among higher education providers 

 TEQSA consistently meeting its service standards. 
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Section 3: Explanatory tables and budgeted financial 
statements 

Section 3 presents explanatory tables and budgeted financial statements which provide 
a comprehensive snapshot of agency finances for the 2012-13 budget year. It explains 
how budget plans are incorporated into the financial statements and provides further 
details of the reconciliation between appropriations and program expenses, 
movements in administered funds, special accounts and government Indigenous 
expenditure. 

3.1 EXPLANATORY TABLES 

3.1.1 Movement of administered funds between years 

TEQSA has no movement of funds to report; therefore Table 3.1.1 is not presented.  

3.1.2 Special Accounts 

Special Accounts provide a means to set aside and record amounts used for specified 
purposes. Special Accounts can be created by a Finance Minister’s Determination 
under the FMA Act or under separate enabling legislation. 

Table 3.1.2: Estimates of Special Account Flows and Balances 
TEQSA has no special accounts; therefore Table 3.1.2 is not presented.  

3.1.3 Australian Government Indigenous Expenditure 

TEQSA has no Indigenous specific expenses; therefore the 2012-13 Australian 
Government Indigenous Statement is not presented.   
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3.2 BUDGETED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.2.1 Differences in agency resourcing and financial statements 

TEQSA’s resourcing statement Table 1.1 is directly comparable to the budgeted 
financial statements. 

3.2.2 Analysis of budgeted financial statements 

Departmental Financial Statements  

Budgeted Departmental Income Statement  

The statement shows the estimated net cost of services for TEQSA.  

The budgeted net cost of services to TEQSA for delivering its programs in 2012-13 is 
$17.5 million. TEQSA is budgeting for a break-even position for the budget year 
2012-13.  

Revenue  

Revenue from Government for 2012-13 is budgeted at $17.0 million. 

Expenses  

Total departmental expenses budgeted for in 2012-13 are $17.5 million, made up of 
$12.3 million for employee expenses, $4.7 million for supplier expenses, and 
$0.6 million for depreciation and amortisation. 

Budgeted Departmental Balance Sheet 

The statement shows the estimated end of year position for departmental assets and 
liabilities. 

Assets 

Total departmental assets budgeted at end of 2012-13 financial year are $6.1 million, 
made up of $0.4 million in financial assets, $1.4 million for land and buildings, and 
$4.3 million for property, plant and equipment. 

Liabilities 

Total departmental liabilities budgeted at end of 2012-13 financial year are $0.4 million, 
representing employee provisions. 

Budgeted Departmental Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement provides information on estimates of the extent and nature of cash flows 
by categorising the expected cash flows against operating, investing and financing 
activities. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Summary of movement 

The statement shows the expected movement of equity during the budget year. 

Administered Financial Statements 

 

Schedule of Budgeted Income and Expenses 

The schedule shows the estimated revenues and expenses for programs administered 
by the department on behalf of the Government. 

TEQSA has in place partial cost recovery arrangements for specified services (i.e. 
registration and re-registration of providers, accreditation and re-accreditation of 
courses, major variations to registrations and accreditations, and publication and 
provision of training programs) to higher education providers. 

All fee revenue from cost recovery arrangements is administered revenue and is 
returned to the consolidated revenue fund. TEQSA therefore does not have any 
administered expenses, assets or liabilities. 

Revenue 

The administered revenue in 2012-13 from cost recovery arrangements is estimated to 
be $4.2 million. 

Schedule of Budgeted Administered Cash Flows 

The schedule shows the estimated cash receipts and payments administered by the 
department on behalf of the Government. 
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3.2.3 Budgeted financial statements tables 

Table 3.2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement (Showing Net Cost of Services) 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EXPENSES
Employee benefits 6,010        12,260      12,622      12,996      13,380      

Suppliers 5,071        4,718        5,736        6,160        6,230        
Depreciation and amortisation 63             556           856           909           902           
Total expenses 11,144      17,534      19,214      20,065      20,512      

Net cost of (contribution by)

services 11,144      17,534      19,214      20,065      20,512      

Revenue from Government 11,081      16,978      18,358      19,156      19,610      

Surplus (Deficit) attributable to
 the Australian Government (63)         (556)        (856)        (909)         (902)          

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus -               -               -               -               -               

Total other comprehensive income -               -               -               -               -               
Total comprehensive income (loss) (63)           (556)          (856)          (909)          (902)          

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 attributable to the Australian 
Government (63)           (556)          (856)          (909)          (902)          

Note: Impact of Net Cash Apppropriation Arrangements
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total Comprehensive Income 

(loss) less depreciation/amortisation
expenses previously funded through
revenue appropriations. -             -             -             -                              - 

plus depreciation/amortisation expenses
previously funded through revenue

appropriations1 63 556 856 909 902

Total Comprehensive Income 

(loss) - as per the Statement of
Comprehensive Income             (63)           (556)           (856)           (909)           (902) 

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1From 2010-11, the Government introduced net cash appropriation arrangements where Bill 1 revenue 

appropriations for the depreciation/amortisation expenses of FMA Act agencies were replaced with a 
separate capital budget (the Departmental Capital Budget, or DCB) provided through Bill 1 equity 
appropriations. For information regarding DCBs, please refer to Table 3.2.5 Departmental Capital Budget 
Statement. 



TEQSA Budget Statements 

369 

Table 3.2.2: Budgeted departmental balance sheet 
(as at 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 390 390 390 390 390
Total financial assets 390 390 390 390 390

Non-financial assets
Land and buildings 1,406 1,406 1,406 1,406 1,406
Property, plant and equipment 2,399 4,299 4,699 4,700 4,700

Total non-financial assets 3,805 5,705 6,105 6,106 6,106
Total assets 4,195 6,095 6,495 6,496 6,496

LIABILITIES

Provisions
Employee provisions 390 390 390 390 390

Total provisions 390 390 390 390 390

Total liabilities 390 390 390 390 390

Net assets 3,805 5,705 6,105 6,106 6,106

EQUITY*
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 3,868        6,324        7,580        8,490        9,392        

Retained surplus
(accumulated deficit) (63)            (619)          (1,475)       (2,384)       (3,286)       

Total parent entity interest 3,805        5,705        6,105        6,106        6,106        

Total Equity 3,805        5,705        6,105        6,106        6,106         
*'Equity' is the residual interest in assets after deduction of liabilities. 
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.3: Departmental statement of changes in equity — summary of 
movement (Budget year 2012-13) 

Retained Asset Other Contributed Total
earnings revaluation reserves equity/ equity

reserve capital

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance as at 1 July 2012

Balance carried forward from
previous period (63)        -             -         3,868 3,805

Adjusted opening balance (63)        -             -         3,868 3,805

Comprehensive income

Surplus (deficit) for the period (556)      -             -         -             (556)      

Total comprehensive income (556)      -             -         -             (556)      
of which:

Attributable to the Australian Government (619)    -           -       3,868 3,249

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners

Equity Injection - Appropriation -        -             -         1,900 1,900    
Departmental Capital Budget (DCBs) -      -           -       556 556       

Sub-total transactions with owners -        -             -         2,456 2,456    
Estimated closing balance

as at 30 June 2013 (619)    -           -       6,324 5,705
Closing balance attributable to the 

Australian Government (619)      -             -         6,324 5,705  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.4: Budgeted departmental statement of cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Appropriations 10,691 16,978 18,358 19,156 19,610
Total cash received 10,691 16,978 18,358 19,156 19,610

Cash used
Employees 5,620 12,260 12,622 12,996 13,380
Suppliers 5,071 4,718 5,736 6,160 6,230

Total cash used 10,691 16,978 18,358 19,156 19,610
Net cash from (used by)

operating activities -             -             -             -             -             

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant 

and equipment 3,786 2,456 1,256 910 902

Total cash used 3,786 2,456 1,256 910 902
Net cash from (used by)  

investing activities (3,786)        (2,456)        (1,256)        (910)           (902)           

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Contributed equity 3,786 2,456 1,256 910 902
Total cash received 3,786 2,456 1,256 910 902
Net cash from (used by)  

financing activities 3,786 2,456 1,256 910 902
Net increase (decrease)

in cash held -             -             -             -             -             

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period -             -             -             -             -              

Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
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Table 3.2.5: Departmental Capital Budget Statement 
Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward

actual estimate estimate estimate estimate
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NEW CAPITAL APPROPRIATIONS

Capital budget - Bil l 1 (DCB) -              556         856         910        902         
Equity injections - Bill 2 3,786        1,900        400           -              -              

Total new capital appropriations 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902         

Provided for:
Purchase of non-financial assets 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902         

Total Items 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902         

PURCHASE OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Funded by capital appropriations1
3,786        1,900        400           -              -              

Funded by capital appropriation - DCB2
-                556           856           910         902         

TOTAL 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902         

RECONCILIATION OF CASH
USED TO ACQUIRE ASSETS

TO ASSET MOVEMENT TABLE
Total purchases 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902         
Total cash used to

acquire assets 3,786      2,456      1,256      910        902          
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1Includes both current and prior Bill 2/4/6 appropriations and special capital appropriations 
2Does not include annual finance lease costs.  Include purchase from current and previous years' 

Departmental Capital Budgets (DCBs). 
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Table 3.2.6: Statement of Asset Movements (2012-13) 

Land Buildings Other property, Total

p lant and
equipment

$ '000 $'000 $ '000 $'000

As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value -             1,406           2 ,462                    3,868             

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment -             -                   (63)                       (63)                 

Opening net book balance -           1,406         2 ,399                  3,805            

CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS
Estimated expenditure on

new or replacement assets

By purchase - appropriation equi ty1
-           141            2 ,315                  2,456            

Total addit ions -             141              2 ,315                    2,456             

Other movements
Depreciation/amortisation expense -             (141)             (415)                     (556)               
Total other movements -             (141)             (415)                     (556)               

As at 30 June 2013
Gross book value -             1,547           4 ,777                    6,324             

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment -             (141)             (478)                     (619)               

Closing net book balance -             1,406           4 ,299                    5,705              
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 
1"Appropriation equity" refers to equity injections or Administered Assets and Liabilities appropriations provided through Appropriation Bill (No.2) 2012-13, including 

CDABs. 
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Table 3.2.7: Schedule of budgeted income and expenses administered on behalf of Government (for the period ended 30 
June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

EXPENSES ADMINISTERED ON
BEHALF OF GOVERNMENT

Total expenses administered
on behalf of Government -            -            -            -            -            

LESS:
OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue

Non-taxation revenue
Sale of goods and rendering 

of services 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401

Total non-taxation revenue 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401
Total own-source revenues

administered on behalf of 

Government 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401
Surplus (Deficit) 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401

Total comprehensive income (loss) 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401  
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 



TEQSA Budget Statements 
 

375 

Table 3.2.8: Schedule of budgeted assets and liabilities administered on behalf 
of Government (as at 30 June) 
All administered revenue is returned to the consolidated revenue fund. Therefore 
TEQSA does not have any administered assets or liabilities. For this reason Table 3.2.8 
is not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.9: Schedule of budgeted administered cash flows 
(for the period ended 30 June) 

Estimated Budget Forward Forward Forward
actual estimate estimate estimate estimate

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Sales of goods and rendering 
of services 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401

Total cash received 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401

Net cash from (used by) 

operating activities 1,000 4,194 4,228 4,262 4,401

Net increase (decrease) in
 cash held
Cash to Official Public Account for:

- Appropriations (1,000)      (4,194)      (4,228)      (4,262)      (4,401)        

Cash and cash equivalents at end

of reporting period -             -             -             -             -              
Prepared on Australian Accounting Standards basis. 

 

Table 3.2.10: Schedule of Administered Capital Budget 
TEQSA does not have any administered capital budget. For this reason Table 3.2.10 is 
not presented. 
 

Table 3.2.11: Schedule of Asset Movements — Administered  
TEQSA does not have any administered assets. For this reason Table 3.2.11 is not 
presented. 
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3.2.4 Notes to the financial statements 

Basis of Accounting  

TEQSA’s budget statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards and Accounting Guidance releases and having regard to the 
Statement of Accounting Concepts.  

Departmental and Administered Items  

Departmental assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are those items that are 
controlled by TEQSA and used by TEQSA to produce its outputs and include:  

 revenue from appropriations or independent sources  

 employee, supplier and depreciation expenses  

 computers, plant and equipment used in providing goods and services 

 liabilities for employee entitlements.  

Administered items are those that TEQSA does not control and which are subject to 
prescriptive rules or conditions established by legislation or Australian Government 
policy, in order to achieve Australian Government outcomes.  

Administered revenue is fee revenue from cost recovery arrangements.
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Term Meaning 

Activity The actions/functions performed by agencies to 
deliver Government policies. 

Actual Available 
Appropriation 

Indicates the total appropriations available to the 
agency for 2012-13. It includes all appropriations 
made available to the agency in the year (+/- 
section 32 transfers, formal reductions, advance to 
the Finance Minister and movements of funds). It is 
to be the same as the comparator figure included in 
the Appropriation Bills, and as such provides a 
comparison with the appropriation proposed for the 
budget year. 

Accrual accounting System of accounting where items are brought to 
account and included in the financial statements as 
they are earned or incurred, rather than as they are 
received or paid. 

Administered items Expenses, revenues, assets or liabilities managed by 
agencies on behalf of the Government. Agencies do 
not control administered items. Administered 
expenses include grants, subsidies and benefits. In 
many cases, administered expenses fund the 
delivery of third party outputs. 

Additional estimates Where amounts appropriated at Budget time are 
insufficient, Parliament may appropriate more 
funds to portfolios through the additional estimates 
bills. 

Agency Generic term for Australian Government General 
Government Sector entities, including those 
governed by the FMA Act or CAC Act and the High 
Court of Australia.  

Appropriation An authorisation by Parliament to spend moneys 
from the Consolidated Revenue Fund for a 
particular purpose. 
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Annual Appropriation Two appropriation bills are introduced into 
Parliament in May and comprise the Budget for the 
financial year beginning 1 July. Further bills are 
introduced later in the financial year as part of the 
additional estimates. Parliamentary departments 
have their own appropriations. 

Apportionment Division and allocation. 

Clear Read Principle Under the outcomes arrangements there is an 
essential clear link between the appropriation bills, 
the Portfolio Budget Statements (PBS), the Portfolio 
Additional Estimates Statements (PAES) and annual 
reports of agencies. Information should be 
consistent across these and other budget 
documents, and, where possible, duplication of 
reporting should be avoided. This is called the 
“clear read” between the different documents.  

Under this principle the planned performance in 
PBS and PAES is to be provided on the same basis 
as actual performance in the annual report covering 
the same period to permit a clear read across 
planning and actual performance reporting 
documents. Agencies should take this into account 
in designing their performance reporting 
arrangements.  

Commonwealth Authorities and 
Companies Act 1997 (CAC Act) 

The CAC Act sets out the financial management, 
accountability and audit obligations on 
Commonwealth statutory authorities and 
companies in which the Commonwealth has at least 
a direct controlling interest.  

Consolidated Revenue Fund 
(CRF) 

Section 81 of the Constitution stipulates that all 
revenue raised or money received by the 
Commonwealth forms one consolidated revenue 
fund. The CRF is not a bank account. The Official 
Public Account reflects most of the operations of the 
CRF. 
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Departmental items Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that are 
controlled by the agency in providing its outputs. 
Departmental items would generally include 
computers, plant and equipment and other assets 
used by agencies in providing goods and services, 
most employee expenses, supplier costs and other 
administrative expenses incurred. 

Depreciation Apportionment of an asset’s capital value as an 
expense over its estimated useful life to take account 
of normal usage, obsolescence or the passage of 
time. 

Effectiveness indicators Measures the joint or independent contribution of 
outputs and administered items to the achievement 
of their specified outcome. 

Efficiency indicators Measures the adequacy of an agency’s management 
of its outputs (and, where applicable, administered 
items). Includes price, quality and quantity 
indicators. The interrelationship between the three 
efficiency indicators of any one output should be 
considered when judging efficiency. 

Equity or net assets Residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deduction of its liabilities. 

Estimated Actual Expenses Details of the current year’s estimated final figures 
as included in the Budget documentation. As the 
Budget is released in May each year, but the 
financial year does not close off until 30 June, the 
current year numbers that are used for comparison 
with Budget amounts can only be estimates. 

Expense Total value of all of the resources consumed in 
producing goods and services or the loss of future 
economic benefits in the form of reductions in assets 
or increases in liabilities of an entity. 
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Expenses not requiring an 
appropriation in the Budget 
year 

Expenses not involving a cash flow impact are not 
included within the calculation of an appropriation. 
An example of such an event is goods or services 
received free of charge that are then expensed: for 
example, ANAO audit services—the ANAO does 
not charge for audit services; however, the expense 
must be recognised for the purpose of calculating 
the appropriation amounts to be sought from 
Parliament.  

Financial Management and 
Accountability Act 1997 (FMA 
Act) 

The FMA Act sets out the financial management, 
accountability and audit obligations of agencies 
(including departments) that are financially part of 
the Commonwealth (and form part of the General 
Government Sector).  

Intended result Intended result is a key part of an outcome 
statement and describes the goal or objective of an 
agency. The intended result is typically distilled 
from the Government’s economic, social, health or 
environmental policy goals. 

Intermediate outcomes More specific medium-term impacts (for example, 
trend data, targets or milestones) below the level of 
the planned outcomes specified in the Budget. A 
combination of several intermediate outcomes can 
at times be considered as a proxy for determining 
the achievement of outcomes or progress towards 
outcomes (see Outcome statement below). 

Measure A new policy or savings decision of the Government 
with financial impacts on the Government’s 
underlying cash balance, fiscal balance, operating 
balance, headline cash balance, net debt or net 
worth. Such proposals are normally made in the 
context of the annual budget and are typically 
published in Budget Paper No. 2, in the Mid-Year 
Economic and Fiscal Outlook (MYEFO) and in the 
Pre-election Economic and Fiscal Outlook (PEFO). 
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Mid-Year Economic and 
Fiscal Outlook (MYEFO) 

The MYEFO provides an update of the 
Government’s budget estimates by examining 
expenses and revenues in the year to date, as well as 
provisions for new decisions that have been taken 
since the Budget. The report provides updated 
information to allow the assessment of the 
Government’s fiscal performance against its current 
fiscal strategy statement. 

Official Public Account 
(OPA) 

The OPA is the Government’s central bank account 
held within the Reserve Bank of Australia. The OPA 
reflects the operations of the Consolidated Revenue 
Fund. 

Outcome An outcome is the intended result, consequence or 
impact of Government actions on the Australian 
community. 

Outcome statement  An outcome statement articulates the intended 
results, activities and target group of an Australian 
Government agency. An outcome statement serves 
three main purposes within the financial 
framework: 

1. to explain and control the purposes for which 
annual appropriations are approved by the 
Parliament for use by agencies; 

2. to provide a basis for annual budgeting, 
including (financial) reporting against the use of 
appropriated funds; and 

3. to measure and assess agency and program 
(non-financial) performance in contributing to 
Government policy objectives. 

Output The goods and services produced by agencies on 
behalf of Government for external organisations or 
individuals. Outputs also include goods and 
services produced for other areas of government 
external to the agency. 

Price One of the three key efficiency indicators. The 
amount the Government or the community pays for 
the delivery of agreed outputs. 
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Program Activity that delivers benefits, services or transfer 
payments to individuals, industry and/or the 
community as a whole, with the aim of achieving 
the intended result specified in an outcome 
statement. 

Program Support The agency running costs allocated to a program. 
This is funded as part of the agency’s departmental 
appropriations.  

Quality One of the three key efficiency indicators. Relates to 
the characteristics by which customers or 
stakeholders judge an organisation, product or 
service. Assessment of quality involves use of 
information gathered from interested parties to 
identify differences between a user’s expectations 
and experience. 

Quantity One of the three key efficiency indicators. Examples 
include the size of an output and count or volume 
measures such as how many or how much. 

Revenue Total value of resources earned or received to cover 
the production of goods and services. 

Special Account Balances existing within the Consolidated Revenue 
Fund (CRF) that are supported by standing 
appropriations (see Financial Management and 
Accountability Act 1997, subsection 20 and 21). 
Special accounts allow money in the CRF to be 
acknowledged as set aside (hypothecated) for a 
particular purpose. Amounts credited to a Special 
Account may only be spent for the purposes of the 
Special Account. Special Accounts can only be 
established by a written determination of the 
Finance Minister (section 20 FMA Act) or through 
an act of Parliament (referred to in section 21 of the 
FMA Act). 

Special Appropriations  An amount of money appropriated by a particular 
Act of Parliament for a specific purpose and number 
of years. For special appropriations the authority to 
withdraw funds from the Consolidated Revenue 
Fund does not generally cease at the end of the 
financial year.  
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Standing appropriations These are ongoing special appropriations—the 
amount appropriated will depend on circumstances 
specified in the legislation. 

Special Purpose Payments 
(SPPs) 

Commonwealth payments to the states for specific 
purposes in order to pursue important national 
policy objectives in areas that may be administered 
by the States. 

Sub-function Government Finance Statistics classification of 
government expenses. 

Target Group A specific group being targeted for assistance by 
Government policy. 

Transfer Cash paid to recipients of the applicable program. 
This includes welfare payments and tax rebates. 

Term Meaning 
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